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In Memoriam 

ELIZABETH HUGHES GOSSETT 

1907-1981 

This volume is dedicated to the memory of Elizabeth Hughes 
Gossett, a founding member of the Society, its first President , 
and later, a Chairman of its Board of'llustees . Her article on 
Chief Justice Charles Evans Hughes published in the 1976 Year­
book revealed not only her deep love and respect for her distin­
guished father, bu t also her reverence for the Supreme Court and 
a keen understanding of its place in American life and history. 
Her special qualities of intellect, wisdom, and quiet yet irresisti­
ble leadership; her example of caring, of grace, and humanity, 
all combined to render her a dominant force for good and a noble 
inspiration for everyone whose life she touched. 
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My Father the Chief Justice 
Earl Warren, Jr. 

(EdiJor's Note: Chief Justice Earl Warren pre­
sided over the Supreme Court in what was prob­
ably the most critical era of twentieth century 
American history. His own Memoirsgive hints of 
some of the stresses of the times, and Mrs. Fry's 
summary of the taped interviews with some of his 
contemporaries, in the progress of his career to­
ward the Court, whichfollows, captures the flavor 
of some of the issues in which Warren the prose­
cutor, attorney general and governor partici­
pated. In the present article one of his children­
Judge Earl Warren, Jr. of the Municipal Court of 
Sacramento - balances this with a warm family 
portJ:ait . ) 

As a preface to what follows, I must state that I 
am simply one of the six children of my father 
and am only expressing my own viewpoints . 
However, I feel comfortable in doing so because 
we are a very close family and am sure that most 
of my observations and comments would be con­
curred in by the others. Nevertheless, I would 
not feel the least bit offended if I were to be con­
tradicted in any respect by any of the others, for 
each naturally has his or her own viewpoints 
which are entitled to equal weight. 

As it is, I was asked to write this piece, and , 
for reasons of my own (and I believe my father's) 
I have chosen to write it without any of the rest of 
the family's concurrence or revisions, or even 
their knowledge that I was doing so. 

Also, I was assigned to discuss only personal 
aspects of my father and the family, which I find 
to be a difficult task since all of us were relegated 
to living lives which were inextricably woven 
into his public service . It is also a difficult task 
because we were so close and because at times 
we individually lived thousands of tribulations 
and elations which he probably felt even more 
deeply. 

As a beginning, I am certain that all of us 

would agree that no one could have finer parents. 
And that to include my mother in the context of 
this article is absolutely essential, for why else 
would my father have said in the dedication of 
his memoirs: "To Nina, the best thing that ever 
happened to me . " 

From the early days of our lives , my father 
was a prominent public figure-the most effec­
tive crime-busting District Attorney in the his­
tory of the Nation, and Attorney General of the 
same vein, a superb Governor of one of the 
largest states in the Union, a candidate for 
Vice-President, a seeker of the Presidency itself, 
then finally the Chief Justice of the United 
States . Yet, we were largely insulated from the 
effects of his career by both him and my mother, 
who ran a household just as though he was en­
gaged in an occupation which was totally un­
political and uncontroversial . 

Ours were normal childhoods in the formative 
years, with no inkling of being "different," other 
than the knowledge that Dad held "important" 
jobs . And even as to that, our knowledge of their 
importance came almost entirely from others. 
Fortunately, the realization of his trials , disap­
pointments, and successes became evident only 
after we had become teenagers-and then only 
to a limited extent. 

I still cannot fully understand how my father 
and mother achieved this, except through the fact 
that we were treated the same as any non­
political family by them and , in retrospect, the 
fact that they somehow otherwise managed to 
keep our family life insulated from my father's 
professional life . I have immense difficulty in 
trying to determine how they did this, because of 
all the public notoriety which accompanied his 
achievements , yet they did, and we are all ex­
tremely grateful. 

Each of us was allowed, in fact encouraged, to 
live an independent life, with friends of our own 
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A jubilam Warren enjoys breakfast with his family after learning of his sizeable lead in the 1938 California AI/orney General's 
race, Pictured with the future AI/orney General and his wife are five of their six children: (from left to righJ) VlJ'ginia , Earl, Jr" 
Nino. , Elizabeth and Bobby, 

choosing, and to follow the patterns of develop­
ment which natura,lly ensued. There was abso­
lutely no urging to confine ourselves in any way, 
nor even the slightest hint that we should con­
form to certain standards commensurate with his 
public positions , As children, we therefore were 
free to do anything we desired, as long as it was a 
moraJly acceptable course of conduct. Hence 
each of us led a separate life - chose our own 
friends and pursued our own indinations com­
pletely unfettered, We grew up wit h associates of 
aU races and backgrounds such as with Oklaho­
mans escaping the Dust Bowl, with blacks seek­
ing a better life than their sharecropping envi­
rons , with hoboes in their search for a place in 
society, with Asians and Hispanics in their des­
perate desire for legitimacy, with Jews escaping 
from the iron boot of the Nazis and with a myriad 
of other cultures also seeking to achieve ac­
ceptance and success, All such activities were 
enthusiastically encouraged by our parents, for 
aside from their inherently humanitarian in­
stincts, each had grown up under modest circum­
stances and my mother had come to the United 
States as a baby from Sweden, 

Oakland, California, our home, was a tre­
mendous mel ting pot in this regard, for it was one 

of the" pcl'br man's" major points of entry into a 
new life - particularly during the Depression 
and the advent of World War II . And since we 
always attended public schools, the exposure to 
diverse cultures was intense indeed. 

This "separate life" aspect pertained to reli­
gious activities as well. Each of us was free to 
question and explore and then affiliate according 
to our individual consciences and preferences. 
We all started out in the Baptist Church which my 
mother regularly attended, but as we grew older 
we wound up in sub-families which adhered to 
various Protestant, Catholic and Jewish persua­
sions. And, in between, most of us had strong 
exposure to other religious faiths. 

Mother was inclined to the traditional church 
concept, and had close relatives who were 
missionaries by profession. On the other hand, 
my father attended church infrequently, yet was a 
dedicated student of nearly all religions, And he 
found special comfort in the basic religious 
tenets of the Masonic Order" There was abso­
lutely no disparity in this regard as to the end 
result, for both are the most inherently moral and 
basically religious people I have ever known, 
and their teachings left no doubt in any of our 
minds as to what was morally right and what was 
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morally wrong or questionable. 
Upon my father's election to the governorship 

in the early forties we moved to Sacramento, and 
for the first time realized that we were somehow 
classified as "different." Yet, again, our parents 
minimized the move in our minds and continued 
their attitudes the same as if we had simply 
moved across the street in Oakland . 

I was becoming a teenager then, but neverthe­
less accepted it as just another adjustment, as did 
my younger brothers and sisters . However, 
within a short time at least the older ones of us 
began to realize from the circumstances and the 
attitudes of some of our peers that we were part 
of a public trust which should in no way be com­
promised. Accordingly, we took greater note of 
my father's public image and tried to conduct 
ourselves in a reasonably decent fashion from the 
public standpoint. 

That is not to say that our parents' attitudes 
changed in the slightest. It was simply a case of 
us growing up and recognizing that we too had 
certain responsibilities in our daily conduct. Yet, 
aside from the fact that we realized we were now 
"in the public eye," we pretty much did as we 
had done before-just that we tempered our ac­
tions so that we were a bit more discrete in mask­
ing our natural teenage recklessness. Neverthe­
less , we maintained the same spectrum of asso­
ciates and activities and managed to be well 
within the mainstream of what others of our age 
were doing and experiencing. In fact, many of 
our associates can relate espisodes that we all 
now cherish, but which would have been consid­
ered a bit "wild" in those times, and even today. 

It is perfectly logical at this point to question 
why I dwell upon our development as children 
when the story is meant to focus on my father. To 
this , I respond that others have discussed my 
father'S professional life and other aspects of his 
personal life and that my assignment is to talk 
about him as a father. And, as I have previously 
mentioned, this requires talking about my 
mother, myself and my brothers and sisters. For 
we were and are a "family" in classical terms, 
and he and my mother were a "team" in the 
grandest sense . 

Perhaps it is peculiar, even unbelievable to 
most, to perceive the possibility of a truly great 
relationship between parents and their children, 
that there would be no feel ing or actuality of 
rebellion between them, that everyone was "on 

his honor," that there was no corporal punish­
ment, that each child was treated equally accord­
ing to his or her desires, needs , strengths and 
deficiencies, that each child recognized this, and 
that no serious dispute ever arose which was not 
readily resolved by frank discussion between the 
parents and the child involved. Yet that is exactly 
the way our family operated . 

There was no pressure to do anything in par­
ticular, except your best, and there was no undue 
pressure even in that regard . But because of this 
we did try hard and successfully ended up in a 
wide variety of endeavors. 

From my own standpoint, I leaned toward the 
sciences and eventually chose agriculture, ma­
joring on it in college and working in it for about 
five years thereafter. However, when it came 
time to question whether I should broaden my 
horizons by further study in that or a related field, 
I went into law-something I had always vowed 
never to do because it was not my inclination and 
because I wanted no part in something where it 
could be said I was attempting to follow in my 
father's career. Yet that is exactly why I made the 
election-because I had a gnawing feeling that I 
was running away from the law because of his 
prominence in it. One of Dad's cardinal princi­
ples was that it was self-defeating to run away 
from an honorable endeavor and I couldn ' t get 
this out of my mind. So I went to law school, and 
even deliberately to the same one he had gone to 
- and in later years accepted a judgeship, even 
though I knew that was something I would never 
do . And none of these moves had ever been even 
remotely suggested by my parents . Such were 
the principles we children were guided by, and I 
am sure that each of the others can recount simi­
lar personal experiences based upon what we 
learned from our parents . 

How, one can logically ask, could these par­
ents with the onerous demands of public life, 
such as meetings, travel and campaigning possi­
Qly spend an adequate amount of time with so 
large a family? Frankly, I don't know - but they 
surely did . In fact, I don't think anyone of us, at 
any time, felt that both parents were not always 
right there. That was true even after they moved 
across the country to live in Washington, D.C. 

While we were young, my mother was always 
physically present, for she and my father gave 
the family number one priority in this respect. 
And as to my father, it seemed like he was always 
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there too, although, naturally, he physically 
wasn ' t. Somehow they both were always physi­
cally present in our minds-which tends to give 
real credence to the theory that it is the quality 
not the quantity of contact between parent and 
child which counts . 

Then came my father's appointment to the 
Supreme Court, which was a turning point in all 
our lives . We were basically adults at the time, so 
only our parents moved to the District of Colum­
bia. 

Now we were separated geographically. Now 
we were no longer politically naive , but acutely 
aware of what my father had been, what he had 
done, what he was, and what he believed in . But 
none of us envisioned the controversy which 
would follow his appointment, nor the impact on 
our individual lives which would result. 

We were then, and subsequently, politically 
divided ; some Republicans, some Democrats, 
some Independents , some decidedly liberal, 
others ultra-conservative, and some middle-of­
the-roaders . In this respect, I am including an 
"expanded family " which includes spouses and 
their families, for our family has always been 
deemed to include all involved in it. It should be 
emphasized that my mother was always apoliti­
cal and that my father never tried to impress any 
particular political philosophy on any family 
member. 

Whereas we had previously felt some focusing 
of the political spotlight upon us , this was show­
down time, a period of about 20 years when we 
would be forced to defend or refute what the 
Supreme Court was doing. And itwas terribly 
difficult - for regardless of political persuasion 
or personal feelings , we, as individuals, had to 
take stands. There was a stigma to being in the 

family and it took many strange turns . Friends 
became enemies . Enemies became friends . 
And, in most cases, both became skeptics. We 
had to explain, disavow or support, forthe Court 
was one of the major issues of our time. And this 
affected our personal lives immensely. Yet 
through all of this, my father and mother re­
mained the same as always - stoic, serene, to­
tally understanding , and one-hundred-percent 
parents. And because of this, they became the 
greatest sources of earthly strength that we had, 
as well as symbols of what we should strive to 
be : 

What else can be said? Certainly a great deal. 
But I think these few words and broad observa­
tions are the best I can do within the context of 
the assignment. It would take volumes to de­
scribe more, let alone know where to start and 
where to end. Have I been overly laudatory? Is it 
a fairy Jale? Aren '!.there negative aspects r could 
point to? No. These are my total views - and r 
have never been accused of restraining myself in 
matters where my father was concerned. In fact, 
the closeness of the relationship between the two 
of us rested to a great extent upon my questioning 
and challenging demeanor. 

Those with a psychological bent have often 
asked if our relationship with our parents has 
been a "love- hate affair. " The answer has al ways 
been that we love our parents while hating the 
"goldfish bowl" problems imposed on us-al­
though our parents did everything they could to 
keep these problems from us, and did effectively 
insulate us during our formative years. 

I have also been asked if we have always had a 
" love-affair" with our parents. That is an easy 
question . The answer is : "Absolutely" .' 
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The Warren Tapes: Oral History 
and the Supreme Court 

Amelia Roberts Fry 

(Editor's note: Oral history is a branch of 
scholarship and documentation which is com­
paratively new, and particularly new in the area of 
judicial history. But a major step forward in the 
latter field has been the comprehensive project on 
the pre-Court career of the fourteenth Chief Jus­
tice of the United States, which is described here 
by the person who directed the project from 1969 
to the present. Although much of the material on 
the California years of the later ChiefJ ustice may 
at first appear to have limited usefulness for the 
legal historian of the Supreme Court, Mrs. Fry's 
demonstration of the interrelationships which be­
come more evident with the increasing range of 
interviews in a project of this importance is in 
itself an indication of the potential 'vI"'ich oral 
history has for future research by scholars on both 
Earl Warren and the Supreme Court.) 

In the early sixties Daniel Boorstin, now Li­
brarian of Congress, drew a bead on lawyers and 
judges and handed down a non-judicious opin­
ion . "Future historians will marvel that our soci­
ety could have put the custody of our legal in ­
stitutions into the hands of a profession with so 
little historical perspective . " J About the same 
time Dr. Boorstin was passing sentence on the 
judiciary, Chief Justice Earl Warren was mulling 
over a request from his alma mater, the Univer­
sity of California at Berkeley, which also dealt 
with the historic void . The staff of the Regional 
Oral History Office (ROHO) had asked Warren 
if he would consent to be interviewed in a project 
to document his era in California for the Bancroft 
Library archives. 

Two months later, after further urging by his 
classmates and others, he sent a typically delib­
erate reply to ROHO which opened the way for 
oral history to make its own documentation of 
the history of the "third branch:" He noted that 
" I have never intended to make an intentional 
record of my activities in public life ," but was 

willing to listen to argument. "Some day when I 
am at the University, I will be happy to talk to 
you about your own method of doing things and 
how it might fit in with my position on the 
Court." 2 

The "metho~ of doing things" was oral his­
tory, but at that time neither the lexicons of histo­
rians nor the public 's conventional wisdom had 
settled on a name for it. Today the technique is 
described by the Oral History Association as "a 
method of gathering and preserving historical in­
formation in spoken form ." It is usually intended 
as a time capsule of sorts, to be deposited with 
related collections of papers in archives where 
future historians , biographers, and (perhaps 
now) legal historians can find the raw material 
and primary sources they need to recreate or en­
rich the record of events. 

The Chief Justice agreed to participate in the 
project after an exchange of predictable assur­
ances: on his part (voluntarily), he gave the Uni­
versity complete independence in its research 
and operation. On ROHO's part, the project 
agreed to focus on only his California years be­
cause he was still on the bench at the time . That 
Warren was protective about certain areas of in­
quiry into Supreme Court cases did not mean he 
was unaware of problems historians were having 
with increased reliance on press accounts; in 
fact, he comments on that source's reliability in 
his published Memoirs: 

The media [do] not consider the Court's work 
newsworthy until it makes a decision which stirs 
emotion on the part of great numbers of people on 
the losing side. Then the media give a superficial 
judgment which is often wide of the mark, and 
leave the matter to the public in that unsatisfac­
tory condition. This is largely because news 
gatherers are not deeply concerned with the pro­
ceedings before the Court until decision day; 
their homework is thus generally inadequate. 3 

John P. MacKenzie explained the view from 
the Washington Post in 1968: "Secrecy at several 
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levels both protects and obscures the Court and 
its work. The process of marshalling a Court, of 
compromise, of submerging dissents and con­
currences , or of bringing them about, can only be 
imagined or deduced . . . " He cites the process of 
handling petitions for certiorari as "a process 
which . . . eludes the attempts of newsmen to 
fathom, much less to communicate to the general 
public, a sense of what the Court is doing." 4 

Warren sidestepped the dilemma between 
what ROHO saw as the historical mandate to 
provide as full a record as possible, and the judi­
cial imperative to maintain confidentiality about 
specific decisions reached in past litigation; he 
simply requested that ROHO's study not delve 
into his experience on the bench . Today however, 
federal justices and historians working together 
have evolved a workable approach that respects 
bothjudicial and archival mandates . In a series of 
interviews that ROHO is conducting with fed­
eral districtjutstices of the Ninth District, Justice 
Albert C. Wollenberg sent the interviewer, Dr. 
Sarah Sharp , a list of cases he had selected for 
their discussion of sentencing: 

Wollenberg: The point r wanted to make with you 
now is that these things are confidential and you 
can see the reason . .. . We shouldn ' t be referring 
to them I don ' t think by the case name and indi ­
vidual. 

Sharp: Sure , most questions are just real general. 
Wollenberg: Yes, I appreciate that. I just mean, let's 

not be specific about who we are talking about. 
We' ll just simply talk about Mr. B, or something 
like that. 

Sharp: r wondered, first of all, why you picked these 
cases? 

Wollenberg: Well, I didn't "pick" t~m ... only to 
this extent: they ' re a good cross-stlction ; they ' re 
all different cases. There's tax fraud; there 's bank 
robbery ; there 's receiving stolen property; use of 
a telephone or interstate wire for fraudulent use. 
[Reading] "importation of heroin . . . possession 
and passing of counterfeit money . . . possession 
of cocaine with intent to distribute;" and tax eva­
sion . . . . These cases are all the result of trials. 
They ' re not pleas of guilty. 

That's why they were picked. 5 

Wollenberg then proceeds to discuss each case 
separately. But Warren's interviews of a decade 
earlier do not touch upon such subjects . 

Oral History's Unique Contribution 

The Chief Justice probably was aware that for 
a century oral histories had been an intrinsic part 
of his alma mater's extensive collection of manu­
scripts in the Bancroft Library. Old Hubert Howe 

Bancroft himself, ranging from Alaska to 
Mexico, had filled several shelves with" Dicta­
tions" of Mexican grandees and Yankee pioneers 
that he, his agents, and sometimes his wife and 
daughter took down in notebooks. Today the 
thirty-nine volumes are major sources for anyone 
writing on the history of the nation's nineteenth 
century westward movement. Bancroft stopped 
his work in the 1880's, and the faculty at Berke­
ley resumed the oral history program in 1953 as 
tape recorders began appearing on the market. At 
Columbia University, historian Alan Nevins had 
already experimented with the new electronic 
gadgetry to obtain "from the lips and papers of 
living Americans who have led significant lives a 
fuller record of their participation in the pol iticar, 
economic, and cultural life of the last sixty 
years." 6 

The fact that two large universities, one on 
each coast, were developing oral history offices 
almost simultaneously was a sign of a mutual 
discontent with a sort of nationwide amnesia 
caused by twentieth century technologies. Once 
our society had plugged into a telephone system, 
impornant pieces of the historic record self­
destructed the moment a receiver was hung up. 
Easy plane travel encouraged person-to-person 
discussions which likewise remained unre­
corded . Gone was the practice, perhaps the lux­
ury, of painstaking explanatory letters and 
memos which for centuries had created doc­
umentary material for archives of the future . 
Diary writing, once commonplace, became rare. 

Paradoxically, the nation's bureaucracies were 
simultaneously intent on producing a rising tide 
of paper. (The San Francisco Chronicle noted in 
1973 that the National Archives accessioned 
seven million cubic feet of new records each 
year, and this was only three percent of what the 
government produced .) But most of the informa­
tion in papers today consists of records of routine 
transactions, self-serving reports to the boss , 
cautious memos justifying decisions already 
made, and tons of public pronouncements de­
signed with an audience in mind. More and 
more, historians are having to look to newspa­
pers in a gloom exceeded only by their skepti­
cism: news stories may be excellent as quick re­
portage in the first blush of an event, but they 
were never intended to be carefully probed evi­
dence or first-hand, first-person source material. 

Clearly, the records preserved in archives 
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across the land needs supplementary material . 
Now, as technology discouraged production of 
much treasure in conventional sources, it finally 
provided access to new riches through new elec­
tronic capabilities. The invention of the tape re­
corder made oral history a practical means of 
counteracting the growing anemia in important 
written sources . 

The Earl Warren Oral History Project did not 
get under way until1969-evidence that part of 
the problem that Boorstin described lay with. 
funding agencies' priorities. Finally, a small 
grant came from the N ationaJ Endowment for the 
Humanities, matched by donations from War­
ren's previous law clerks, from small local foun­
dations, and from friends of the Bancroft Li­
brary. 

Thirteen years and 121 memorists later, the 
oral history project can now announce its final 
volume, the oral record from the Chief Justice 
himsel f, on the shelf alongside the other fifty­
three bound volumes of transcripts . Altogether 
they form more than the biography of the Chief 
Justice; it is a biography of the state and nation 
from 1925 to 1953-give or take a few years . The 
set is in the California State Archives and in the 
law library of the College of William and Mary, 
as well as at UCLA and, of course, Berkeley'S 
Bancroft Library. Selected volumes may be 
found in research collections all over the coun­
try. 7 

For the narrator, producing an oral history re­
quires less time than writing memoirs; it is 
usually more enjoyable, and it is easier because 
the interviewer does most of the research. But it 
does req uire a commitment of time segments that 
the interviewee has to schedule. As for inter­
viewees, initial selections were based upon : (I) 
the person 's proximity to a political or govern­
mentaJ inner circle , or to the life of the central 
figure in the project-in this case , Warren; (2) 
the angle of the point of observation, such as that 
of the legislature, the lobbies , the press , and so 
on; and (3) the individual's health and ability to 
articulate and conceptualize, as well as his mem­
ory. (Oliver Wendell Holmes-a Justice who was 
too early for oral history-correctly anticipated 
the wariness of oral historians when he wrote , 
"Oh, this terrible gift of second-sight that comes 
to some of us when we begin to look through 
silvered rings of arcus senilis!") Finally, (4) there 
was the balance needed for all sides of the pro-

verbial blind man's historical elephant. The latter 
criterion required spokesmen not only for each 
political view but also for specific subdivisions of 
the time frame. 

An oral historian, who is creating archives, 
can be delighted one day with a historical 
"scoop" on tape, and the next day he may face 
the challenge of effectively using his 90-minute 
appointment with an interviewee who is either 
too taciturn or too discursive. Processing costs 
per tape mean that such problems, if not handled 
adroitly, can either bankrupt a project or alienate 
an interviewee. When a research project's 
sources are a variety of living personalities, the 
human variables often defy the best efforts to 
keep the process efficient and on a predictable 
schedule. To cut down on the chances of delays 
and surprises, a project's staff at the outset needs 
to explore judiciously the criteria for screening 
interviewees, choosing research topics , seeking 
advice from knowledgeable experts, and build­
ing basic themes for questions. 

History While It's Hot 

The Warren Project was fortunate in that two 
biographies of Warren himself had just appeared 
- respectively, by John Weaver and Leo 
Katcher 8-which were indispensable as starting 
points for discussion with the authors for advice 
on priorities of interview themes, and links be­
tween personalities and issues. From their own 
experience in interviewing some of the same 
characters, they knew to which topics a particu­
lar interviewee could best address himself. 

The first round was with persons who were in 
more peripheral positions in the power structure. 
This provided not only more information for 
project files but a more subtle sense of definition 
of attitudinal patterns. The result was that sub­
sequent interviews with people closer to the cen­
ter of events could at least be more empathetic 
and usually more knowledgeable. The following 
is an example of a question raised by an earlier 
interview which was followed up in a subsequent 
interview with someone closer to the event: 

Listen to that master observer, Carey McWil­
liams, for years an editor of The Nation, and 
critic-at-large of California's society and gov­
ernment. Then hear a follow-up recorded by 
Ford Chatters, who had worked closely with 
Warren as his publicity chief for the same cam-
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paign that McWilliams describes. First , McWil­

liams, on November 12, 1969: 

Warren , I always thought, was always thinking 
of where he wanted to go next, politicaJJy speak­
ing . My impression of him as a California politi­
cian was that he was very cautious. He was pretty 
much the law enforcement type. No reason why 
he shouldn't be because that had been his career. 
He was pretty grim . . . . until he retained public 
relations specialists Whitaker and Baxter when 
he first ran for governor. Then I was amazed at 
what they were able to do with Warren . I think it 
was one of the first professional image-changing 
jobs, and a very good one. I remember still the 
shock, after Warren announced his candidacy for 
governor, at seeing in the Southern California 
papers big photographs of Warre·n at a grunion 
hunt on the beaches . .. Here was our candidate 
for governor in a bathing suit, laughing and run­
ning up and down the beach, et cetera et cetera . 
Now I had never seen a photograph of Warren 
like this. Never ... I said to myself, "That is the 
hand of Whitaker and Baxter .. . . "9 

Carey McWilliams had known only the ex­
terior of the story, but his perceptions instigated 
new questions for the project's question bank. 
Two years later Ford Chatters gave history a 
closer look at that episode. He was showing the 
interviewer one of the family pictures used in the 
campaign. 

Fry: Warren liked that picture? 
Chatters: Well, at first he didn't want it used. 
Fry: Why? 
Chatters: Oh, just the desire to keep the family out of 

it [the campaign]. Especially when we talked in 

Earl Warren campaigning for the Governorship of California 
in J942. 

terms of using hundreds of thousands oflhem, all 
we could afford to distribute. 

Fry: Who talked Warren into O.K. 'ing it I wonder. 
Chatters: Oh, Clem and Leon Baxter probably. 10 

One of the most difficult tasks for a biographer 
is not the tracing of a person's chronology, but 
the collecting of the human events and social 

attitudes around him in order to identify those 
which seemed pertinent to him at any given time. 

Oral histories are probably richer with clues for 

this process than letters and written records. 

Take, for instance, the circumstances around 

Warren, as state attorney general , when World 
War II broke out in Hawaii. He was already in a 

war himself - with a governor over the control 

of civil defense, in a state with a thousand-mile 

coastline exposed to Hawaii, and beyond that, 
Japan . Several of the project's interviewees 

recalled their perceptions, among them Helen 

MacGregor, Earl Warren's executive secretary 

and deputy attorney general: 

. .. All law enforcement people and fire depart­
ment people looked to him, as attorney general, 
for guidance on all civil defense mallers . I re­
member the day of Pearl Harbor. Mr. Warren 
called us around two o'clock in the afternoon. 
Phone calls were coming in - some of them 
sounded hysterical . There was some sabotage as 
I recall, but no major sabotage. The sheriffs and 
the chiefs of police were calling in wanting to 
know what to do and how to do it . . . There was a 
great deal of fear tlu·oughout the state . . . At an 
early point, this West Coast was declared a com­
bat zone . . .. There were raids on some of the 
Japanese places by local police, I think . I re­
member one in the Sacramento Valley, where a 
substantial cache of weapons was found . We 
didn't know, from one day to the next, when there 
would be a major Japanese attack. The coast was 
defenseless . The Air Force had all been sent over 
to Pearl Harbor, but the second or third night of 
the war there were planes overhead in consider­
able number. I felt at the time that they were 
Japanese planes, a roar of planes, around 8:00 or 
9:00 . I believe it was just their reconnaissance 
flight. If Japan had followed up on Pear Harbor 
with an attack on this coast, we would have had a 
terrible time .... But we were blessed by the fact 
that Japan didn 't try." 

Earl Warren recalled something which does 

not appear in any newspaper of the time but 

which was verified in Coast Guard records : two 

sinkings in San Luis Obispo harbor, and one in 

San Diego. 

Shortly after Pearl Harbor, I had a phone call 
from Abe Brazil down in San Luis Obispo. He 
was the district attorney there , and he told me that 
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that morning (he called me early in the morning) 
there was an explosion off the coast there that had 
awakened the whole town, and that they [the 
town's residents] got up and they went down to 
the shore-the seashore-and they learned when 
they got down there that a submarine had sunk a 
tanker of ours . The crowd stayed down there talk­
ing about the thing, you know, and when it got 
light, along came another tanker and up carne a 
submarine in front of the whole town and sunk it 
right there. 

Brazil said to me , "Gee, I don't know who to 
call, but," he said, " we immediately phoned the 
Air Force" -they had an air base there just three 
miles from town - " and we waited for hours. 
They never showed up!" So, he called me . He 
said, "I don't know who to call, so I just called 
you . " 12 

Warren also called the military and discovered 
that the entire coastline was virtually defense­
less . Another example of the pertinent historic 
context comes from Oscar Jahnsen, Chief Spe­
cial Agent for Attorney General Warren. His 
perception also was that invasion was imminent: 

"When Pearl Harbor came along and they 
started sinking ships off San Luis Obispo and so 
forth, it became apparent that we ought to find out 
where the Japs were, if there was an invasion. 
Warren wanted to know if they were around any­
place that could do us any danger. I 'ent to the 
Division of Highways for their maps, and sent a 
copy of each county map to each of the 58 district 
attorneys. We asked them to send us those maps 
back , giving us in detail as much information as 
they could as to where the Japanese were, the 
amount of land they had. When all these maps 
came in, we had a master .c hart on which we 
marked all of these things, and all of these 
[Japanese] places appeared to be strategically lo­
cated . It looked as though pressing one button 
they could go to work and they'd take over the 
whole state of California ... " 

Warren showed these to Commanding General 
DeWitt, and DeWitt just realized that if he waited 
too long , many things could blow up along the 
Pacific Coast ... 13 

The decision to evacuate the Japanese­
Americans along with the Japanese was a com­
plex one, emanating from the White House. 
Most historians agree that it was urged by the 
army, with pressure from California con­
gressmen. Warren's speeches and his testimony 
before the Tolan committee can be considered 
within not only the context of West Coast panic, 
but also as set against the backdrop of the early 
resistance of the Justice Department to the re­
moval (a resistance which ultimately crumbled) 
and the competing urgencies of the conduct of 
the war that faced Roosevelt. James Rowe, U. S. 

Deputy Attorney General at the time, summed 
up in his interview: 

I don't think Roosevelt paid much attention to 
the thing at all [when he decided to sign the or­
der]. I think he said "well, it's war, " and after all 
you had a couple of British ships just sunk at 
Singapore . The Japanese evacuation question 
must have been a fringe matter for him those 
weeks just following Pearl Harbor . .. I think 
FDR told Attorney General Biddle to move the 
Japanese, and he followed presidential orders . 
We [the Department of Justice] should have made 
sure we were heard at the White House [in oppo­
sition to the removal]. Our fight should have been 
at the White House level. We made a lot of mis­
takes. 14 

Finally, the question asked of many inter­
viewees was, Where was your voice of opposi­
tion at the time? Person after person looked 
back unable to explain their inaction. Ruth 
Kingman, who later led a concerted effort on 
behalf of the Japanese Americans, describes a 
sort of paralysis of incredulity. "As time went 
on, it was evident that evacuation was to be in­
discriminate - far-reaching - total .... Most of 
the 'goodwill people' just didn't believe that it 
could happen. 'It can't happen here' I think was 
the major reason that there was no immediate 
opposition." 15 

Even though the former internees themselves 
were not interviewed, the backward look thirty 
years later was painful as the scenario unfolded 
again. Often both interviewee and interviewer 
talked doggedly through tears. The Chief Justice 
was not exempt. In a preparatory session with 
Earl Warren, which was recorded not on tape but 
in notes taken by all staff members, the Chief 
Justice's eyes brimmed over as he said , "Now 
that society in general is so much more aware of 
civil rights , interning them (the Japanese Ameri­
cans) seems like a terribly cruel thing to do, and 
it was a cruel thing , especially uprooting the 
children from their schools, their communities 
and friends, and having whole families trans­
ferred out to a strange environment and a less 
desirable environment. . .. " 16 Later he was to 
write much the same sentiment in his Memoirs . 

Earl Warren's Own Oral History 

The tape-recorded sessions with Earl Warren 
bring up another point. In several aspects it ran 
counter to the methods that ROHO had devel­
oped over the years . The optimum length for a 
session was considered to be between an hour 



THE WARREN TAPES: ORAL HISTORY AND THE SUPREME COURT 15 

President and Mrs. Dwig/u D. Eisenhower greet Chief Justice alld Mrs. Warrell at the White House. 

and an hour and a half; Warren's sessions began 
in the morning and lasted all day. A one-to-one 
interview generally promotes better understandc 
ing between interviewer and interviewee and al­
lows better organization of the narration; Warren 
requested the presence of his assistants Warren 
Olney III and Helen MacGregor, a f rmat which 
led to all six interviewers-each with a different 
expertise - sitting around the table too, and 
Doubleday editor Luther Nichols sitting in be­
cause Warren was also working on his Memoirs. 

Nonetheless, the marathon sessions proved 
exceptionally valuable. Two tape recorders were 
used at all times , and the give-and-take even in 
such a large group comes across on the transcript. 
But after three all-day sessions with Warren 
(each several months apart) negotiations were at­
tempted to do it the "right" way - i.e . , tape 
record his memoirs a piece at a time, with one 
interviewer at a time, going through his papers 
file by file for questions and an "agenda" of top­
ics to explain and compliment the papers. It was 
an enormous request to make of a man who was 

busily engaged in a half dozen other demanding 
projects, albeit no less than the nation 's history 
deserved. Time dragged on, and nothing more 
was done before his death. 

Also contrary to usual procedures, the trans­
cript is completely unamended, graced only with 
bracketed additions of phrases and names here 
and there to keep the conversation understanda­
ble to readers, who of course are not privy to the 
background work-ups, the chronologies, and the 
question lists that were present on the table. The 
transcript was also audited three times with the 
tapes from both tape recorders to promote as 
much accuracy as possible. Many of the ques­
tions were spin-offs prompted by advance drafts 
of his Memoirs, which he and Doubleday sent to 
ROHO's staff. Material that is appropriate in a 
manuscript being published for the general pub­
lic usually raises a number of additional ques­
tions for oral history, where the objective is to 
preserve the past in research archives for scholars 
from several fields; the questions must be more 
multi-disciplinarian. 
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Many of the questions came from news files, 
which sometimes offered Warren an opportunity 
to correct the media's instant history. For in­
stance, he was asked about a story during his 
campaign for attorney general in 1938 which 
says the then district attorney was "rabidly" op­
posed to horse racing and pari-mutuel betting, 
and if elected he would see that the entire state be 
cleaned up. Warren said the story was spurious . 

Fry: Why do you say it was spurious? 
Warren: Well , because I had never put it out, I had 

never said it. Pari-mutuel betting was legal in 
California ... That was the opposition trying to 
get all of the people who were interested in horse 
racing to be against me . My headquarters never 
put out anything of that kind . 

MacGregor: I remember that very, very well. The 
Chief was down in L.A . . .. This was either Wes 
Robbins or the one from the Post inquirer who 
called. 

Warren: Frank Piazzi 
MacGregor: Frank Piazzi - read me this purported 

statement and said "That doesn ' t sound like 
Earl." I said, "It doesn ' t, and I don't think he 
said that. " Then I got on the phone and reached 
you somehow and then you said, "lust say it's a 
forgery. [laughter]. I never said it. " 

Warren: Yes, yes, I know I never said that. I never 
have been enamored with pari-mutuel betting, 
but I have never used it as an issue in a campaign, 
as the constitution provided that it was legal. 

Fry: And they were able to print the statement that this 
was a spurious press release? 

MacGregor: The papers that did carry it . .. they were 
able to print a retraction . 17 

As happens in using newspapers as sources, 
researchers had found the original statem'ent but 
the retraction was not seen because no one knew 
to look for one . The story had a premise that 
made it sound possibly credible; that he would be 
against all gambling in whatever form did not 
require much of a stretch of the imagination. 

Law Enforcement 

Warren was known as a tough district attorney 
who had made his reputation raiding gambling 
establishments in the county, throwing out boot­
leggers , and even prosecuting a corrupt sheriff. 
The crooks were brought to trial quickly. Just 
how this was done Warren Olney III explains in 
his own memoir (corroborated by other deputy 
D.A. 's as well as by Warren himself): 

" We had a policy - and this was Earl Warren's 
doing entirely, and he imbued the whole office 
with it, and insisted on it-a policy of moving the 
cases as rapidly as it was possible to move them. 
.. . But the pressure was always kept on us-he 

kept it on us .. .. Now this required an awful lot 
of work .... We had to be down at nine in the 
office, and we were expected to stay at least until 
5 :30, and to work at night if we needed to. We 
worked every Saturday-expected to do that too. 
If we didn't have inspectors enough to run around 
and interview our witnesses to get it ready, we 
were supposed to do that ourselves and we 
did ."'B 

Earl Warren put it this way in one of his ses­
sions: 
Warren: Well, I don't know what it [the delay on 

cases] was , but I know that it was too long when 
we started, and we ran it down so that everybody 
got a trial in thirty days , not because of his insist­
ence that he be tried speedily, but we just insisted 
that the cases be tried . . . within that length of 
time. We used to try our important murder cases 
in thirty days from the day of the murder. 

Fry: Wh'ile Helen MacGregor is here and Warren 
Olney, I'll ask . .. how did the staff manage to get 
all of the research done so that a person who had a 
case could keep it moving aLong that fast? 

Warren: Well, he didn't have any forty-hour week . 
[laughter] . 

MacGregor: He just keep plugging. 
Warren: We kept their feet to the fire almost. Well 

now, there's just an awful lot of truth in that too. 
We didn't have any forty-hour week , we just 
worked all hours of the day and night if it was 
necessary to do it, and that's the only way you 
can keep up with these things. 

Warren views the present practice of plea­
bargaining: 

Warren: There might be some plea-bargaining today 
as in a great many times where the judge has the 
option of punishing by imprisonment in the state 
penitentiary or by imprisonment in the county 
jail. Maybe they go to the extent of bargaining 
with a fellow and saying, ' I won 't plead quilty 
unless you assure me that I' m not going to the 
penitentiary but I'll only go to the county jail. " 
That could be done, and I don ' t doubt but what it 
is done a good bit, but-

Feingold: But that wasn ' t done back in your day as 
District Attorney? 

Warren: No, we didn't do that. They were tried for a 
major offense . Very rarely we did the other. 

But Warren contrasts the larger pressures of 
criminal justice and law enforcement of the early 
Seventies with his era: 

Law enforcement officers today and the courts 
have problems we never had . We had, in spite of 
that we were in a rough riding and hi -jacking era 
and a time when all of these rackets that they had 
in Chicago and New York and so forth were try­
ing to come out and get established here, we had 
a pretty rugged time. But the era was so that we 
had good will on the part of the general public. 
We just didn't have the problems of bitterness that 
everybody has today-the spirit of bitterness that 
makes life almost unbearable for law enforce­
ment officers and for the trial courts .... ' 9 
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The nell' Chief Justice shortly after ms appoilllment to the 
Supreme Court in 1953 . 

Warren 's active fight against gambling con­

tinued in his attorney general period with a spec­

tacular victory in quasi-naval battles to arrest the 

purported "captain" of a gambling ship moored 

just outside-he thought-the jurisdiction of the 

state. Even after Warren became governor, he 

was appalled at the obvious corruption of the 
attorney general (who, in California, is also 
elected by the people); concerned ovel:,organized 

crime getting a foothold in the sta e, Warren 

called on his trusted friend Warren Olney, who 
helped him organize a crime commission that 
could circumvent the recalcitrant attorney gen­

eral. The commission's reports (exposes ac­

tually) worked as the governor had hoped , The 
attorney general was not re-elected, and his suc­
cessor was Edmund G , "Pat" Brown, (Later, in 

1958, Brown brought the Democrats into power 
by winning the governorship,) 

In Brown's interview, he tells of how in 1951 

he assured the governor that although they be­

longed to different political parties , he would be 

loyal, he would always be the "governor's 

lawyer, " and there would be no need for the 

crime commission henceforth , But an interesting 

thing happened, 

Brown: Earl Warren called me up in San Francisco, . , 
and he said , "I've decided that I am going to keep 
the crime commission for another year," and I 
said to him, 

"Governor Warren, I am the new attorney 
general, and my responsibility is to enforce all of 
the law, and I wish you would give me the chance 
to enforce the law without the aid of any extra­
curricular body .. . . " And I said, "I want all the 
credit or all the blame, I don't want to share it 
with anybody if I do a good job as attorney gen­
eral. " 

And he said , "Pat, I already have it in my 
message to the legislature , Will you come up and 
talk with me?" 

So I took my chief assistant, Bert Levit, with 
me and we went up to Sacramento. The press 
were outside waiting to see the new attorney gen­
eral meet the old attorney general now elected 
governor for a third term at that time .... 

Earl Warren said to me, "I hope you ' ll go 
along with me on this, I know how you feel, but I 
really feel they [the crime commission] haven 't 
completed their work yet." 

And I pounded on his desk (not hard) and I 
said , "Governor, I want the right to do this job 
that rhave taken a solemn oath to perform . " 

He, , , was very conciliatory, but didn't retreat 
in the slightest degree, and finally he said to me, 
"Now let me just tel.! you something. I've been 
around here for a long time and you're new up 
here. Do you want to walk outside here at the 
beginning of your career, and have the press say 
--.: in heacllines talking to ten million people in 
this state - say 'ATTORNEY GENERAL 
BREAKS WITH GOVERNOR ' ?" 

And I said , " Governor, we shall have a crime 
commission. " 20 

That is not quite the end of the story, however. 

Pat Brown needed experienced investigators for 

his new job. And where better a pool of experi­
ence than-

Brown: I brought Art Arthur Sherry with me. He was 
a special prosecutor for the crime commission. I 
made Art Sherry my chief assistant general. That 
was one of the reasons why I d idn 't feel that we 
needed any crime commission. And a man 
named Harold Robinson, who was chief inves­
tigator for the crime commission, became my 
chief investigator. So I really took his crime 
commission and used them, 

The Governor and Politics 

This episode proved to be typical of the rela­

tions between Warren and Brown . A rich friend ­
ship grew between the Republican and the Dem­

ocratic leaders of the state , one which resulted in 

regular hunting expeditions together when the 

Chief Justice returned to California. 

Party lines became strong and clear during 

presidential years, however, and once Warren 

became governor he was a presidential or vice 
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presidential candidate at Republican con­
ventions. Although he turned down the vice 
presidential nomination in 1944, he had headed 
the Republican party in California in the Thirties 
and he was not ignoring the White House siren 
song that persisted through the 1952 convention. 

What goes on at political conventions is a 
topic in which oral history competes very well 
with the understandably sparse written records. 
One example of many spread throughout the 
political volumes is travelling Secretary Merrell 
F Small's portrayal of Earl Warren after the 1948 
vote at the Republican convention. For Warren , 
it had been hopes for the presidency or nothing; 
but at the convention he finally did agree to run 
with Dewey, quite against his own desires . The 
scene is Warren's private hotel room, and Warren 
is watching the convention on television with 
Small, affectionately called " Pop" by nearly 
everyone. 

Small: I was alone with him . There was nobody else. 
Mrs. Warren was at the convention and the girls 
were at the convention .... Warren had just been 
nominated vice president. He turned to me, and 
he said, "Pop, I had to do it. " He apologized! ... 
"1 had to do it. If I hadn ' t taken it this time, they 'd 
never consider me for anything again." ... Be­
cause he was looking ahead - maybe another 
chance, you see. 22 

That campaign was not a happy one for War­
ren , for reasons that vary with the o.arrators ; 
probably they are all correct. There was a lack of 
communication in the campaign between Warren 
and Dewey; there was a personality gulf between 
the western forthrightness of Warren and the 
sense (}f propriety of Dewey; and there was a 
profound difference of opinion on the basic strat­
egy of the campaign, which is encapsulated in a 
tiny vignette, again by Pop Small: 

Small: Dewey's campaign strategy was, " Let 's not 
commit ourselves. We've got this thing in the 
bag. " ... Warren argued against the strategy to an 
extent. "We've got to take some positions ." But 
Dewey was the boss man .. .. I walked in this 
particular morning, and he [Warren) was in his 
shirt-sleeves with one leg up over the arm of a big 
overstuffed chair, with the telephone up to his ear, 
and I quote, " But 10m, we gotta say somep'n 
about somep'n some of the time." 

"The campaign ended and we went to San 
Francisco for election night. About ten o 'clock 
the governor announced he was going to bed. He 
had told us two weeks before the election that 
Truman had won. He said, "He has reached the 
people and we haven't. "23 

Chief Jus/ice Earl Warren (1953 -1969). 

Bipartisanship was a major strength of Earl 
Warren's campaigns, a necessary strategy for a 
Republican to win in a state in which , after 1936, 
Democrats increasingly outnumbered Republi­
cans . Permissive election laws that allowed 
cross-filing in primaries was all to Warren 's ad­
vantage , as most interviews with his campaign 
workers gleefully explain. For the Democrats , 
there is Warren 's 1950 opponent , James 
Roosevelt: 

Fry: How was Warren's strength assessed by you and 
the other Democrats? 

Roosevelt: We all knew that he was a master politician 
and he had succeeded in building what might be 
called a "Warren party," which included enough 
of the Republican party (who were not always 
united behind him as I'm sure would be evident 
from newspapers . . . ) but I think that he attracted 
liberal elements of the Democratic party. He 
convinced the conservative elements of the 
Democratic party that certa inly he was preferable 
over any other Democrat they could think of, and 
he real I y built a Warren party straight across the 
board . 

And of course he was helped at that time by the 
fact that we had ... cross-filing in the state so that 
... you could pose as both a Democrat and a 
Republican and how you had a foot in both camps 
and that you were the best of both. And he did it 
in a masterful way. He had a good public record 
. ... All in all, he was an effective governor 
without any question of it. 

. . . Let me put it this way: effective opposition 
to Warren was destroyed because of this tactic, 
which failed to bring to the attention of the great 
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population of California the basic things which 
were not getting done and not being faced, which 
would become very serious problems lateron . 24 

In addition to gathering as much enlighten­
ment on Earl Warren's personality as possible, 
other overarching themes dictated avenues of 
questions to be applied to all interviews. What 
were Warren's basic contributions as governor? 
How did he handle the legislature? How did he 
select state appointees? And that question that 
everyone wonders about-was Warren as gov­
ernor different from Warren the Chief Justice, 
less" liberal ," less the reformer? The basic con­
stancy in his personality may have made change a 
difficult phenomenon for those around him to 
perceive . 

Earl Warren himself explains his approach to 
any change, any reform-and it is illuminating: 

. . . no matter how strongly you feel on a subject, I 
think you have to start very often with small be­
ginnings and work forward from one step to 
another . . . a growth from nothing up to meeting 
conditions as they come along, don't you see , 
depending on what problems developed, and so 
forth. That's the way most social institutions de­
velop, anyway. They don't come in full-blown, 
and if they do, they're usually disasters. 26 

Warren and Religious Law 

The project followed any clues to the on-going 
development of Earl Warren 's system of values. 
Early in the planning stages nearly every advisor 
mentioned how close William Sweigert had been 
to Earl Warren. From his position as assistant 
and administrative organizer in all of Warren's 
offices from district attorney to gov~~nor, (where 
he was personal secretary to Warr 11) Sweigert 
enjoyed constant access to him. He was a man 
with a thoroughly Jesuit training, a fact his own 
interview integrates with narrations of the walks 
and conversation on philosophy of government 
that he and Earl Warren used to have, and with a 
memorandum that Sweigert prepared when War­
ren was governor-elect. It is a basic statement of 
the progressive view of government: responsible 
for the social , economic, and physical well­
being of its people , a use of bureaucratic power . 
to improve society. 

What did not come to light until later was 
another factor: Earl Warren 's personal investiga­
tion into Talmudic Law. Ben Swig, a close per­
sonal friend of the Warren family, had said, ''I'm 
going to be frank with you. He knows a lot more 

about it [the Talmud] than I do .... I'll have him 
teach me something about it one of these days . " 
Off tape, Swig mentioned that he thought Warren 
had studied it under Rabbi Louis Finkelstein, 
now Chancellor Emeritus of the Jewish 
Theological Seminary of America . This was an 
intriguing lead, and later Finkelstein taped a 
short session but one with long ramifications . 
The two men had met in 1951 when Governor 
Warren gave a commencement speech at the 
University of Judaism in Los Angeles, and their 
friendship continued . As Chancellor Finkelstein 
recalls , "when he came east to the Court , I saw 
him more frequently. " 27 

Finkelstein: He and I often discussed the ethic of the 
Talmud, which is the greatest Jewish commen­
tary on the Bible, containing discussion of most 
of its laws . He was very impressed with that. 
And he said that he would like to spend a little 
time with us here (at the Seminary). I said, well, 
if he came here for a weekend, I would arrange to 
have our professor of Talmud , who is the greatest 
living authority on the subject, lecture on Friday 
night. And I'd ask another professor to lecture on 
Saturday at lunch . 

He agreed to that, and he came and spent the 
weekend here. [September 13, 1957] On Friday 
evening. our Talmud professor, Professor Saul 
LieberrrHtn, discussed the passage in the Talmud 
which forbids acceptance of any confession in 
any way in a criminal case. This is the only sys­
tem of law of ancient or medieval times which did 
prohibit it .. .. The Talmud also has ruled against 
double jeopardy. A person who has been tried 

Presidelll Lyndon Johnson confers "',1h Chief Jllstice Warren 
and Congressman Gerald Ford, two members of Ihe commis­
sion appoillled by Johnson. and chaired by lhe Chief JI/Slice to 
investigate the assassination of Presidelll John F. Kennedy. 
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once cannot be tried a second time . .. . After the 
lecture the Chief Ju stice sa id to me, " I think I 
would I ike to say a few words." And what he said 
was , " This lecture in has been so interesting , so 
instructive, that I can 't understand how it is no­
body knows about it , that this is kept almost as a 
secret among you spec iali sts in the field. 

Fry: Then his chief interest in it was its relation to our 
Bill of Rights, do you think? 

Finkelstein: No. I think he became interested because 
of this great concern of the relationship of ethics 
to law. Curiousl y enough, in the Talmud we have 
a situation very simi lar to what you have here 
. . .. That is to say, the five books of Moses are an 
immutable constitution . They are the law. But of 
course they go back thirty-five hundred years 
. ... So th at the role of the Jewish rabbi over the 
centuries has been in some respects similar to the 
role of the judge in the court in trying to interpret 
a written document so as to make it fit the needs 
of life, and how would the author of the docu­
ment a~proach a situation when it is entirely 
novel. 2 

Later in the session an attempt is made to es­
tablish the extent of this pursuit. Finkelstein had 
sa id that the seminary had g iven Warren a copy 
of the whole Talmud , but that Warren confessed 
once, " '1 don ' t spend too much time on it,' as 
indeed he couldn't, being a very busy man . 
Studying the Talmud is like studying higher 
mathematics . " 

Fry: Did you conti nue your discussion of the Talmud 
here (in Washington)? 

Finkelstein: Yes . . .. We often sat around and dis­
cussed these questions . He liked to do that. 

Fry: About how often? 
Finkelstein: Well , I would say that I used to come to 

Washington about three times a year . . . Always a 
lunch , and las tin g an hour or so after lunch . 

Fry: And he would question you? 
Finkelstein: He would question me , or I would make 

some comments. But very often he questioned 
me. It was very fascinating. He was a profound 
man. Of course he was popular, and didn ' t put on 
any airs. One often was deceived into thinkin g 
that he was simple . He wasn't simple. He was a 
very profound gentl ema n. A very profound 
thinker. 

Fry: Well, it 's interesting that you fou nd that this man 
did have a profound mind, because we do get 
testimony that he was simplistic . 

Finkelstein: He gave the impression of being sim pl is­
tic . 

Fry: But that was because he had distilled things? 
Finkelstein : That was beca use he wanred to give that 

impression . He was direc t and didn ' t like letting 
technicalities interfere with justice .. . He was a 
man of deep understanding and sa w through a 
good deal that he didn ' t talk about, in public , and 
which I don ' t think I'm free to talk about here 
either ... but he certainly was a person who had a 
profound grasp of the sit uations in which we live 
and a determin ation to deal with them . 29 

The Chancellor did not know anything about 

Earl Warren 's attitude toward blac k minorities 
because most of their conversations occurred 
after the desegregation case , Brown v. Board of 
Education . But it was a question often asked in 
interviews , and one of the most interesting dis­
cussions occurred with Edgar James" Pat" Pat­
terson, now retired as counselor-psychotherapist 
at Vacaville prison. As a you ng black, he was a 
guard at the governor 's mansion but much more 
than that; he had been chauffeur-companion to 
the Warren 's s ix children as well as to Warren 
himse lf. The two men took long drives alone into 
the fertile California countryside to lessen the 
stress of the governor's duties . Several times 
Warren questioned" Pat" about the difference he 
had experienced between his segregated school 
experience in Louisiana - a far cry from War­
ren's hometown of unsegregated Bakersfield -
and how it differed from Pat 's sub sequent 
schooling in Sacramento, which was integrated. 
Patterson recorded the following: 

Warren and I would di scuss things li ke this , that 
there is no suc h thing as being separate, from 
different schools, and being equal, because so 
muc h is left out ... How yo u feel-your terms, 
your language , your way of thinking is different 
from when you go to a sc hool that is mixed 
[racially] . When you go to a ghetto school , where 
it is all black, you fee l like you j ust can ' t ge t 
across the railroad tracks. You can see the pro­
gress o n the other side, but you can 't reach it. 30 

After the Brown v. Board of Education deci ­
s ion , a vivid picture is painted by Warren's friend 
Ben Swig, with whom the Warrens frequently 
spent December holidays and took summer vaca­
tions: 

"I've seen blacks come up to him and say, 
' How wonderful you are,' and 'We don ' t know 
where we'd be without you.' I've heard them say 
that to him , on the street. I 've seen so many of 
them . They worship him . We've all got to be 
more understanding. "31 

The question of whether or how much War­
ren's beliefs changed is one that will require 
some careful picking through the interviews. 
One person in a good position to judge was Low­
ell Jensen because as a young up-coming attor­
ney in what, decades before , had been Earl War­
ren 's district attorney's office, Lowell studied 
with fascination how Warren had run it. He taped 
when he himself was in the same district attorney 
c hair: 

I'm sure Warren has c hanged his mind about 
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By an 8-0 majority, with one abstention, the Court affirms the humor of the momenl. Sealed (l~ft 10 right) are: Associate Justices 
Tom C. Clark and Hugo L. Black, Chief Justice Earl Warren , and Associate Justice IVi/liam O. Douglas . Standing (left to right) 
are: Associate Justices Bryon R. White, William J. Brennan, Jr. , Paller Stewart and Arthur J . Goldberg. 

some of the things that have been part of his exist­
ence at the time he was DA. There was a tota lly 
different scene at the time he was DA than when 
he was Chief Justice . The social kind of world' 
you live in has changed. The structure of gov­
ernment has cha nged . The kind of county you 
live in has c hanged . Things are IOt\l lly different. 
And there was a period of time lfen there be­
came an increasing recognition tha the criminal 
justice system as it was in the Twenties and Thir­
ties really didn't provide levels of protection to 
people who are charged with crime like it should 
have .32 

Summation 

The new " method of doing things" today has 
pretty well proven itself. There are oral history 
projects covering many subjects and in every 
state in the Union . But its distinction rests on 
more than its oral virtue. It returns the history of 
human events to the human level . The sources 
created are the perceptions of the men and 
women who actually made the history happen or 
who were there as qualified witnesses. Put to­
gether, the story develops only as far as the 

recollections have been preserved from individu­
als who have occupied varying angles of percep­
tion. Even with conscientious attention to that 
sort of balance , illness and death conspire to pre­
vent a perfectly-rounded story, but it is much 
more complete than one drawn from collections 
of papers alone. The finished transcripts are 
human recall sharpened by questions that are 
based on whatever multifarious sources are 
available. 

The reminiscences reflect a reality that is not 
neat and well-ordered. Truth is rarely a symmet­
rical story. With oral history recorded as a series 
of interviews, the glitches in causation are visi­
ble: the accidental coincidences, the seren­
dipities, the misunderstandings combine to pass 
a budget bill , to elect an official, or to make a 
decision. Causes are illuminated that lie quite 
outside structured ideology or the brilliance of 
organized campaign strategy. As the picture de­
velops from one memoir to the next, so do the 
people, and so does their larger historical con­
text. 
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Of Politics and the Court 
Lewis F. Powell, Jr. 

(Editor's Note: The following was an address 
delivered by Justice Powell at the banquet of the 
American College of Trial Lawyers, New Or­
leans, August 8, 1981.) 

The news at the Supreme Court, of special 
interest to every lawyer, is the retirement of Jus­
tice Stewart and the appointment of Sandra Day 
O'Connor as his successor. Potter Stewart was 
on the Court for 23 years, during a period of vast 
changes in our society and the world . During his 
service, decisions were made that profoundly af-

. fected and - in some instances - accelerated 
these changes. 

Potter Stewart, when interviewed by the 
press , identified the qualifications of a good 
judge: a high degree of legal competency, ajudi­
cial temperament, and - of course - character 
and diligence. He personified these characteris­
tics. He was a gifted lawyer, had a unique capac­
ity for detachment, and certainly possessed the 
character and diligence of the ideal judge. He 
also was a thoughtful and generous colleague, 
with a high sense of institutional re~ponsibility. 

He will be greatly missed. 
A change in the composition of the Court 

prompts one to wonder how a particular lawyer 
happens to be chosen. Apart from "luck, " what 
does history teach? 

Professor Alpheus Mason - distinguished 
scholar and Supreme Court historian-has writ­
ten: 

The Supreme Court has always consisted largely 
of politicians , appointed by politicians and con­
firmed by politicians , in furtherance of contro­
versial political objectives. 1 

Two of Dr. Mason's statements are historical 
facts. The nomination and confirmation of Jus­
tices are in the hands of elected politicians . The 
Constitution so provides. It also is true that "con­
troversial political objectives" often have moti-

vated the nomination by a President, as well as 
the action of the Senate. 

But has the Supreme Court, as Dr. Mason 
states, "always consisted largely of politicians"? 
The statement can be read in different ways. 
Were Justices chosen primarily because they 
were successful politicians? If so, did their polit­
ical vie~s persist and influence their decisions? 

The answer to the last question is clear. The 
Justices with the most impeccable political cre­
dentials rarely have remained loyal supporters of 
the political goals of the Presidents who ap­
pointed them. This fact is a tribute to the institu­
tional independence of the Court, and largely 
accounts for the public respect and support that 
the Court has enjoyed for most of its nearly two 
centuries of existence. 

It is less clear, however, that Justices have 
been chosen primarily because of political prom­
inence. As this audience is composed of eminent 
practicing lawyers, I thought it might be of inter­
est to explore this question. 

I could talk about the present Court. But this 
would be a one sentence speech. None of us 
could claim any fame or skill as a politician-not 
even in influencing each other. 

I turn , therefore, to history and take as a Gal­
lup Poll sample the 14 Chief Justices who pre­
ceded the present Chief. Were they, as Dr. 
Mason suggests , primarily politicians, and cho­
sen for this reason? I necessarily characterize 
their careers briefly. 

The first three Chief Justices-Jay, Rutledge 
and Ellsworth - hold prominent places in our 
history, not because of their brief services as 
Chief Justice , but because each was a lawyer and 
also a political leader of great prestige during the 
Revolutionary Era. 

John Marshall, on the other hand, was too 
young to playa comparable role in achieving 
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A porthole gallery of the first ten justices of the Supreme Court of the United States. 

independence and establishing our country. He 
came to the Bar in my City of Richmond in 1783, 
and soon estasblished a reputation as a litigation 
lawyer. 

Like most Virginia lawyers at the time, Mar­
shall also was active in politics. Yet, he declined 
positions as Attorney General of the United 
States, Minister to France, Supreme Court As­
sociate ~ ustice, and Secretary of War. He re­
mained primarily a practicing lawyer until he 
became Secretary of State under President 
Adams . 

His leadership at the Virginia Bar is docu­
mented in our records. In the decade of the 
1790's, he argued 113 cases before the Virginia 
Court of Appeals. Although Marshall dressed 
slovenly, and was not eloquent, the power of his 
knowledge and force of his personality won him 
great respect. Beveridge, in his famed biogra­
phy, states that Marshall was on one side or the 
other in almost every important case in Rich­
mond. 2 

Roger Taney, who succeeded Marshall in 
1836, also made his reputation initially as a suc­
cessful lawyer in Maryland, enjoying an exten-

sive practice in both state and federal courts . He 
argued several cases in the Supreme Court, and 
was co-counsel with Daniel Webster in at least 
one case. 3 He was on the losing side in Brown v. 
Maryland, a major Commerce Clause case. 4 Ac­
tive support for President Jackson led this prom­
inent lawyer to his appointment as Attorney 
General of the United States and later as Chief 
Justice. 5 

Salmon P. Chase was named by Lincoln in 
1864 to succeed Taney. Little need be said about 
Chase. He made his career in politics , and can be 
classified neither as a prominent lawyer nor as an 
admired Chief Justice. 

The next two Chief Justices were distin­
guished private practitioners: Morrison Waite 
and Melville Fuller. Waite made his reputation as 
a litigation lawyer in Ohio. It is said that at the 
time (middle of the 19th century), Waite -like 
other western lawyers-spent much of his time 
riding circuit, usually on horseback and some­
times in wagons . Frequently the entire Ohio 
court, including lawyers and judges, traveled in 
a body, going from county to county. 

Waite argued a great many cases in the Ohio 
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Supreme Court, and his fame as an advocate 
spread we!! beyond the state. Apparently his per­
formance as counsel in the Geneva Arhitration, 
following the War Between the States, attracted 
the favorable attention of President Grant, who 
appointed him Chief Justice in 1874. 6 

Melville Fuller succeeded Waite in 1888. He 
was an eminent Chicago lawyer, and argued at 
least one case in the Supreme Court during each 
term over a period of sixteen years. Fuller was 
the role model of a trial lawyer. Physically vig­
orous, with a flowing moustache and hair falling 
to his shoulders. He also was a powerful and 
well-read orator who often used quotations from 
classical and biblical literature. 

Although never interested in holding public 
office himself, Fuller was active in Democratic 
politics, attending four National Democratic 
Conventions. This political activity, together 
with his fame as a lawyer, prompted President 
Cleveland to appoint him Chief Justice . Despite 
Fuller's eminence as a lawyer, he is not viewed 
as a great Chief Justice . 

Edward Douglass White (Chief Justice 1910-
1921) was another Chief Justice who first estab­
lished a reputation as a talented and successful 
lawyer. He later served three years in the Senate, 
where he quickly became a leader. He was ap­
pointed an Associate Justice in 1894 by President 
Cleveland, apparently to serve the short-term 
political purposes of the President. Taft elevated 
White to the Chief Justiceship upon Fuller's 
death in 1910. 

Historians seem divided as to why White, then 
aged 65, was chosen as Chief Justice over his 
colleague on the Court, Charles E ans Hughes, 
then aged 48. It is speculated , perhaps unfairly, 
that Taft preferred the older man in view of his 
own ambition to become Chief Justice following 
his Presidency. In any event, it probably is fair to 
say that White was named Chief Justice primar­
ily for political reasons , although he would have 
merited the appointment as a scholarly and suc­
cessful lawyer. 

Taft himself was named Chief Justice in 1921. 
In many ways, he was an ideal choice: magiste­
rial in appearance (all 300 pounds!) , and 
uniquely experienced in government. He could 
be viewed as a professional office holder, as he 
practiced law privately for less than two years. 

His various offices did focus, for the most 
part, on the law, and seven years after admission 

to the Bar he became a Judge of the Superior 
Court of Cincinnati . He later served as Solicitor 
General of the United States, Judge of the U. S . 
Circuit Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit, 
Governor General of the Philippines, Secretary 
of War, and finally as President. Yet, his greatest 
ambition was realized when he became Chief 
Justice. 

By contrast , if Charles Evans Hughes had 
held no public positions at all, he still would be 
remembered as one of this country's most gifted 
lawyers . He was a skilled litigator with an as­
tonishing ability to master facts in new areas of 
the law. It is said that in one case he "learned the 
German language and the beet sugar industry 
from the ground up" to enable him to cross-ex­
amine German engineers appearing as expert 
witnesses. 7 

It was Hughes' awesome litigation ability 
that led to his appointment to several investiga­
tive positions, and by this route to the public 
offices which he graced with genuine distinction. 
It was Felix Frankfurter who once said: that to 
see Hughes "preside was like witnessing Tosca­
nini lead an orchestra. " 8 

Hughes will be remembered also for his crit­
ical role in defeating Roosevelt 's "Court Pack­
ing Plan. " As Hughes' opinions during the early 
thirties indicate, he could sympathize to some 
extent with Roosevelt's impatience with the 
Court, but wholly disagreed with a plan that 
could have undermined the independence of the 
Federal Judiciary. Hughes' letter to the Senate 
Judiciary Committee revealed the pretextual 
basis of the Court Packing Plan: the claim that 
efficiency required more Justices. 

I will refer to only one of Hughes' memorable 
opinions: his decision in NLRB v. Jones & 
Laughlin Steel Corp., 301 U.S . (1937) . It was 
said by some at the time that the Court had 
reacted to political pressure. But even if this was 
partially true, Hughes, the consummate lawyer, 
offered a rationale that explained the consistency 
of the opinion with prior decisions. Above all , 
his opinion maintained the principle of judicial 
supremacy in constitutional adjudication. It 
therefore preserved, in a time of potential crisis, 
the Court's key role in our society. 

I mention only briefly three of Hughes' suc­
cessors. Each enjoyed a distinguished career. Yet 
none of them attained wide recognition as a 
private lawyer. Stone was an eminent professor 
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and law school dean . Vinson became a national 
figure as an influential congressman and impor­
tant public official, including service as Secre­
tary of the lfeasury. Earl Warren's record as State 
Attorney General and three-term Governor of 
California-not his undistinguished career as a 
lawyer9 -propelled him to the level of a serious 
presidential candidate. 

The purpose of this thumbnail sketch of our 
first fourteen Chief Justices lO was to consider­
however roughly-whether success at the Bar or 
success in politics led primarily to their ap­
pointments. Most of them attained success both 
as lawyers and politicians. In view of the diver­
sity in the careers of all of these fine Americans, 
any classification of them as primarily great 
lawyers or primarily successful politicians is, to 
a large extent, a speculative personal judgment. 
Nevertheless, I venture the following conclu­
sions. 

The first three Chief Justices were conspicu-
ous leaders in both fields at a time when the 
ablest lawyers also dominated the Government. 
Stone, the scholar, also was unique. 

Among the other Chief Justices, I think it fair 
to say that Chase, Taft, Vinson, Warren and pos­
sibly White attained distinction-and the Chief 
Justiceship- primarily through political office. 
In my view, Marshall, Taney, Waite, Fuller and 
Hughes, despite political activity and service, 

attained prominence initially as lawyers of wide 
reputation. They were not primarily politicians. 

On the basis of my "sample" of the 14 Chief 
Justices , I would qualify Dr. Mason's generali­
zation that the Court has "always consisted 
largely of politicians ." 11 None was a stranger to 
politics . Yet, the paths that led to the Court were 
sufficiently different to foreclose such a broad 
general ization. 

N or can greatness on the Court be predicted 
by the path to its Bench. Compare, for example, 
a Marshall with a Warren, or a Brandeis with a 
Black. 

I return, in conclusion, to another response 
made by Justice Stewart to questions from a re­
porter. When .asked, in effect, whether his per­
sonal philosophy was conservative, Potter 
Stewart replied : 

[t]he first duty of a Justice [is] to remove [from 
his judicial work] his own moral , philosophical, 
political and rei igious bel iefs. 

However one happens to become a Justice or 
Chief Justice of the Supreme Court, the institu­
tion itself, its unique responsibility under our 
system , and its tradition of independence, cause 
members of the Court to agree with Justice 
Stewart as to their first duty. Once one is sworn 
in, he or she has a new allegiance that transcends 
all else: the Constitution of the United States. 
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the Dred Scan case. Despite the contemporary bitter· ren," XV Suffolk University lAw Review I, 2 (1981) 
ness and tragic consequences generated by that deci- ("There was no hint of greatness in the first phase of 
sion, Charles Evans Hughes-with the perspective of Warren 's career. "). 
history-described Taney as" a great Chief Justice ." 10 I do not mention my friend and colleague Chief 

6 Despite Waite's widespread fame as a successful Justice Warren E. Burger, as my story ends with 
lawyer, he never argued a case in the Supreme Court. former Chief Justices. 
He was not a politician in the ordinary sense of the II 1n fairness to Dr. Mason , I have quoted only one 
term, although he served one brief term in the Ohio sentence from his scholarly book, and thus do not 
legislature, and chaired a Constitutional Convention fairly present his thesis. 
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Chief Jw;tice Edward Douglass White and 
President Taft's Court 

Jeffrey B. Morris* 

Edward Douglass White was the first Associ­
ate Justice to be "promoted" to the center seat. ** 
His appointment in 1910, after sixteen years on 
the Supreme Court, was very well-received both 
within and outside the Court. During the first 
half of White's decade-long tenure (1910-21), the 
Court, which had been largely reconstituted by 
President William Howard Taft between 1909 
and 1912, was both harmonious and productive. 
Yet, by White's death in 1921, new fissures had 
opened which the aging Chief Justice was unable 
to bridge. Reforms instituted in the early years of 
White's Chief Justiceship were no longer ade­
quate to deal with the caseload. Major changes 
were necessary in the Court 's jurisdiction, 
changes which required a more politically ag­
gressive Chief Justice to become a reality. The 
Supreme Court was by 1921 once again ripe for 
renewal , this time with the man as Chief Justice 
who had appointed White, William Howard Taft. 
Edward Douglass White became Chief Justice 
with unusual advantages - extensive judicial 

\ 
experience, familiarity with the wo ·kings of the 
Supreme Court, good personal relations with the 
members of the Court, popularity and prestige 
outside the Court, and an unusually warm per­
sonality. Weaknesses as a manager, the infir­
mities of age, and too traditional a view of the 
role of a Chief Justice would greatly hamper his 
effectiveness . In order to comprehend White's 
work as Chief Justice, it will be necessary first to 
describe William Howard Taft's unusual impress 
upon the Court of this era, White 's colleagues, 
and the Court's jurisprudence. The story begins 
at the end of the Fuller era, the difficult 1909 term 
of the Court, which corresponded with Taft's 
early years in the White House. 

An Enfeebled Court 

In certain respects the 1909 term was the most 

dismal in the Court's history. Perhaps at no other 
time had the Court paid such a price for life 
tenure. Even before the term, President WilHam 
Howard Taft, a close and informed (if somewhat 
hyperbolic) observer, was moved to write: 

The condition of the Supreme Court is pitiable 
and yet those old fools hold on with a tenacity that 
is most discouraging. Really, the Chief Justice is 
almost senile; Harlan does no work; Brewer is so 
deaf that he cannot and has got beyond the point 
of the commonest accuracy in writing his opin­
ions; Brewer and Harlan sleep almost through all 
the arguments. I don't know what can be done. It 
is most discouraging to the active men on the 
bench . 

To be sure, there were "active men on the 
bench." The three Justices in their sixties -
Holmes (67), McKenna (65), and White (63)­
were vigorous and would continue to serve for an 
average of seventeen more years . Day at fifty­
nine would remain a vital force for over a dozen 
years. However, the youngest Justice , William 
Henry Moody, fifty-five, would leave the bench 
for a rest after May 7, 1909, never to return, 
afflicted by a deteriorating, disabling rheumatic 
condition. *** If Fuller (76) was not senile, and 

*1 acknowledge with great appreciation research 
assistance from Greg Hensel, presently a student at 
Harvard College, and Francis McElhill , a first year 
student at the Villanova University School of Law. 

** John Rutledge served briefly as Associate Ju stice 
(1790-91) and, even more briefly as Chief Justice 
(1795) until the Senate rejected his nomination. Asso­
ciate Justice William Cushing was confirmed as Chief 
Justice in 1796, but declined to serve. Charles Evans 
Hughes would return to the Supreme Court as Chief 
Justice (1930-41), fourteen years after he bad resigned 
his seat as Associate Justice. Harlan Fiske Stone was 
appointed Chief Justice (1941) after sixteen years 
service as Associate Justice. Abe Fortas' promotion in 
1968 failed of confirmation. 

***Congress responded on June 23, 1910 to Taft's 
request with a law enabling Moody to retire with those 
benefits which would have been available to him had 
he had ten years service or attained age seventy. 
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Harlan (75) had passionate dissents left, all four 

of the Justices in their seventies* had been 
greatly slowed. 

The Court struggled through that 1909 term . 
Peckham , Brewer and Fuller died prior to the 
first public session of the succeeding term . With 
Moody's retirement imminent (November 20, 
1910), Taft would make a precedent-shattering 
five** appointments in one year- between Jan­
uary 3 , 1910 and January 3,1911. Within eight­

een more months a sixth Taft appointee would 
take the oath of office. Not si nce Andrew Jack­
son had a President appointed a majority of the 
Justices. *** 

Presidenl Taft's Court 

Perhaps no one person has influenced the 

selection of members of the Supreme Court over 
such a sustained period of time as William How­
ard Taft. As judge and Solicitor General in the 
1890's, he aspired to the Court . As cabinet officer 
and imperial governor of the Philippines, he de­
clined appointment to the Court, advising Theo­
dore Roosevelt on his selections. After his Presi­
dency, he was among those conservatives closely 
scrutinizing Wilson's appointees and a leader of 

Edward Douglass White : Associate Justice, 1894-1910; Chief 
Justice , 1910-1921 . 

the opposition to Brandeis' appointment. With 

his ambition to be Chief Justice satisfied, he ad­
vised Harding, Coolidge and Hoover on the 
choice of judges and justices, even influencing 
the selection of his successor, Charles Evans 
Hughes. 

Surely, no President approached the task of 
judicial selection with as remarkable a blending 
of informed judgment, concern and envy for the 
position, as Taft did. Consulting widely, Taft did 
his own canvassing and weighing of candidates. 
As he said on the eve of the appointments of 
White, Van Oevanter and Lamar, "I am sure that 
I shall not suit everybody, but I shall at least suit 
myself."2 In that process , Taft not unlike Presi­
dents who carne before and after him , was sensi­
tive to political realities. **** He certainly 
wanted men on the Court who shared hi s views 
- men who were "sound," men of balance, men 

of moderation, but also men who could adapt the 
Constitution to changing political needs. Chief 
justice Taft , over a decade later, would hold far 

more conservative jurisprudential views than 
President Taft. The right political party did not 
much concern Taft. He appointed three southern 
democrats (Lurton, Lamar and White) . But , 
along with "sou ndness, " President Taft was 
deeply concerned with institutional factors. He 
looked for men with judicial experience and 

proven technical competence; men who were 
young and energetic. Hughes, Van Oevanter, 
Lamar and Pitney, were 48, 51, 53 and 54 years 
old respectively, Youth would tend to increase 

efficiency and to increase the likelihood of per­
petuating the President 's jurisprudential 
philosophy. Onhis last day as President , Taft told 
the press that "[a]bove all other things he was 

proudest of the fact that six of the nine members 
of the Supreme Court, including the Chief Jus­
tice bore hi s Commission." He continued with a 
chuckle, "And I have said t<;> them , ' Oamn you, 

* Brewer and Peckham were seventy-one . 
**By appointing White Chief Justice, Taft was 

able to appoi nt a new Associate Justice in his place. 

***Lincoln appointed five Justices of the Court 
which then had ten members. 

**** A rueful and wry Taft remarked of his selection 
of three Southerners to Josephus Daniels in 1921, 
"Yes, I am sure the Southern people like me. They 
would do anything except vote for me ." Daniel S. 
McHargue, "President Taft 's Appointments to the Su­
preme Court," 121. of Pol . 478 at 509 (1950). 
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if any of you die, I'll disown you. "'3 Ironically, 
only Van Devanter of his six appointees, would 
still be serving on the Court by the time Taft 
commemorated his second anniversary as Chief 
Justice-July 11 , 1923. 

Friendship and respect overcame the criteria 
of age and party when Taft made his first ap­
pointment in 1909 - the sixty-five year old Ten­
nessee Democrat, Horace Lurton. Lurton's 
twenty-six years of judicial experience included 
seven as Taft 's coJleague on the U. S. Court of 
Appeals for the Sixth Circuit. * 

Lurton was one of those Confederate soldiers 
who owed his life to Abraham Lincoln's mercy. 
He had been taken prisoner while riding with 
Morgan's irregular cavalry and became seriously 
ill with a lung ailment. Lurton's mother rode 
through "enemy" territory to intervene person­
ally and successfully with the President. 

The oldest Associate Justice ever appointed, 
chunky, gray-haired, Lurton, whose face was 
marked by "a thin unbroken line of grey-flecked 
eyebrows" and a "massive walrus mustache," 
would be a gentle, courteous and generous col­
league. During a tenure lasting less than five 
years, he joined with his colleagues" in sanction­
ing a modest increase in the police powers of the 
federal government. "5 He was "less inclined to 
read the silence of Congress as a bar to state 
regulatory action" and more stingy in determin­
ing the scope of the commerce power as an in­
road on the state's police power. 6 

Choosing the Court in 1910 over the then 
hypothetical possibility of the Republican Presi- , 
dential nomination, Charles Evans Hughes left it 
in 1916 when the possibility became a reality. In 
those few short years he had established himself 
as a productive and powerful figure. In five terms 
he wrote more opinions for the Court (115) and 
more dissents (32) than any of his colleagues, 
authoring such opinions as those in the Min­
nesota Rate Cases 7 and the Shreveport Rate 
Case. 8 His judicial sympathies for the claims of 
individuals in cases involving civil rights and 
civil liberties, major characteristics of his tenure 
as Chief Justice, were already evident. 9 Hughes 
brought to the Court energy, integrity, brains , 
good humor, and physical presence . 

On December 12, 1910, Taft submitted a 
"package" of appointments to the Congress . 
Edward Douglass White was named to succeed 
Chief Justice Fuller. Willis Van Devanter was 

named to fill White's spot as Associate Justice . 
Joseph Rucker Lamar was to succeed Moody. 

The protege of Wyoming Senator Francis E . 
Warren,10 Van Devanter had been active in 
Wyoming politics, serving briefly as Chief J us­
tice of the Territorial Court at the age of thirty; as 
Solicitor in the Interior Department; and by ap­
pointment of Theodore Roosevelt , Judge of the 
U . S. Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit 
(1903-11). Even on that Court, his relatively low 
rate of productivity troubled observers. Although 
concerned, Taft believed that the problem was 
due to Van Devanter's illness and that of his wife , 
and that the dilatory habit " could be corrected by 
close association with a court that sits all the time 
in the same city. " 1 1 Taft was mistaken . The prob­
lem worsened appreciably on the Supreme , 
Court, where the average number of total Van : 
Devanter opinions annually was the lowest -
14 .15 ~~f any Justice appointed between 1853 
and 1943 . ** Nonetheless , during his tenure of 
twenty-six years, some of what Van Devanter 
could not supply with his pen, he made up 
through other manifestations of intellect and per­
sonality. Colleagues, forced to write more opin­
ions because of Van Devanter's " writing block" 
would appreciate his ability to get along, his 
willingness to give his time and effort to them 
unstintingly, and his intellectual strength-dem­
onstrated by careful and elaborate statements in 
conference and by his knowledge of such diffi­
cult fields of law as public lands, water rights, 
admiralty and procedure. 12 Deeply committed 
to a jurisprudential philosophy emphasizing the 
protection of private property, Van Devanter 
would join James C. McReynolds, Pierce Butler 
and George Sutherland in a powerful conserva­
tive bloc which would plague Franklin Delano 

*Taft was Chief Judge of that Court (1892-1900). 
Lurton would serve from 1893 to 1909. William Rufus 
[later Justice] Day was their coJleague for a short time 
serving from 1899 to 1903 on that noted court. 

**Van Devanter wrote only four dissenting and one 
concurring opinion in twenty-six years. His average of 
13 .85 opinions for the Court can be compared with 
such contemporaries as Holmes (30.10), Pitney 
(24 .90), McReynolds (18.77) , Brandeis (25 .60) , Taft 
(31.88) , Butler (20 .31) , and Stone (24.00). Of course, 
the average number of opinions may conceal variations 
in the length and complexity of opinions, but there is 
little to suggest that Van Devanter did more than his 
share of the more difficult opinions. See Albert P. 
Blaustein and Roy M. Mersky, The First One Hundred 
iustices (Hamden , Ct.: Archon Books , 1978), pp. 
142-149. 
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In 1914, a contemporary journal, World's 
Work, described Joseph Rucker Lamar's "pink 
and white cheeks, his snowy hair, and his pleas­
ant, clear voice," terming him "one of the de­
lightful personalities of the Court. " 13 Not known 
for sentimentality, Oliver Wendell Holmes wrote 
after Lamar's death , "We all loved him. "14 A 
lawyer and legal historian whose judicial experi­
ence had been con fined to several years on the 
Georgia Supreme Court, Lamar WOUld, as a 
U. S. Supreme Court Justice, support moderate 
state and federal regulation of private economic 
activities, as well as an enlarged use of federal 
administrative powers. In other cases, he re­
sorted to traditional formulae such as "liberty of 
contract" and businesses "affected with a public 
interest. "15 

Taft's final appointment , Mahlon Pitney, took 
his seat on March 18, 1912, replacing Harlan, 
who had died six months before . Pitney had 
served as a member of the New Jersey Supreme 
Court (1901-08) and Chancellor of New Jersey 
(1908-12), where he had presided over both the 
law and equity branches of the appellate court. 
Six foot three and white-haired, the fifty-four 
year old Pitney served for little more than a dec­
ade. He would be found generally with the mid­
dle "bloc" (with Day and McKenna). Remem­
bered for opinions hostile to labor, such as Cop­
page v. Kansas, J6 Pitney fervently supported an­
titrust regulation, and was open to the exercise of 
state regulatory power. 17 A recent observer has 
written that his: 

meticulously researched OpInIOnS, although 
often repetitious and quite heavy in style, reveal a 
troubled man's attempt to deal with complex 
legal and social problems in what seemed to him 
a logical and consistent manner. J 8 

The Holdover Justices 

When William Howard Taft chose White to be 
Chief Justice in 1910, experience within the 
Court was an important criterion. Five Justices, 
appointed by four different Presidents, had over 
two years experience on the Supreme Court at 
the time of White's selection: John Marshal Har­
lan, Edward Douglass White, Joseph McKenna, 
Oliver Wendell Holmes and William Rufus 
Day. * 

Harlan was nearing the end of an extraordi­
nary thirty-three year career on the Supreme 

Court. Although he was denied fulfillment of his 
ambition to be Chief Justice, there would be time 
for two more mighty dissents to complete a 
(then) record total of 119. ** 

After Harlan's death, Joseph McKenna, ap­
pointed by President McKinley in 1898, became 
senior associate Justice. From 1911 to 1921 , for 
the only time in the history of the Supreme 
Court, the two senior positions were held by 
Roman Catholics. A "spare, rather stiff little 
man " wearing a "closely-cropped gray 
beard , "19 McKenna was a moderate figure on the 
Court during the years White was Chief Justice. 
Recent observers have differed in their assess­
ments of McKenna. He has been criticized for "a 
series of frequently conflicting opinions and 
votes " or "erratic empiricism. "20 But, he has 
been praised for his intellectual growth in office, 
his ability at times to cut through abstractions to 
reach the facts of the situation, his sensitivity for 
the underdog, and his eloquent expression of 
"the need to interpret the rights guaranteed the 
individual by the Constitution liberally and with 
sensitivity to present conditions . "21 

Next in line of seniority was Oliver Wendell 
Holmes, "a striking looking man , tall , thin, 
blond, with a long cavalry mustache. "22 Sixty­
nine years old in 1910, Holmes remained an intel­
lectually powerful force throughout a tenure that 
lasted into his ninety-first year. Perhaps only 
Cardozo and Frankfurter of the 102 Justices have 
approached Holmes in the richness of intelJec­
tual background or in the continuing zest for 
learning in order to deepen and broaden the 
channels for the great forces that lie behind every 
detail, and to "open as many windows" as 
possible on what ultimately determines court de­
cisions - "philosophy, sociology, economics 
and the like. "23 Skeptical of reform and reform­
ers, Holmes would nonetheless defer to Con­
gress and the state legislatures far more often 
than most of his colleagues. He was heard to re-

*Taft 's own appointees, Lurton and Hughes, had 
been on the Court a short time. 

**Standard Oil Co. v. Uniled Slates, 221 U. S. 1,82 
(1911); Uniled States v. American Tobacco Co., 221 
U. S . 106, 189 (1911). The day afterthe Standard Oil 
decision was announced, lustice McKenna asked Sec· 
retary of State Philander Knox, " What do you think of 
the Court now? " Knox replied , "Well , I should hate to 
use any such language about the Court as it said about 
itself yesterday." Charles Henry Butler, A Ce/Uury 01 

lhe Bar oflhe Supreme Courl oflhe UnitedSlales (New 
York: G. P. Putnam 's Sons, 1942), p. 169 . 
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The Whil e COUrI in 1911 : S~aled (left 10 right) are: Associate Juslices Oliver WelUkli Holmes, Jr. and John M. Harlan , Chief 
JllSlice Edward Douglass While, and Associare Juslices Joseph McKenna and William Rufus Day. Sianding (Left 10 right) are: 
Associale Juslices Willis Van Devanler, Horace H. Lurlon, Charles Evans Hughe.r ana Joseph R. Lamar. 

mark that there was nothing he enjoyed so much 
as enforcing a law of which he thoroughly disap­
proved. 24 For nearly three decades his col­
leagues would depend upon his extraordinary 
writing speed and admire his special zest for life. 
Holmes and his close friend, the very different 
Brandeis, would prove to be the strongest influ ­
ences upon the craft of later twentieth century 
judges . \ 

William Rufus Day was phy ically the 
smallest and lightest member of the White 
Court. When his burly son, William L. Day, was 
appearing as counsel before the Court one day, 
the irrepressible Holmes remarked, "He's a 
block off the old chip." With a partially greyed 
mustache drooping ever-so-slightly, Day resem­
bled a gentle, bookish, old-fashioned professor. 
Distrustful of the concentration of political 
power in the national government and of extreme 
concentrations of economic power in business 
combinations , he was a strong supporter of en­
forcement of the antitrust laws, but took a narrow 
view of federal power under the commerce 
clause. During the White years (as in the Fuller 
years) Day was generally to be found in the mid­
dle of the Court, a balance wheel whose tact and 

legal knowledge helped to prevent polariza­
tion. 25 

Edward Douglass* White 

Edward Douglass White" looked like a Chief 
Justice, " a phrase that over the years has been 
employed to describe Hughes, Stone, Warren 
and Burger. It is helpful for the Chief Justice to 
look the part of a living personification of "jus­
tice" -well-seasoned, sturdy, authoritative, but 
kindly. White was a massive man, less than six 
feet tall, but weighing 250 pounds, with a small 
face in the center of a great head. In his later 
years he had heavy jowls. Elbert F Baldwin 
wrote in Outlook that in "physical appearance no 

"Since White 's death , countless hours have been 
spent considering the question as to whether his mid­
dle name ended with one or two ' s ' . The formal invita­
tion to J959 ceremonies commemorating the pl acing 
of a statue of White in front of the building housing the 
Louisiana Supreme Court handled the matter in this 
manner: "The Edward Douglas White Commission 
cordially invites you to the rededication of the statue of 
Edward DougJrus White" [italics author]. See Dixie, 
December J7, 1961, and Jetter from Mrs. Lillian 
Selcer to Miss Helen Newman, December J I, J961 
(Supreme Court Library) . 
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man in public life better deserves the adjective 
'ponderous. "'26 Another observer reported that 
"his bulky presence broods over the whole court­
room. "27 Still another journal wrote that White 
was" large of physique and large of brain and 
heart. "28 

Born on a Louisiana sugar plantation, White 
was the son of a Governor of Louisiana. * Edu­
cated at Catholic schools and colleges, he left 
Georgetown College at fifteen to serve in the 
Conferederate army. Taken prisoner after the 
capture of Fort Hudson in 1863, ill and 
emaciated, White was paroled. He studied law in 
the office of Edward Bermudez, later Chief Jus­
tice of Louisiana, and at the School of Law of the 
University of Louisiana. Admitted to the bar in 
1868, he became a leading attorney in New Or­
leans. Entering politics, he was elected to the 
Louisiana Senate in 1874. Appointed to the State 
Supreme Court in 1879, serving for fifteen 
months until the court was reorganized under a 
new constitution, White penned eighty-three 
opinions. White himself later said that the work 
of that court during the period 1879-80 was prob­
ably the heaviest ever done by a court of last re­
sort of that size. To some Louisiana observers the 
court ranked as "among the best in their his­
tory." 29 

Elected to the United States Senate in 1890, 
White fought against government interference 
with business while advocating a continued high 
tariff on sugar and federal bounty payments to 
sugar growers. Generally supportive of Presi­
dent Grover Cleveland, his opposition to Cleve­
land's tariff policies was such that his nomination 
to the Supreme Court came as a surprise. History 
has not clarified Cleveland's motivation for the 
appointment. He may have been attempting to 
weaken the opposition on the tariff issue** or 
to have his appointee to the court be assured of 
confirmation, since his previous two nomina­
tions to the seat vacated by the death of Samuel 
Blatchford had been rejected . Cleveland may 
have appreciated White 's opposition to annexa­
tion of Hawaii and the relative lack of pressure 
from him on matters of patronage . There may 
even be some truth to the legend of the visit paid 
by both Cleveland and White to the home of 
Delaware 's Senator, James A. Bayard. Sup­
posedly, Cleveland overheard White inquire as to 
whether there was a Catholic Church in the 
neighborhood where he could attend early mass. 

It was at that time, according to the story, that 
Cleveland made up his mind that "there was a 
man who was going to do what he thought was 
right; and when a vacancy came, I put him on the 
Supreme Court. "30 Whatever may have influ­
enced Cleveland, it does not seem to have been 
public opinion, which reacted to White 'S ap­
pointment with disinterest. 31 

Associate Justice for sixteen years, White's 
jurisprudential philosophy permitted the states 
and federal government considerable latitude in 
economic regulation. He gained notice for his 
dissent in the Income Tax Case, 32 and was among 
the dissenters in Lochner v. New York . 33 From 
1901 to 1905 he brought the Court over to his 
view that the hlnited States Constitution applied 
to territories of the United States , if the Congress 
had chosen to incorporate them, or if the ter­
ritories had been incorporated by treaty.34 His 
view that the Sherman Anti-lIust Act did not 
apply to "reasonable" restraints of trade, first put 
in 1897 in a 10,000 word dissent,3:; appealed to 
Taft. White wouJd bring a majority over to this 
position soon after he became Chief Justice. 36 

Taft 's selection of White as Chief Justice was 
unexpected to many because White was a 
Roman Catholic, an attorney trained in the na­
tion's one civil law state, a Southerner and ex­
Confederate soldier, a Democrat, and an Asso­
ciate Justice. Closer scrutiny of each of these 
characteristics suggests how they might have ap­
pealed to Taft and shed light on White the man . 

Edward Douglass White was a religious 
Catholic. For his twenty-six years on the Court 
he regularly attended St. Matthew's Church. His 
formal institutional education had taken place in 
a series of sectarian institutions-beginning as a 
boy at the College of the Immaculate Concep­
tion, where he served Mass, took breakfast, and 
was exposed to the moral training of the Jesuits. 
White would later attend Mount St. Mary's Col­
lege in Emmitsburg, Maryland and Georgetown 
College. He would maintain his ties with the 
Jesuits of New Orleans and would serve as Pres­
ident of the Georgetown Alumni . White also 

*His mother, Catherine Ringgold, was the daugh­
ter of Tench Ringgold, Marshall of the District of Co­
lumbia, and owner of the home near the White House 
at which Chief lustices Marshall and Taney would 
board and in which Chief lustice FuUer would live. 
**If so, he did not succeed, because White remained in 
the Senate for three weeks after his unanimous confir­
mation, leading the opposition and winning the fight. 
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maintained close ties with the Catholic hierarchy. 
The politically influential James Cardinal Gib­
bons of Baltimore performed White's wedding 
ceremony in 1894; influential prelates and Catho­
lic laity wrote to Taft supporting his elevation as 
Chief Justice. 

The Supreme Court during White's years 
rarely dealt with "Catholic" issues. It has been 
argued that "the rule of reason .. . revealed a sen­
sible and humane understanding of law continu­
ous with the tradition of Catholic judges of 
Medieval Europe but not distinctively Catholic 
in the Twentieth Century. "37 Some saw in 
White's convoluted opinion writing style "a 
scholar trained in the precise methods of scholas­
tic philosophy. "38 White was no closer person­
ally or jurisprudentially to Joseph McKenna than 
to several of the non-Catholic Justices he served 
with. Most probably, as the distinguished Catho­
lic Professor of law at Boldt Hall, John T. 
Noonan, recently concluded, White's judicial 
career, like that of Pierce Butler, was little af­
fected by his Catholicism, but would serve as a 
role model for American Catholics: 

Each proved to protestants that they did not 
need to fear Catholics in high positions in the 
federal government. They disarmed and con­
fused bigots .... They showed to every Catholic 
boy . .. that he could aspire to great office in the 
jUdiciary. 39 

White's mastery of civil law hardly proved a 
barrier to his service as the chief judicial officer 
of a common law judiciary. Having studied 
under the master 'civilian,' Edward Bermudez, 
and fluent in French, Spanish, It a It an and Latin 
[also reading German], White wa viewed by 
some as "not merely a learned civilian but a ver­
itable jurisconsult. "40 During his years on the 
Supreme Court, White made few references to 
authorities in the civil law. 41 What was important 
was that as a Louisiana attorney, White had also 
mastered the common law. 

While White had seen active service in the 
Confederate Army, he found different lessons in 
that experience than did many of his cohorts. 
Perhaps there is truth to the legend that, after 
White's parole - seventeen years old, ill, and 
emaciated - he walked to his home clothed in a 
coat given to him by a concerned Yankee sol­
dier.42 He became a passionate nationalist in 
time . "My God!," he would later say. "My 
God, if we had succeeded. "43 As Justice of the 

Supreme Court, White stressed that the United 
States was a nation possessing all the powers 
necessary to its national existence. 44 In theSelec­
tive Draft Law Cases of 1918, he wrote of the 
"Supreme and Noble duty of contributing to the 
defense of the rights and honor of the nation. "45 
Speaking years later of the decision in Rasmus­
sen v. United States, 46 which had held that the 
guarantees of the Bill of Rights were in force in 
Alaska because it had been incorporated into the 
United States by the 1868 treaty with Russia, 
White said , "Why sir, if we had not decided as 
we did, this country would have been less than a 
nation. "47 

There are reasonable grounds for suspicion­
but not clear proof - that during Louisiana's 
complex Reconstruction politics, White be­
longed to an organization similar to the Ku Klux 
Klan . 48 This would not have proven to be a polit­
ical liahirity in 1910. As Chief Justice, White 
joined in such early pro-civil rights decisions as 
Bailey v. Alabama, 49 Buchanan v. Warley, 50 and 

authored the Court's opinion in the case holding 
the grandfather's clause unconstitutional. 51 

The Appointment of White as Chief Justice 

Melville Weston Fuller died on the Fourth of 
July, 1910. Considering his awareness of the 
Court's difficulties, Taft took what appears to be 
an extremely long time to fill the vacancy-five 
months. Undoubtedly, some of the delay was due 
to the fact that the President was putting together 
a "package" of judicial appointments. The new 
term began on October 10 with the seventy-seven 
year old Senior Associate Justice, John Marshall 
Harlan, presiding. There was widespread inter­
est and concern over the appointments, espe­
cially because major cases had been held over. 
The journal , World's Work commented: 

... the nation understands to-day, as it has not 
understood before, how completely the future 
lies in the hands of the Supreme Court. The busi­
ness of a Continent now waits. 52 

Sadness over Fuller's death shortly gave way 
to personal ambition and gossip about the future 
as it began to appear that Taft might select from 
within the Court. Less than a week after Fuller's 
death, Harlan made the case for appointment 
from within in a letter to Taft in which he ap­
peared to be strongly endorsing Justice Day: 

His experience as ajudge would enable him to 
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take up the work of the Court where the late Chief 
Justice left it, and go right ahead without any 
delay or any friction whatever. He would not be 
under the necessity of becoming trained in de­
tails, upon the 'handling' of which with ease and 
promptness so much depends. He is already fully 
informed as to the manner in which the business 
of the Court is transacted. 

Indeed I have always thought that an Associate 
Justice ought, as a general rule, succeed a Chief 
Justice, who had died or resigned, unless, in the 
judgment of the President, he was disqualified 
for the position by advanced years , or by ill 
health; provided, always, he was in character, 
soundness of judgment , sagacity, and legal at­
tainments equal to the place. 53 

If these words were applicable to Day's ' promo­

tion , ' so were they to that of others, possibly in­

cluding that of their author. Disingenuousness 

characterized the correspondence among the Jus­

tices during those months of waiting, while they 

were apart from each other on vacation. For 

example, as late as September 12, Harlan wrote 

Lurton stating that " the mention of my name in 

connection with the place has been without my 

knowledge or procurement."04 Lurton had re­

ceived such a letter from White, written as early 

as July 12: 

No aspiration on the subject has taken posses­
sion of me .. . . the very gravest doubts exist in my 
mind as to whether the new responsibility, if it 
were tendered, would be beneficial either to the 
country or to the Court. 5 5 

White wrote to Day on August 29 , saying that, 

"If only you or Lurton would take the place of 

Chief what a blessing it would be for the coun­

try. "56 Nonetheless , there is extrinsic evidence to 

suggest that Harlan hungered for the position and 
that friends of White were gathering support. 5 7 

It does not appear that McKenna sought or ex­

pected the job . Holmes told him that the two of 

them were the only ones of the sitting Justices 

"who didn't have booms going for us . "58 

McKenna was not , however, immune from 

speculating. On September 5 he wrote Day to 

say: 

I repeat your question, who will share them 
[work and responsibil ity] with us? Quien sabe? I 
have assumed Hughes for C. J . because specula­
tion sometime ago assigned it to him and there is 
no contrary prediction S 9 

Holmes admitted to Canon Patrick Augustus 

Sheehan, "Of course I should like the place," 

but "I never have thought of it as a possibility. " 

Holmes added, " place doesn't make a man 's 

work any better," and that his only ambition was 

"to do the best work that can be done. " 60 To Sir 

Frederic Pollack, Holmes argued that he: 

really didn't care much who is appointed if only 
he is a man who can dispose of the daily questions 
with promptitude and decision . Apart from that 
and the honor being figurehead , the Chief Justice 
like the rest of us must depend on his intellectual 
powerH I 

To this observer, Holmes appears to be protesting 

too much. But, whether or not he was deeply in­

terested in the position, Holmes' clear prefer­

ence among the other sitting judges was White­

"the ablest m a n likely to be thought of." Holmes 

believed that he "should be a better administrator 

than White, but he [White] would be more 
politic . "62 

. Taft considered Harlan too old . There is no 

indication that Taft considered Day, Lurton or 

Holmes seriously, or that they truly considered 

themselves serious candidates. On the other 

hand, speculation within* and outside the Court 

focused upon Hughes. Expectations would have 

been greater had the correspondence between 

Taft and Hughes which occurred on April 10, 
three weeks after Brewer's death (and a month 

after Taft had visited Hughes' in Albany) offer­

ing Hughes the vacant position, been leaked to 

the press. Those letters are crucial to an under­

standing of the President's position. In the body 

of his letter of April 22, Taft wrote: 

The Chief Justiceship is soon likely to be vacant 
and I should never regard the practice of never 
promoting Associate Justices as one to be fol­
lowed . Though, of course, this suggestion is only 
that by accepting the present position you do not 
bar yourself from the other, should it fall vacant 
in my term.63 

But Taft added a postscript: 

Don't misunderstand me as to the Chief Jus-

*McKenna, Day and Lurton all expected Hughes to 
be appointed. There is evidence to suggest Lurton pre­
ferred White. Alexander M. Bickel, "Mr. Taft Re­
habilitates the Court," 79 Yale L.l. 1,15(1969). There 
is no evidence to prove Felix Frankfurter's account in 
1954, probably based upon aconversation with Holmes 
twenty to forty years earlier-that all the Justices but 
Holmes and Hughes had drawn up a roundrobin letter 
to inform Taft of their opposition to so new a Judge as 
Hughes. Felix Frankfurter, Of Law alld Men (ed. 
Philip Elman) , (Hamden , Ct. : Archon, 1956), p. 121. 
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The White Court in 1916: Seated (left to right) are: Associate Justices William Rufus Day alld Joseph McKemUJ , Chief Justice 
Edward Douglass White, and Associate Justices Oliver Wendell Holmes, Jr. and Willis Vall Devanter. Standing (left 10 right) are: 
Associate Justices LOllis D . Brandeis, Mahlon Pillley, James C. McReynolds alld John H. Clarke . 

ticeship. I mean if that office were now open, J 
shou ld offer it to you and it is probable that i f it 
were to become vacant during my term , I should 
promote you to it; but, of course , conditions 
change so that it would not be right for me to say 
by way of promi se what I would do in the future . 
Nor, on the other hand , would I have you think 
that your decl ination now would prevent my of­
fering you the higher post, should nditions re ­
main as they are . 64 

Accepting the position, Hughes stated : 

Your expressions regarding the Chief J ustice­
ship are understo od and most warmly ap­
preciated . You properly reserve entire freedom 
with respect to thi s and I accept the offer you now 
make without wishing you to feel committed in 
the slightest degree . Should the vacancy occ ur 
during your term, I , in common with all our citi ­
zens would desi re you to act freely and without 
embarrassment in accordance with your best 
judgment attha! time .6 5 

Had Hughes turned down the Associate Justice­
ship , he probably would have been named Chief 
Justice. By accepting the position of Associate 
Justice , Hughes removed himself as rival to Taft 

for the 1912 Preside nti al nomination and made 
himself White's junior on the Court . 

These months fueled with gossip and ambition 
could not have made for easy relations among the 
Justices . During this period the six Justices had 
also to adapt to Moody 's formal retirement, Har­
lan's style of presiding over conferences, 
Hughes ' arrival, and to anticipate the effect of 
three new Justices on the decision-making proc­
ess. Years later Hughes would recall that al­
though he had hoped " to find himself in an at ­
mosphere of great serenity with men of marked 
powers," that there was something in the at­
mosphere that was not at all harmon ious . "66 

Hughes found White out of sorts, silent and re­
served as well as unwilling to take a position on 
cases in conference. The difficulty, Hughes dis­
covered, was the conflicting ambitions for the 
Chief Justiceship. According to Hughes, things 
changed totally after White was made Chief 
Justice .67 

Taft met with his cabinet for the entire day of 
December II. At one point Hughes was te le-

~ 
~ 
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phoned and asked to come to the White House. 
But, one-half hour later the appointment was 
cancelled. The next day, Taft sent to the Senate 
the nominations of Van Devanter and Lamar as 
Associate Justices , five nominations to the 
newly created Commerce Court, two nomina­
tions for the Interstate Commerce Commission, 
and the name of White to be Chief Justice. 

As best as can be discerned, Taft narrowed his 
choice to White and Hughes relatively early. Taft 
was in agreement with the basic thrust of Har­
lan's letter-that the Court should be guided by 
someone familiar with its traditions and its man­
ner of operation; someone who could help the 
newcomers, rather than someone who might add 
to the strain of absorbing so much new blood. 68 

This meant an insider and presumably White, 
Holmes or Day, since Harlan was too old, Lur­
ton and Hughes too new, * and McKenna not 
strong enough intellectually. Hughes would 
admit years later that White " thought he had nat­
ural claims to the position , as indeed he did!"69 
Taft saw the need for a hard-working Chief Jus­
tice , attentive to detail, who could cope with the 
constant flow of jurisdictional and procedural 
questions whose resolution by an able Chief Jus­
tice conserves time for his colleagues. As to 
these criteria, White, Holmes and Day were all 
possibilities. In retrospect, of course, we know 
that Hughes would have been superb at this, al­
though not necessarily from the outset. ~ 

Taft was also looking for a strong adminis­
trator who could take the lead in pressing for 
overdue reforms in the operation of the federal 
judiciary. In that regard, the forty-eight year old 
Hughe. , coming from his vigorous tenure as 
Governor of New Yor~, would have appeared to 
be a better choice than White, Holmes or Day. 

There were other considerations. While Taft 
knew and liked both men, Hughes had a reputa­
tion for austerity, while White was an especially 
lovable personality. Taft admired White's juris­
prudential views, especially his work in the/nsu­
lar cases and in the antitrust area . White the 
Democrat appeared to some Republicans to be 
more reliable on jurisprudential issues than 
Hughes of their own party. 70 

The politics of the situation probably assisted 
White. Hughes' appointment as Associate Jus­
tice in April had been extraordinarily well re-

*Hughes had never argued a case before the Su­
preme Court. 

ceived throughout the nation. There was prob­
ably little extra mileage to be gained by his 
further advancement. The giant figure of Theo­
dore Roosevelt, who liked White and disliked 
Hughes, needed to be placated. The appoint­
ment of White would be expected to appeal to 
Southern and to Roman Catholic voters. 

Thus, there were a number of factors that Taft 
weighed. His own ambitions were far from ir­
relevant, although they may have been over­
emphasized in some accounts of this appoint­
ment. Taft at fifty-three desperately wanted to be 
Chief Justice. White at sixty-five was seventeen 
years older than Hughes. In addition to age, the 
appointment of a Democrat of national standing 
might lead a later Democratic President to see 
that crossing party lines might prove good 
politics. As Taft signed White's commission, he 
commented: 

There is nothing 1 would have loved more than 
being chief justice of the United States ... 1 can­
not help seeing the irony in the fact that I, who 
desired that office so much, should now be sign­
ing the commission of another man. 1 J 

In retrospect, the vigorous Hughes, a brilliant 
administrator during his term as Chief Justice, 
might appear to have been the stronger figure as 
leader of both the Supreme Court and of the fed­
eraljudiciary. But, returning to 1910, it is far less 
clear that Hughes, the freshman jurist, admit­
tedly under considerable nervous strain and 
preoccupied with learning the ropes of his new 
job,72 would have been as effective as White, 
since he would have been promoted not only 
over White, but over Harlan, McKenna, 
Holmes, Day and even Lurton. The sixty-seven 
year old Hughes, who finally became Chief Jus­
tice in 1930, would two decades later bring to 
that office and to his brethren far greater national 
standing, as well as greater experience in gov­
ernment, and at the bar, along with greater per­
sonal peace. 

The national acclaim given White's appoint­
ment surprised even Taft. The influential legal 
journal, Green Bag , editorialized, "we confess 
to a wholly unpretended and ineradicable ad­
miration for the largeness of mind, heart, charac­
ter and learning of the new head of the American 
judiciary. "73 Elbert F. Baldwin wrote in The Out­
look of "a man whose name, as a synonym of 
intellectual integrity and impartiality, may rank 
with the first dozen names of members of the Su-
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preme COUr1 since its creation. " 74 Theodore 
Roosevelt stated: 

It seems to me that nothing could be a better 
augury of the future of the c?ountry than that a 
Republican President should appoint a former 
Confederate Chief Justice of the United States, 
and receive the unanimous applau se of his 
countrymen. ;c, 

There was satisfaction within the COUr1 as 
well. Holmes wrote that " it was the best thing 
that could be done." 76 Hughes took it weli. Only 
Harlan, who as temporary presiding officer an­
nounced the appointment and administered 
White the oath, then exchanging seats with him, 
appeared - at least to Holmes - "sad and 
aged. "77 

The Wilson Appointees 

Three of Taft's appointees lasted on the Court 
for only a few years . Horace LUr10n died of a 
hear1 attack on July 12,1914. One day before the 
fifth anniversary of his joining the COUr1 - on 
January 2, 19l6-Joseph Rucker Lamar, died of 
complications resulting from a stroke . Charles 
Evans Hughes resigned from the Court on June 
7 , 1916, three days after receiving a nomination 
he had not sought for the Presidency from the 
Republican Party. Thus, Woodrow Wilson made 
three Supreme Court appointments - James 
Clark McReynolds, Louis Dembitz Brandeis, 
and Joseph Hessin Clarke - appointments 
which disturbed the intellectual and personal 
harmony of the previous few years. 

Having made his reputation as a trust-buster in 
the Roosevelt and Taft admin fstrations , 
McReynolds was appointed Attorney General 
by Wilson. Soon wearying of an abrasive cur­
mudgeon, who alienated Cabinet members and 
Congressmen alike, Wilson seized upon the op­
portunity presented by Lur1on's death to elevate 
McReynolds to the High Court . In but a few 
years the fifty-two year old bachelor with pierc­
ing eyes and an eagle nose would join Van De­
vanter and an increasingly conservative White as 
the Court's conservative wing. A misogynist, 
anti-black, anti-semitic and anti-social, Mc­
Reynolds would torment counsel appearing be­
fore the court, help drive Clarke from the bench, 
and be a major source of disharmony for all of his 
twenty-six years service. Even the affable Taft 
found working with McReynolds difficult . 

Harold Laski suggested that "McReynolds and 
the theory of a beneficent deity are quite incom ­
patible . "78 

Louis Dembitz Brandeis brought to the High 
Court that which his enemies had feared -com­
passion for the underprivileged and mastery of 
sociological jurisprudence, perfecting the 
"means for sustaining the case for legislative ac­
tion by a convincing demonstration of the social 
situation which induced it." H His knowledge of 
business and the economics of labor, publ ic 
utilities and railroads proved impor1ant resources 
for his colleagues. With Holmes he produced the 
underpinnings of modern First and Fourth 
Amendment jurisprudence . 80 A master judicial 
craftsman, Brandeis helped to define the modern 
meaning of judicial self-restraint . On the one 
hand, his arrival (and that of Clarke) produced 
cleavage within the COUr1, as Holmes joined 
them in a- bloc opposing that of McReynolds , 
Van Devanter and White . Still, this passionate 
man surprised by turning out to be a " team 
player," who worked easily with men like Taft 
and Van Devanter, forgot differences, and sup­
pressed his own dissenting opinions. 81 

John Hessin Clarke's progressive sympathies 
were manifested in a more reflexive and less 
craftsmanlike jurisprudence than that of Bran­
deis . Anticipating the judicial career of Frank 
Murphy a generation later, Clarke would give 
less weight to precedent, custom or logic than 
either Holmes or Brandeis, and prove far more 
willing to appeal to natural law to sustain his 
sympathies for the underprivileged-especially 
the laboring man, blacks, Indians and children. 

Appointed to the Supreme Court at the age of 
fifty-nine, Clarke had made his reputation 
through his involvement with reform politics in 
Ohio, as owner of the Youngstown Vtndicator, a 
Progressive newspaper, and as a corporate 
lawyer. Appointed a District Judge, largely be­
cause of the efforts of Attorney General Mc-' 
Reynolds, Clarke , as a Justice would become a 
prize victim of McReynold's sarcasm and ill­
humor, possibly because of resentment that a 
ptotege would not follow his lead. 

As Associate Justice, Clarke voted to sustain 
broad federal powers under the commerce 
clause, anti-trust prosecutions, and construed the 
Fourth and Fifth Amendments liberally. His 
views on the First Amendment, however, were 
far more traditional than those of Holmes and 
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Brandeis. 82 Clarke was never entirely happy on 
the Supreme Court, reacting critically to many of 
its procedures, not adjusting easily to its ways, 
and resigning at age sixty-five , after serving less 
than six years. He lived on another twenty-two 
years.83 

White Court Jurisprudence 

During the first five years White was Chief 
Justice a largely unified court read the rule of rea­
son into the Sherman Act, demonstrated sym­
pathy for moderate exertions of the federal police 
and taxing powers, and broadly construed pow­
ers under the Commerce Clause . White's 
greatest triumphs came early in his tenure. In the 
much anticipated cases involving anti-trust pros­
ecutions of Standard Oil and American Tobacco, 
the Chief Justice marshalled eight votes for his 
approach. With White writing the opinions, the 
Court ordered the dissolution of both 
monopolies, but stated in dicta that the Sherman 
Act only applied to "unreasonable" restraints of 
trade. 84 Although White stated that the doctrine 
was consistent with previous decisions , it had 
appeared first in a dissent of his in 1896. White 
carried the three new Justices with him and all of 
his senior colleagues other than Harlan. Over 
sixty years later these opinions remain contro­
versial, although the prevailing view would 
seem to be that they did not in the ~ong run 
hamper anti-trust enforcement, and may have 
prevented the destruction of efficient corpo­
rations, the existence of which might benefit the 
consumer. 

In other significant decisions during the first 
few White years, the Court, in opinions by Jus­
tice Lamar, sustained legislative delegation of 
administrative functions to the Executive,85 and 
sanctioned a material enlargement of executive 
power. 86 In opinions by Justice McKenna, the 
Court sustained the Pure Food and Drug Act 87 

and the Mann Act. 88 In opinions by Justice 
Hughes, the Court held that Congress had the 
authority to regulate even intrastate railroad 
traffic , so that intrastate trade would not be de­
stroyed by the rivalries of local governments . 89 
The Supreme Court also upheld state laws limit­
ing the hours of work for women, 90 but struck 
down the law of Kansas which had outlawed 
"yellow-dog" contracts. 91 

With the European War in the background, the 

Court sustained broad exertion of national pow­
ers. Dividing five to four, the Court upheld a fed­
eral law limiting to eight hours the amount of 
time railroad employees could work, with the 
Chief Justice writing the opinion n In another 
White opinion, a unanimous court upheld the 
World War I Conscription Act as incident to 
sovereignty and the war power.93 Holmes' opin­
ion in the" Migratory Bird" case was the occa­
sion for another powerful statement of national 
supremacy.94 The Court also upheld wartime 
prohibition and the seizure and operation of rail­
roads in wartime. 95 But it broke with the broad 
construction of national powers to hold in an 
opinion by Ju tice Day (with Holmes, Brandeis , 
Clarke and McKenna dissenting) that Congress 
did not have the power to regulate child labor.96 

During the White years the Supreme Court 
demonstrated some sympathy for the claims of 
blacks . The "grandfather clause," which was 
used to discriminate against the exercise of the 
franchise by black Americans, was held uncon­
stitutional; so was a municipal ordinance foster­
ing residential segregation. 97 The Court began 
to deal with First Amendment problems regu­
larly for the first time in its history. It sustained a 
conviction under Espionage Act of 1917 for dis­
tribution of a pamphlet allegedly containing false 
statements; 98 gave full scope to the doctrine of 
criminal conspiracy; 99 upheld suppression of 
pro-German sentiments; 1 00 and, sustained the 
conviction of Eugene V. Debs for obstructing 
recruiting. IOI Under the influence of Brandeis, 
Learned Hand and Zechariah Chafee, Holmes, 
in a relatively few months, moved away from 
employment of the clear and present danger as a 
negative or restraining device , to interpreting it 
as a libertarian rule . 1 02 He could not carry the 
Court with him. 

White as Chief Justice 

Edward Douglass White was not one of the 
more successful Chief Justices . By criteria 
which could be used to judge the efficacy of a 
Chief Justice-marked personal influence upon 
the jurisprudence of his own or later eras; secur­
ing by management of the Court 's business an 
environment considerably easing burdens upon 
colleagues; assisting the decision-making proc­
ess by taking an active role in influencing the 
Congress to pass legislation either altering the 
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Court's jurisdiction or improving its working 
conditions; employing the visibility and leverage 
of the office to influence Congress to make the 
changes necessary for efficient operation of the 
federal court system- White 's contributions do 
not compare with those of his immediate prede­
cessors, Waite and Fuller, or with his immediate 
successors , Taft and Hughes. 

If White was not as successful as chairman of 
the committee of nine as Waite or Fuller, he 
maintained warm relations with his colleagues, 
the. Court's officers and its bar. Within the Court 
this was a period of civility and relatively high 
productivity. If White's jurisprudential contribu­
tion does not loom as large today as that of Mar­
shall, Hughes or Warren, that is due more to the 
type of cases decided in that era than to his grand­
iloquent style of writing. Not ready to take the 
lead in seeking reform in the structure of the fed­
eral court system, White concentrated his energy 
upon deciding cases and managing the Court's 
business, keeping himself, his office, and the 
Court free of controversy. White would not need 
to lead a heroic battle against efforts to cripple 
the courts, in part because he led his Court pru­
dently, defusing progressive hostility to the fed­
eral courts. 

The failure of White as Chief Justice was that 
he did not fully capitalize upon his many sources 
of influence. At the time of his appointment, his 
prestige as ajudge was unrivalled . He was famil­
iar with the methods of operation , customs and 
traditions of the Supreme Court. He had main­
tained close relations with the holdover Justices, 
who - with the exception of Har lan - were 
pleased by his appointment. He wo tid have the 
opportunity to "break in" four new Justices, ap­
pointed by the same President who appointed 
him. He was on very friendly terms with some of 
the most powerful figures in the nation, includ­
ing Taft, Theodore Roosevelt, and Woodrow 
Wilson . 

To be sure, the potential of the Chief Justice to 
influence eight independent-minded colleagues 
has been exaggerated, although such expecta­
tions have persisted since Marshall's death. The 
Green Bag, for example, thought White's ap­
pointment gratifying to those who believe "that 
the Chief Justice should not merely direct its 
business but should dominate its opinions and 
mould its policy. "103 A Chief Justice can not 
dominate, but an able intellect and good leader of 

men should be able to draw upon the prestige of 
his office and the deference accorded him by 
some of the customs of the Court to wield sig­
nificant , if intermittent influence. 

Early in White's tenure, he produced over­
whelming majorities in the important "rule of 
reason" cases. Coming to office stating that he 
was" going to stop the dissenting business ," 104 

White was successful in limiting dissenting opin­
ions in his first three full terms to a totaJ of 
twenty-four (compared with an average of 16.1 
for the last ten terms of the Fuller era) . To be 
sure, the death of Harlan and the large number of 
appointments mady by Presidents of an appar­
ently similar ideological persuasion were fac­
tors, in addition to White 's leadership. But in 
those first few years, the institution was not only 
in basic jurisprudential accord, but also was col­
legial and serene, presided over by its warm­
hearted Chief Justice . 

Even the arrival of the unpleasant Mc­
Reynolds did not disturb the atmosphere in the 
early years of White's tenure. But the addition of 
Brandeis and Clarke brought to the bench men 
whose approach to judging differed sharply from 
that of all of their colleagues other than Holmes. 
Due to the First World War and Prohibition , new 
and complex issues arose, dividing the Court. 
Distinct blocs emerged: Holmes, Brandeis and 
Clarke on one side; McReynolds, Van Devanter, 
and White on the other; McKenna, Day and Pit­
ney in the center. 

No doubt the difficulties within the Court dur­
ing the latter part of White's tenure were com­
pounded by his aging. Rumors of his retirement 
began to circulate as early as 1916, when he was 
in his seventy-first year. In those last years, 
White's hearing was bad, and, due to cataracts, 
his eyesight deteriorated so much that he had 
great difficulty recognizing those at the counsel 
table . Along with these real ailments, White may 
have been a hypochondriac about his heart. 1 0 5 

Although the Chief Justice never complained 
and continued to work conscientiously, his infir­
mities did add to the burdens of his colleagues . 
Some sense of how difficult the last years may 
have been can be seen by comparison with life at 
the Court during the early years of his successor, 
William Howard Taft , whose: 

.. . most notable cOnlribution to the court was a 
fresh vigor lacking during the last years of 
White's tenure when the old Chief Justice suf-
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fered from deafness and other infirmities. Taft's 
executive ability, ready laugh, and good humor 
helped to brighten and speed the Saturday after­
noon conference at which the Justices orally 
stated their decisions on the cases argued during 
the week . lo6 

While White's health undoubtedly hampered his 
capacity to lead, the problem was deeper and 
emerged earlier. This man, so well-liked, indeed 
loved , by his colleagues, was just not an effec­
tive manager of men. 

That White was lovable does not seem open to 
doubt. There are just too many accounts of his 
modesty, courtesy, patience and sweetness. 
White seems to have had the emotional openness 
and uncalculating warmth of a child. Indeed, that 

metaphor was used by Attorney Generals Harry 
M . Daugherty and George W. Wickersham in 
their memorial tributes to White. l07 Childless 

himself, White 's love for children was pro­
nounced . He carried candy in his pocket to com­
fort children in distress. He "was often seen es­
corting children across a street through crowded 
traffic." lOB At least once the enormous Chief 

Justice was seen playing drop-the-handkerchief 
with some young girls. 109 

William Howard Taft would on White's death 
speak of his "unfailing courtesy and sweetness 
of manner which endeared him to all with whom 
he was associated."llo There are stories of 

White helping pages carry heavy bundles around 
the Capital II I and surrendering his pl:ace in a 

street car to a black woman carrying a large mar­
ket basket. 112 Indeed, the only instance of 
White 's not adhering to the canons of propriety 
seem to be his tradition of inviting attorneys from 
New Orleans home to dinner, even when they 
were arguing cases before the Court. I 13 

It is also clear that this very lovable, very 
human man cared deeply for his colleagues and 
was cared for in return . It is reported that often on 
his daily walks he would stop at the homes of his 
brethren to leave cigars for the justices and roses 
for their wives . Justice Lamar's wife, Clarinda 
Pendleton Lamar, recalled that: 

Nothing could have been kinder than the elder­
brotherly attitude of the Chief Justice. He was 
interested in every detail that concerned the wel­
fare or the happiness of each member of the 
Court. Was it the renting of a house, the engaging 
of a servant, or one of the more puzzling ques­
tions concerning the ethics of the position, he was 
both competent and willing to advise. II. 

Brandeis related that when he came to the Court 
after a bitter fight over his confirmation, he 
sought White's advice as to whether he should 
accede to President Wilson's request that he head 
a mission to Mexico. White insisted that Bran­
deis should look on him not as a Chief Justice but 
as a father. From then on internal memoranda 
from Brandeis to White were addressed "Father 
Chief Justice." In return, White would write to 
Brandeis calling him "Grandfather Justice 
Brandeis." I 15 

Years later, Hughes, once White's rival for the 
office, told Felix Frankfurter: 

White was a very dear man-one of the dearest [ 
have ever known. He was very warm-hearted and 
most solicitous that the brethren should be as 
happy as possible.11 6 

Hughes had two pictures of judges on the walls 
of his home-one of an English judge; the other 
ofWhite. 117 

Lovable and approachable , White still was 
unable to capitalize on the personal good will he 
generated to promote more efficient manage­
ment of the Court's conference . Not only was he 
unable to maximize his influence, it appears that 
his handling of conference was so inadequate as 
to detract from the Court's work product. * While 
devoted to White personally, Hughes con­
sciously employed his experiences under White 
as the model not to emulate in managing the 
Court's business. He thought White underpre­
pared for discussion in difficult cases. Hughes 
recounts that White did not guide discussion. He 
might open discussion' about a case with an ex­
tended speech , or throw up his hands and say, 
"Here is a baffling case. I don ' t know what to do 
with it. God help us!" liB Hughes concluded: 

Whatever little success I may have achieved 
when I became Chief Justice, I think it was 
largely due to the lessons I learned in watching 
White during the years when I was an Associate 
Justice and seeing how it ought not to be done. 
... And so if I had any virtues as Chief Justice 
they were due to my determination to avoid 
White's faults . 119 

" The reader should be aware that information about 
the Supreme Court during White years is limited. The 
analysis of this section is based upon remarks made by 
Charles Evans Hu ghes thirty years later, the published 
correspondence of Oliver Wendell Holmes, and upon 
the apparent delight with which Taft was received by 
his colleagues during his first few years. 
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Thus, even while personal relations were 
good during these years - tensions between 
Holmes and Harlan, Holmes and Clarke, and 
Clarke and McReynolds being the exceptions­
the work of the Court does not seem to have 
flowed as easily as it had during much of the Ful­
ler years, even though statistics show that prod­
uctivity was relatively high. After Taft replaced 
White, Brandeis reported: 

The judges go home less tired emotionally and 
less weary physically than in White 's day . . .. 
When we differ we agree to differ without any 
ill-feeling; It 's all very friendly. 1 2 0 

It appears that too often White pennitted ram­
bling debate, generating unnecessary con ­
troversy, and irritating the more efficient Jus­
tices. 

Some of this must have led to Holmes' pro-
nounced change of opinion of White . At the out­
set of White 's tenure, Holmes wrote of the ap­
pointment that" it was the best thing that could 
be done." 121 But Holmes view of White became 

increasingly critical. Twenty years later he wrote 
to Laski, "If Hughes could have been appointed 
then as was expected I think the history of the 

Court 's doings would have been better than it 
is." 122 Whatever other factors affected relations 
between the two men, some of Holmes' feelings 
must have been the result of frustration with the 
conference, expressed, for example, in Holmes' 
comment to Laski soon after Taft became Chief 
Justice that he thought that 

the executive details . . . will be turned off with 
less feel of friction and more rapidly ... than with 
his predecessor. I 23 

White was unwilling to take the lead in asking 
Congress to modify significantly the Court's 
working environment in either of two major re­
spects - the creation of a largely discretionary 
jurisdiction and the authorization of funds for 
construction of a building to house the Court. 
During White's tenure the benefits of the Evarts 
Act of 189 I began to wear off. Once again the 
number of cases demanding resolution was be­
coming too great for the capacity of the Court. 
Under White the Court dealt with the overload in 
several ways. Some cases of minor significance 
were disposed of without argument. When White 
became Chief Justice, he instituted a rule under 
which certain cases were placed on a summary 
docket and permitted just thirty minutes per side 

of oral argument. Generally, the time permitted 
for oral argument declined . Some cases were 
dismissed with costs, discouraging some writs of 
error and appeal. 124 Many cases were decided 
per curium to conserve time during argument. 
White would state at the beginning which ques­
tions he wished answered; attempted to avoid in­
terrupting counsel; permitted counsel to respond 

to a question at any time if interrupted; and at­
tempted to encourage his colleagues to follow 
suit. 125 

The Supreme Court avoided the merits of 
many cases by deciding them on jurisdictional or 
procedural grounds. 126 If White would not move 
dramatically to overhaul internal operatin o pro­
cedures, he would become a master at finding 
reasons why the Court should avoid dealing with 
substantive law. Kenneth Bernard Umbreit 
writes of White that: 

He corrfined himsel f to refusing to hear any cases 
which were not clearly within the Court's juris­
diction-to dispensing of those cases which were 
within that juri sdiction as expeditiously as 
possible. 12 7 

White wrote the opinions in most of these cases 
because of his expertise and because: 

Procedure has always been the peculiar province 
of the Chief Justice. Due to his position as the 
presiding officer he is called upon frequently to 
rule on procedural points which never reach the 
stage of being deliberated upon by the whole 
court. .. . These problems of procedure and of 
jurisdiction are not trifling . 128 

But while the new Chief Justice in 1910 would 
push successfully to speed the work up , 129 over 

the long haul White's reverence for tradition­
like Fuller's and his colleagues - limited the 
scope of reforms . Briefs and records remained 
prolix. 130 Full days were consumed reading 
opinions in open court . Thus, when all was said 

and done, the most important method of dispos­
ing of cases was (and always has been) hard 
work . John Hessin Clarke , critical of many of 
the Court's internal procedures, would admit 
that he: 

never saw a group of lawyers anywhere who 
work with the intensity of application that the 
judges of the Supreme Court of the United States 
work. 131 

But sometimes hard work is not enough . 
The quickening pace of the twentieth century 

and the role the Court was perfonning in national . 
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life required a major change in the Court's juris­
diction. White was not a major force influencing 
passage of the four pieces of legislation that be­
came law during this period which altered the 
Court's jurisdiction. None of these changes 
made a sizable impression in reducing the num­
ber of cases on the Court 's docket: (I) the aboli­
tion of the Circuit Courts; 132 (2) an increase in 
the Court 's jurisdiction by permitting it to take 
cases via the route of certiorari when a state had 
upheld a federal right by striking down a state 
law; 133 (3) the creation of certiorari jurisdiction 
for bankruptcy cases; 134 (4) the extension of cer­

tiorari to limit I itigation from state, federal and 
territorial courts. 135 It would take the commit­
ment of time and the prestige of the office by 
Chief Justice Taft to secure passage in 1925 of the 
Judges' Bill, which established the Court's con­
tem porary certiorari j urisd iction. 

The working conditions of the Court were not 
adequate either. The Justices did not have offices 
in the Capitol. What the Court did have in the 
Capitol Building was a courtroom and twelve 
other rooms-mostly small and arranged incon­
veniently - for their library, clerk's office and 
other needs. The problem of storage was crit­
ical. 136 The Justices and their secretaries* 

worked at home, where attorneys seeking writs 
had to call upon them. President Taft was eager 
to press for construction of a new building, but 
White, like Fuller before him, oppose'd such a 
move . There is nothing, however, to suggest 
support for such a move from the other justices. 
The new building would be secured as another 
result of the efforts of Chief Justice Taft . 

Nor did White take the lead in dealing with the 
problems of the lower federal courts, awash in 
litigation arising from World War I, the post-war 
red scare, and prohibition . Among the most seri­
ous problems which could have yielded to a sim­
ple solution were the limited and cumbersome 
procedures for assigning judges from under­
utilized districts to those whose dockets were 
swolJen. While there was extraordinary interest 
in and momentum for judicial reform during the 
second decade of the twentieth century, White 
did not seize upon it to secure a comprehensive 
plan to cure the gross inequalities between the 
districts. He preferred the status quo to the risks 
of change. 137 

* [he term used for law clerks. 

Conclusions 

As Chief Justice, Edward Douglass White 
was unable to capitalize on his popularity within 
and outside the Court to maximize the working 
environment of his colleagues or to reform the 
structure of the federal courts . Limited manage­
rial abil ities, too much deference to tradition , 
and ill -health hampered his leadership. White's 
reputation during his lifetime and at his death 
was far, far higher than it is today. While he did 

not deserve the eulogistic panegyrics occasion­
ed by his death, his judicial career and his work 
as Chief Justice do not deserve their current 
obscurity. 

White was , in effect, the last of the nineteenth 
century Chief Justices, who viewed their role 
largely in terms of deciding cases, smoothing the 
rufAed feathers of colleagues and officers of the 
Court, and preserving the honor of the office. 
William Howard Taft would be the first Chief 
Justice to commit the prestige of his office and a 
large amount of time to attempting to gain the 
attention of the other branches of the federal 
government, so that they would consider the 
problems and needs of the Supreme Court and 
the lower federal courts. White would also be the 
last Chief Justice to carry the heavy burden 
throughout his tenure of having to write jurisdic­
tional and procedural opinions. The certiorari 
jurisdiction created in 1925 would largely free 
the Chief Justice from his very large share of this 
work . 

Still, White's accomplishments are not negli­
gible. Among twentieth century Chief Justices, 
his jurisprudential contributions stand near the 
top. He guided his Court through some of its 
most tranquil. years, internally and externally, of 
this century, and left it with his personal popu­
larity intact, and the esteem in which the Court 

was held greater than when he had taken office . 
One might speak of White in the terms in 

which he memorialized Fuller. Then, he had 
spoken of his predecessor 's untiring attention to 
judicial duty, kindness, gentleness associated 
with courage, and faith in the wisdom of those 
who fathered our institutions . 138. It is appropri­

ate to leave the summing-up to William Howard 
Taft, his friend, the man who appointed and suc­
ceeded him, the man whose appointments set the 
tone for the Court during these years: 

He regarded his office as a sacred [rust - as a 
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Holy Grail - which awakened an intense scru­
tiny of his own conduct and that of every member 
of the Court. 139 

For Further Reading 

Only Fred Vinson rivals Edward Douglass 

White as the Chief Justice whose career is least 

chronicled. Robert B . Highsaw 's Edward Doug­
lass White, Defender of the Conservative Faith 
(Baton Rouge, La. : Louisiana State University 

Press, 1981) , published last year, is actually a 

slightly revised version of a doctoral dissertation 

written more than thirty-five years ago. Sister 

Carolyn Klinkhamer's published dissertation, 

Edward Douglass White, Chief Justice (Washing­

ton, D.C. : Catholic University, 1943), essen­

tially contemporary to Highsaw's book, is more 

interesting on the jurisprudence, less so as a 

biography. 

Three of the twelve Associ ate Justices who 

served when White was Chief Justice have been 

especially wel.l-served by biographers. See 

Merlo Pusey's two-volume, Charles Evans 
Hughes (New York: Columbia University Press, 

1963), and Alpheus T. Mason, Brandeis, A Free 
Man's Life (New York: Viking Press, 1946) . The 

enormous Holmes literature is catalogued in 

Harry C. Shriver, "What Justice Holmes Wrote; 

and What Has Been Written About Him" 
(Potomac, Md: Fox Hills Press, 1978). For the 

period under consideration in this article, the 

reader will find occasional nuggets in Holmes' 

published correspondence with Lewis Einstein, 

Sir Frederic Pollock, Harold Laski, and Canon 

Patrick Augustine Sheehan. John Hessin 

Clarke, William R . Day and Joseph McKenna 

are reasonably well-served by the biographies 

written by Hoyt Landon Warner, Joseph E. Mc­

Lean and Brother Matthew McDevitt. The best 

single source for the remaining Justices is (eds.) 

Leon Friedman and Fred L. Israel, The Justices 
of the United States Supreme Court, Their Lives 
and Major Opinions (New York : R . R. Bowker, 

1969) . See especially Leonard Dinnerstein's fine 

portrait of Joseph Rucker Lamar in volume III . 

A rapid but helpful overview of White Court 

jurisprudence can be found in Alfred H . Kelly 

and Winfred A. Harbison The American Con­
stitution, Its Origin and Development (New York : 

W. W. Norton & Co., 4th ed. 1970). The best 

lengthy treatment is by John E. Semonche, 
Charting the Future, The Supreme Court Re­
sponds to a Changing Society 1890-1920 
(Westport, Ct. : Greenwood Press, 1978). 
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Justice Harlan and the 
Equal Protection Clause 

Sally Jo Vasicko 

Introduction 

Under the United States Constitution, states 
are prohibited by the Fourteenth Amendment 
from denying any citizen equal protection of the 
laws. A troublesome aspect of this clause has 
been its definition and implementation in specific 
circumstances. While the Supreme Court has 
ruled that states may devise legislative schemes 
for purposes of classifying citizens as to eligibil­
ity for certain government services and/or be­
nefits, e.g., drivers license, welfare payments, 
unemployment compensation, etc., it initially 
decreed that these classification schemes must 
have a "rational relationship" to the objective 
sought. Under the "rational" relationship or 
"reasonableness" doctrine, the Court assumed a 
limited role in evaluating state legislative 
schemes, e. g., Railway Express Agency v. New 
York. I 

Later, during the Warren Court era, 1953-
1969, the "compelling" state interest test was 
added as a means of judging state action. This 
test included concern about the effeo.ts of the 
classification as well as its purpose. Legislative 
activity must be sanctioned by a "compelling" 
state interest in that field. This approach, dubbed 
the "newer" equal protection by one court 
watcher 2 assured greater involvement by the 
Court in areas of substantive policy, e. g., wel­
fare benefits . In Shapiro v. Thompson,3 the 
Court determined that specified residency stipu­
lations regarding the receipt of welfare benefits 
were unconstitutional. A stricter test than the 
rational test had to be applied, "Since the 
classification here touches on the fundamental 
right of interstate movement, its constitutionality 
must be judged by the stricter standard of 
whether it promotes a compelling state interest. 
Under this standard, the waiting period require­
ment clearly violates the Equal Protection 
Clause. " 

The justices who were part of the Warren 
Court continually faced and resolved issues sur­
rounding constitutionally-allowable state legis-

John Marshall Harlan on the morning of his Senale con firma­
lion hearing. February 24. 1955 . 

lative classification schemes. It was during this 
period that states were told by the High Court 
that certain classification schemes were "sus­
pect" and deserved " a close judicial scrutiny." 
This standard of measurement determined 
whether an evil or invidious purpose motivated 
the state's action. State legislative classifications 
based upon race and wealth affecting a funda­
mental right were deemed "suspect. " As a re­
sult, citizen rights were redefined and extended 
through an expanded interpretation of the mean­
ing of equal protection of the laws. 

But what constituted a fundamental right? Was 
such a right spelled out explicitly in the Constitu­
tion? Or, was such a right one which could be 
inferred within the parameters of Constitutional 
wording? The Court solved this dilemma by 
"describing" not "discovering" certain rights as 
fundamental. The right to vote was determined 
to be a fundamental right: therefore, a poll tax 
could not be assessed in state elections. The right 
to marry was deemed a fundamental right: there­
fore, interracial unions could not be prohibited. 4 

This expansion of rights took place through the 

~ 

~ 
~ 
C> 
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application of the equal protection clause to 
specific circumstances before the Court. 

But during the period, the Court did not speak 
with a single voice regarding these crucial issues. 
Strong voices of dissent rang out protesting the 
action taken by the Court. One of the most ar­
ticulate dissenters was John Marshall Harlan, an 
Associate Justice from 1955-1971. His opinions 
expressed concern over judicial abuse of the 
equal protection clause. According to Harlan, 
expansion of civil rights by the judiciary through 
the equal protection clause violated constitu­
tional guidelines in two respects: first , the Court 
was exceeding its authority under the Constitu­
tion; second, the delicate balance between state 
and federal jurisdiction would be upset by such 
judicial maneuvers . 

It must be made clear at the outset that Harlan 
was not against minority groups achieving full 
legal or political parity. Nor was Harlan willing 
to give states a complete free hand in areas in­
volving fundamental rights .5 But Harlan es­
poused a consistent bel ief in defining substantive 
rights within constitutional guidelines . These 
guidelines were found within the due process of 
law clause, separation of powers doctrine, or 
judicial restraint, not in applying a broad sweep 
of the equal protection of the laws clause . But if 
this catch-aJl clause was to be invoked, then the 
reasonableness or rational test should be em­

ployed. 
Throughout Harlan 's tenure on the high 

bench, the reasonableness or rational test was his 
reference point when evaluating state legislative 
classification schemes. Harlan always asked if 
the statute had a reasonable purpose 1>ehind it. In 
other words, what were the motivating factors 
behind the legislative classification scheme? Did 
the state possess a legitimate interest in the sub­
ject matter? Inherent in this approach was a con­
cern about the power relationship between the 
national and state governments. That is, how 
were these power relationships to be defined and 
what was the proper judicial role within that 
definition . Harlan was concerned that the equal 
protection clause would be abused and that the 
Court would become, in the words of Learned 
Hand , "platonic guardians," supplanting its will 
for that of the state legislatures. He consistently 
warned the Court to be prudent in its interpreta­
tions of state action and continuously ad­
monished his judicial brethren to remember the 

Court's proper role within a constitutional 
framework . 6 

Because Harlan 's opinions bring to bear an 
in val uable analysis of the meaning of equal pro­
tection of the laws, they are an important legacy 
to the evolution of American Constitutional 
federalism. This article discusses Harlan's equal 
protection opinions in the following areas: reap­
portionment, voting rights, race relations , crim­
inal defendant rights , and welfare rights. Har­
lan's opinions offer a rational aJternati ve to the 
Court's approach to the definition and applica­
tion of this ambiguous constitutional phrase by 
emphasizing judicial restraint, precedent and 
constitutional guidelines as a source for judicial 
decision-making. 

Reapportionment 

The Fourteenth Amendment does not specifi­
cally mention the franchise, but it performs a 
more powerful function in securing the vote than 
the other four amendments (15,19,24 , and 26) 
combined . Whereas all five Amendments grant 
enforcement power to the national government , 
not the states, it was the U. S. Supreme Court 
which selected Fourteenth Amendment's clause 
of "equal protection of the laws," as the means 
for securing the vote as a fundamentaJ right for 
each citizen. Whereas the other four amend­
ments merely prohibited states from denying the 
franchise to a particular group of citizens, it was 
the Court 's interpretation of the Fourteenth 
Amendment that committed the national gov­
ernment to the active pursuit of securing the 
franchise for all citizens . Our Constitution, as 
amended, failed to mention the "fundamental 
right to vote." Yet, the U. S . Supreme Court has 
declared it is ours. 

Interpretation of the equal protection of the 
laws regarding legislative apportionment was a 
hotly debated issue before the Warren Court and 
Baker v. Carr,7 was one of the most celebrated 
decisions regarding the right to vote. After all, in 
this decision the Court broke precedent and ruled 
that it had jurisdiction over legislative appor­
tionment under the equal protection clause. In 
the Baker case , Harlan wrote a separate dissent­
ing opinion but also joined in Frankfurter's dis­
sent. 

In his dissent, Harlan developed themes that 
will be used in subsequent dissenting opinions. 
First of all , no federal question was shown: 
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The new junior Justice -John Marshall Harlan in 1955. 

Hence, we must accept the present form of the 
Tennessee Legislature as the embodiment of the 
State 's choice, or, more realistically, its com­
promise between competing political philo­
sophies. The federal courts have not been empo­
wered by the Equal Protection of tile Laws 
Clause to judge whether this resolutiun of the 
State 's internal political conflict is undesirable, 
wise or unwise ... . Furthermore, a States ' choice 
to distribute electoral strength among geograph­
ical units, rather than according to a census of 
population, is certainly no less a rational decision 
of'{lOlicy than would be its choice to levy a tax on 
property rather than a tax on income . Both are 
legislative judgments entitled to equal respect 
from this Court . 8 

Second, while it was easy to comprehend the 
Court's anxiety over lack of redress in the politi­
cal arena, it was not necessary that the Court fill 
the vacuum. In doing so, the Court went beyond 
its boundaries. Harlan stated: 

The majority seems to have accepted the argu­
ment, pressed at the bar, that if this Court merely 
asserts authority in this field, Tennessee and other 
'malapportioning' states will quickly respond 
with appropriate political action , so that this 
Court need not be greatly concerned about fed ­
eral courts becoming further involved in these 
matters . At the same time the majority has 
wholly failed to reckon with what the future may 
hold in store if this optimistic prediction is not 

fulfilled. Thus, what the court is doing rejfects 
//lore 01/ advelllure in judicial experimel11ation 
thaI/ a solid piece of cOl/stitutional adjudication." 

Third, Harlan warned the Court in an appen­
dix what this" adventure in judicial experimenta­
tion" could produce: "The fault with a purely 
statistical approach to the case at hand lies not 
with the particular mathematical fonnula used, 
but in the failure to take account of the fact that a 
multitude of legitimate policies; along with cir­
cumstances of geography and demography, 
could account for the seeming electoral dis­
parities among counties ." I 0 Thus, Harlan re­
primanded and forewarned his judicial brethren 
of what lay ahead if the Court continued to inflate 
the meaning 'of the equal protection clause. 

Harlan joined Frankfurter's dissenting opin­
ion. Frankfurter, too, was concerned with the 
Court overstepping its jurisdictional boundaries. 
Harlan's subsequent opinions developed and re­
fined Frankfurter's, as well as his sense of solid 
constitutional adjudication. The proper role of 
the Court was repeatedly emphasized . Harlan 
cried out against continued "judicial experimen­
tation" in policy and procedure areas which 
clearly belonged to the states. In each dissenting 
opinion, he expressed alarm with the Court's ex­
panded definition of the equal protection clause 
regarding legislative reapportionment. Let's 
now tum to this series of opinions in which Har­
lan spelled out his fears over the Court's expan­
siveness and its eventual impact upon federal­
state relationships. II 

Baker v. Carr dealt with the failure of the Ten­
nessee State Legislature to reapportion . During 
the same term, the Court went one step further. 
In Gray v. Sanders, 12 the Court ruled on the 
constitutionality of Georgia's county-unit system 
as a basis for counting votes in Democratic pri­
mary elections for the nomination of United 
States Senator and statewide offices . The ma­
jority held that the system violated the equal pro­
tection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

Harlan's dissent pointed out that there was not 
enough evidence to support the Court's findings. 
He emphasized themes present in his dissent in 
Baker v. Carr: 

On the existing record , this leaves the question of 
'irrationality' in this case to be judged on the 
basis of pure arithmetic. The Court by its 'One 
person, one vote' theory in effect avoids facing 
up to that problem, but the District Court did face 
it, holding that the disparities in voting strength 
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between the largest county (Fulton) and the four 
smallest counties (Webster, Glascock, Quilman 
and Echols) running respectively 8 to I, JO to 1, 
II to I, and 14 10 I in favor of Ihe latter, were 

. invidiously discriminatory. Bul il did not tell us 
why. I dOfWlLmdersland how, on the basis of these 
mere numbers, un illuminated as they are by any of 
{he compLex and subtle poLiticaL faclOrs invoLved, 
a court of law can say, except by judiciaL fiat, that 
these dispari{ies are in themseLves constitutionally 
invidious . 13 

Through " judicial fiat , " the Court had cut for 
tself a wide swath of constitutional power using 
mproper logic and unsubstantiated evidence . In 
)rder to register his protest with this approach, 

Harlan would often vote to vacate and remand a 
kcision for further consideration. 

Harlan 's adherence to the doctrine of separa­
tion of powers and the proper role of the judiciary 
was spelled out succinctly in his dissent in Wes­

Jerry v. Sanders. 14 In this decision, the majority 
set forth the theory of "one man, one vote." The 
:ase dealt with apportionment of Congressional 
legislative districts. According to the majority, 
under Article I, Section 2, Representatives cho­
sen' by the People of the several States ' meant 
that as nearly as was practicable one person's 
vote in a congressional election was to be worth 
as much as another's. 15 

Harlan attacked the Court's logic, reasoning, 
and data. He maintained that no support for the 

Court's decision could be found in the historical 
records of United States, Federalist Papers or 
case law. Furthermore, the complaint failed to 
reveal a valid constitutional claim. Harlan 
charged that the phrase "as nearly ~s practica­
ble" did not define the issue at hand I In a foot­
note (no. 4) he asked, "How great a difference 
between the population of various districts 
within a State is tolerable? Does the number of 
districts within a State have any relevance?" 17 

There is an obvious lack of criteria for answering 
questions as these , which points up Ihe impropri ­
ety of Ihe COUrl'S whole-hearted but heavy­
footed enlrance into the political arena .. .. The 
claim for judicial relief in Ihis case slrikes at one 
of Ihe fundamental doclrines of our system of 
government , Ihe separalion of powers . In uphold­
ing that claim, Ihe Co uri attempls 10 effect re­
forms in a field which Ihe Constitulion, as plainly 
as can be, has committed exclusively to Ihe polit­
ical process. 

Whal is done today saps the polilical process. 
The promise of judicial inlervenlion in matters of 
this sort cannot bul encourage popular inertia in 
efforts for political refonn through the polilical 
process , wilh Ihe inevilable resull that Ihe process 

is itself weakened. By yielding to the demand for 
ajudicial remedy in this instance , the Court in my 
view does a disservice both 10 ilself and to the 
broader values of our system of government. 18 

Again Harlan forcefully expressed his distress 
over the Court's choice of criteria and the impact 
of these decisions upon the political system. Har­
lan did not want the American government to be­
come a government by the judiciary. Questions 
of a political nature must be settled by the elec­
torate, not the judiciary. 

A subsequent ruling , Reynolds v. Sims, 19 was 
one of the most significant of the reapportion­
ment decisions. The Court nJled that the seats in 
both houses of a bicameral legislature mu t be 
apportioned substantially on a population basis 
to be in compliance with the equal protection of 
the laws clause. 

Harlan's dissent 20 charged that the language 
of the Fourteenth Amendment did not empower 

the Court to hand down any of the reapportion­
ment decisions . He discussed the history of the 
amendment, emphasizing its proposal and ratifi­
cation. Harlan accused the Court of "Amend­
ing" the Constitution with these decisions: 

The Courl's elaboralion of its new 'Conslilu­
tiona I' doclrine indicales how far and how un­
wisely it has strayed from Ihe appropriale bounds 
of ils authorily. The consequences of today's de­
cision is that in all bUI the handful of slales which 
may already salisfy the new requirements the 
local Dislrict Courl or, il may be, the Siale 
Courts, are given blankel aulhorily and the con­
slilulional duty to supervise apportionmenl oflhe 
Slate Legislatures . It is difficult to imagine a 
more intolerable and inappropriate inlerference 
by the judiciary wilh the independenllegislatures 
of the Stale. 21 

Harlan then discussed the impact of the decision 
upon federal-state relationships: "It is well to 
remember that the product of today's decisions 
will not be readjustment of a few districts in a 
few :>tates which most glaringly depart from the 
principle of equally populated districts. It will be 
a redetermination, extensive in many cases, of 
legislative districts in all but a few States." 22 

For Harlan, the Court was not specific enough 
in its criteria for determining a properly pro­
portioned legislative assembly. As a result, the 
Court's opinions excluded a list of ten crucial 
factors. These factors encompassed 1) history; 2) 
economic or other sorts of group interests; 3) 
area; 4) geographical considerations; 5) a desire 
to insure effective representation for sparsely set-
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tIed areas; 6) availability of access of citizens to 
the representatives ; 7) theories of bicameralism 
(except those approved by the Court); 8) occupa­
tion; 9) an attempt to balance urban and rural 
power; 10) the preference of a majority of voters 
in the state .23 Harlan complained that under the 
Court's opinions the only two factors a state 
could properly use were numbers and political 
subdivisions. 

He agreed with the majority that "legislators 
represent people, not trees or acres;" that "citi­
zens, not history or economic interests, cast 
votes;" that "people, not land or trees or 
pastures, vote ." 24 Harlan's concluding remarks 
set forth a refinement of his basic concerns re­
garding the definition of equal protection of the 
laws : 

The Cons{i{urion is no{ a panacea for every blo{ 
upon {he public welfare, nor should {his COUrf, 
ordained as a judicial body, be {hough{ of as a 
general haven for reform movemenrs. The Con­
stitution is an instrument of government, funda­
mental to which is the premise that in a diffusion 
of governmental authority lies the greatest prom­
ise that this Nation will realize liberty for all its 
citizens. This Court, limited in function in ac­
cordance with that premise, does pot serve its 
high purpose when it exceeds its authority, even 
to satisfy justified impatience with the slow work­
ings of the political process. For when , in the 
name of constitutional interpretation, the Court 
adds something to the Constitution that was de­
liberately excluded from it, the Court in reality 
substitutes its view of what should l;>.e so in the 
amending process. 25 . 

Such was the essence of the Harlan approach to 
the adjudication of constitutional concepts . The 
Court was always limited in its interpretative ac­
tions rof Constitutional principles. That docu­
ment, as the instrument of our government, 
could not be amended or its meaning expanded 
by the Court. The principle laid out in the 
Reynolds dissent will be raised again in sub­
sequent dissents covering a variety of subject 
matters. Harlan's adherence to the sound adjudi­
cation of constitutional concepts was rooted in a 
deep concern for the preservation of the Con­
stitution as an instrument of government and a 
deep conviction regarding the proper role of the 
Court. 

In subsequent reapportionment decisions, 
Harlan, whether in a majority, concurring, or 
dissenting opinion, reminded the Court of its 
previously announced principles . In Fortson v. 
Dorsey,26 the Court ruled that the equal protec-

tion clause did not necessarily require formation 
of all single-member districts in a state's legisla­
tive apportionment scheme. Harlan joined the 
majority but professed a reservation, "There is a 
language in today's opinion, unnecessary to the 
Court's resolution of this case, that might be 
taken to mean that the constitutionality of state 
legislative reapportionments must, in the last 
analysis , always be judged in terms of simple 
arithmetic." 27 

A later decision, Swann v. Adams, 28 did not 

squarely present such a case for Harlan. The 
Court reversed a district court plan under which 
the Florida reapportionment proposal was al­
lowed deviations from equality of population be­
tween legislative districts. The Court held that 
such deviations were only allowed which "are 
based on legitimate considerations incident to 
the effectuation of a rational state policy. " 29 Har­

lan 's dissent firmly clung to previously discussed 
constitutional concepts. 

In 1968, the Court ex tended the concept of one 
man , one vote to local government units . 30 Har­
lan dissented on the basis of jurisdiction and 

merits. The Court lacked jurisdiction because 
the finality question was not met. The case could 
be resolved by adhering to the Texas Constitu­
tion and its statutes. 

He then analyzed the merits of the case, 
primarily because of the Court's opinion . Harlan 
was worried about the Court's lack of attention to 
the impact of the decision upon local govern­
ment. Restructuring local governmental units 
should be left up to the political process, not the 
judiciary.31 In addition, Harlan expressed alarm 
over the potential number of cases which could 
find their way to the doorstep of the Court. 3 2 

A dissenting opinion handed down in 1969, 
Wells v. Rockjeller,33 captured the essence of 
Harlan's objections to the Court's application of 
the equal protection of the laws clause to legisla­
tive reapportionment. The majority held that the 
State of New York's reapportionment plan did not 
meet the constitutional standard of equal repre­
sentation. Harlan's dissenting voice cried out in 
disgust: 

Whatever room remained underthis Court's prior 
decisions for the free play of the political process 
in matters of reapportionment is now all but elim­
inated by today's Draconian judgments. March­
ing to the nonexistent command of Art . I, 20fthe 
constitution, the Court now transforms a political 
slogan into a constitutional absolute . Straight in-
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deed is the path of the righteous legislator. Slide 
rule in hand, he must avoid all thought of county 
Imes, local traditions, politics, history and eco­
nomics , so as to achieve the magic formula, one 
man, one vote. 34 

n Harlan's view, "mathematical niceties" did 
lot always square with political realities or con­
;titutional concepts and he repeatedly warned the 
:ourt of the dangerous path it was taking . 

Voting Rights Cases 

During Harlan's tenure on the Court, the 
:qual protection clause was applied to other 
<inds of voting cases. In Carrington v. Rash,35 
:he Court ruled that while a state may impose 
reasonable residence requirements for voting, it 
:ould not, under the equal protection of the laws 
clause, deny the ballot to a bonafide resident 
merely because he was a member of the armed 
forces. Harlan dissented and viewed the Texas 
classification schemes as rational. Coming to 
Texas as part of the military can be distinguished 
from a change in job by a civilian. Harlan con­
cluded, " Such a Policy on Texas' part may seem 
to many unduly provincial in light of modem 
conditions, but it cannot, in my view, be said to 
be unconstitutional. "36 

Two years later, the Warren Court handed 
down a decision critical to the ideals of repre­
sentative democracy, Harper v. Virginia State 
Board of Elections. 37 The majority ruled that 
Virginia's conditioning the right to vote with a 
poll tax violated the equal protection of the laws. 

Harlan again dissented. 
Harlan quoted from the majority,. opinion in 

Harper which described the franchi se as "pre­
cious" and fundamental. While these words had 
a "captivating" ring to them, they did not satisfy 
the standards needed to measure the equal protec­
tion issue. One could ask, "Is there a rational 

basis for Virginia's poll tax as a voting qualifica­
tions?" 38 Harlan said "yes." Look to our his­
tory, property qualifications and poll taxes were 
part of our early experience. But today: 

Property and poll-tax qualifications, very simply, 
are not in accord with current egalitarian notions 
of how modern democracy should be organized. 
It is of course entirely fitting that legislatures 
should modify the law to reflect such changes in 
popular attitudes. However, it is all wrong, in my 
view, for the Court to adopt the political doctrines 
popularly accepted at a particular moment of our 
history and to declare all others to be irrational 
and invidious, barring them from the range of 

choice by reasonably minded people acting 
through the political process. 39 

Harlan, once again , protested the interpreta­
tive license used by the Court regarding the ap­
plication of the equal protection clause . Such in­
terpretations were blots upon sound principles of 
constitutional adjudication. 

In 1965 Congress passed the Voting Rights 
outlawing literacy tests. Two decisions, Katzen­
bach v. Morgan 40 and Cardona v. Power, 41 ruled 

on the validity of Congressional action. In both 
cases, the Court struck down a New York literacy 
test as violative of the Civil Rights Act of 1965. 

In the Cardona decision, Harlan dissented on 
the grounds that the case presented a straight 
forward equal protection problem. Again Harlan 
took issue with federal intervention into state 
matters, such as the franchise. 

Harlan asserted that there was a rational pur­
pose behind the classification scheme. The ap­
pellant claimed fluency in Spanish, that she lis­
tened to Spanish-speaking radio broadcasts 
which provided much political views: 

New York may justifiably want its readers to be 
able to un 'erstand candidates directly, rather than 
through possibly imprecise translations or sum­
maries reported in a limited number of Spanish 
news media. It is noteworthy that the Federal 
Government requires literacy in English as a pre­
requisite to naturalization, attesting to the na­
tional view of its importance into the American 
political community. Relevant too is the fact that 
the New York English test is not complex, that it 
is fairly administered, and that New York main­
tains free adult education classes which appellant 
and members of her class are encouraged to at­
tend. 42 

Thus Harlan pointed out a legitimate interest by 
New York in the "promotion and safeguarding 
the intelligent use of the ballot. " 

Harlan then turned to the Katzenbach decision 

and the application of the federal statute to de­
termine the constitutionality of literacy tests . 
Harlan maintained that the Court had gone too 
far in its support of Congressional enforcement 
power and complained that not enough factual 
data supported the legislative action taken. The 
Court assumed the validity of Congressional ac­
tion until proven otherwise. But Harlan main­
tained caution in the exercise of judicial power 
when such judgment can adversely affect the de­
licate balance between state and federal power. 
Mere Congressional pronouncement must not be 
allowed to supercede state authority. 
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In a subsequent ruling, Gaston County v. 
U. S. 43 Harlan wrote the majority opinion. The 
Court refused to allow the county to reinstate a 
literacy test. Harlan's approach was consistent in 
that he looked to the established record, "the sad 
truth is that throughout the years, Gaston County 
systematically deprived its black citizens of the 
educational opportunities it granted to its white 
citizens. Impartial administration of the literacy 
test today would serve only to perpetuate these 
inequities of the literacy form.44 Thus, reestab­
lishment of the literacy test in North Carolina 
had a different purpose and effect than the 
legitimate reason and administration to the New 
York literacy test. Harlan's opinions, whether 
majority or dissenting, looked to the rationality 
and purpose of a statute in light of constitutional 
considerations. When these dual requisites were 
met, the statute should be allowed to stand . 

Race Relations 

The Court's business, according to Harlan, 
was to use prudent standards when interpreting 
state action in light of constitutional guidelines. 
A case in point, Burton v. Wilmington Park Au­
thority. 45 Burton involved the leasing of space in 
a government parking garage by a privately 
owned restaurant. The restaurant refused to 
serve blacks. The Court was asked to determine 
how much state action was involved andwhether 
equal protection of the laws had been :violated. 
The Court ruled there was a relationship between 
the State and the operator of the restaurant by 
considering such factors as location, use by state 
employees and rental monies; thus, a combina­
tion of,factors established a working relationship 
and as a result, such state involvement could not 
be allowed to sanction racial discrimination. 
Harlan's dissent pointed out the Court's illogical 
approach: 

The Court's opinion , by a process of first indis­
criminatingly throwing together various factual 
bits and pieces and then undermining the result­
ing structure by an equally vague disclaimer, 
seems to me to leave completely at sea just what it 
is in this record that satisfies the requirement of 
state action. 46 

In a 1965 decision Evans v. Newton 47 the 
Court agajn confronted the issue of what consti­
tutes state action under the equal protection of 
the law clause. At issue was the role played by 
State officials as a trustee of private property, 

AssociaTe JUSTice Harlan (1955-197/) . 

municipal in nature, which did not allow access 
to blacks . The Court ruled such a practice was a 
denial of equal protection of the laws. 

Harlan's dissent stated that the writ of cer­
tiorari had been "improvidently granted" and 
should be dismissed . 48 The record revealed no 
substantial federal question and no state action. 
Harlan chided the majority, "This decision, in 
my opinion, is more the product of human im­
pulses, which I fully share, than of solid constitu­
tional thinking. It is made at the sacrifice of 
long-established and still wise procedural and 
substantive constitutional principle. 49 Human 
impulses were worthy but not at the expense of 
sound legal reasoning. This opinion carried with 
it "seeds of transferring to federal authority vast 
areas of concern whose regulation has been 
wisely left by the Constitution to the States." 50 

For Harlan, these areas of concern encompassed 
privately-owned orphanages, libraries, garbage 
collection companies but especially schools. Did 
Harlan anticipate the subsequent developments 
of the 1970's when he wrote: 

For all the resemblance, the majority assumes 
that its decision leaves unaffected the traditional 
view that the Fourteenth Amendment does not 
compel private schools to adopt their admission 
policies to its requirements, but that such matters 
are left to the States acting within Constitutional 
bounds. I find it difficult, however, to avoid the 
conclusion that this decision opens the door to 
reversal of these basic constitutional concepts, 
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and, at least in logic, jeopardizes the existence of 
denominationally restricted schools while mak­
ing of every college entrance rejection letter a po­
tential Fourteenth Amendment question . 5 1 

Harlan was concerned about the Court's assum­
ing too active a role in state matters. A humane 
person, Harlan was likewise trying to maintain 
that delicate balance between "human impulses" 
and constitutional concepts . He advised the 
Court to root their decisions in the latter, not the 
former. Only then would the Court be able to 
maintain its position of credibility among the 
three branches of government and the populace. 

In a 1967 decision, Reitman v. Mulkey, 52 the 
Court declared null and void an amendment to 
the California State Constitution which repealed 
open housing legislation and forbade future pas­
sage of similar legislation. Harlan dissented and 
scolded the Court for advancing "ill-founded" 
arguments as the basis of their contentions . 

Harlan was convinced that the proposition 
adopted by the California voters was neutral on 
its face and not a call to arms to discriminate . 5 3 

Harlan did not dispute the fact that (section) "26 
was meant to nullify California's fair-housing 
legislation and thus to remove from private resi­
dential property transactions the state-created 
impediment upon freedom of choice ." 51 Harlan 
looked to the California Court record regarding 
rental of property to blacks in 1963. No indica­
tion was present as to the general effect of Sec­
tion 26 . 

Harlan said , " A State enactment , particularly 
one that is simply permissive of private deci­
sion-making rather than coercive and one that 
has been adopted in this most democratic of 
processes, should not be struck down by the 
judiciary without persuasive evidence of an in­
vidious pwpose or effect." 55 He did acknowl­
edge the circumstances leading up to the adop­
tion of the referendum, i.e ., the passage of sev­
eral strong antidiscrimination acts and the oppo­
sition to those acts by those who led the referen­
dum movement. The California Supreme Court 
used these circumstances to declare Section 26 
unlawful. Harlan stated, "This, of course, is 
nothing but a legal conclusion as to federal con­
stitutionallaw, the California Supreme Court not 
having relied in any way upon the State Constitu­
tion. 56 Again , Harlan cried, look to the State 
Constitution, "It seems to me manifest that the 
State Courts decision rested entirely on what that 

court conceived to be the compulsion of the 
Fourteenth Amendment, not on any factfinding 
by the state Courts ." 57 Again, human impulses 
were the basis of a decision, not constitutional 
concepts. To Harlan, State action must be rooted 
in something more than "encouragement:" "I 
believe the State action required to bring the 
Fourteenth Amendment into operation must be 
affirmative and purposeful, actively fostering 
discrimination. 5 8 Harlan advised the Court to 
think about what it had done . Harlan's dissent 
warned the Court not to stray from its constitu­
tional duty of interpreting State laws in light of 
constitutional concepts . The Court should not 
become a "super-legislature. " In matters where 
State classification schemes were reasonable, 
judicial restraint should be exercised: "By refus­
ing to accept the decision of the people of 
California, and by contriving a new ill-defined 
constitutional concept to allow federal judicial 
interference, I think the Court has taken to itself 
powers and responsibilities left elsewhere by the 
Constitution. "59 

Criminal Defendant Rights 

An early illustration of Harlan's concern 
about the use of the equal protection of the laws 
clause came in 1965 . In the celebrated case of 
Griffin v. Illinois, 60 the Court held that an appeal 
from a conviction could not be conditioned by 
economic status. An indigent defendant claimed 
his right of appeal was adversely affected be­
cause he could not financially provide the neces­
sary transcript. The Court held that Illinois must 
provide the transcript for an indigent defendant 
on the first appeal. Harlan dissented. In this dis­
sent, he accused the Court of painting an overly 
broad stroke of constitutional rights with the 
brush of the equal protection of the laws clause. 

In Harlan's view, Illinois procedural require­
ments were not shocking to a sense of fundamen­
tal fairness or justice; he accused the Court of 
using the equal protection of the laws clause in 
order to accomplish its predetermined goal of 
expanding the meaning of the equal protection 
clause. The Court did not think through the im­
pact of its decision. Such a decision was deter­
minal to a healthy federal system. After all: 

As I view this case, it contains none of the ele­
ments hitherto regarded as essential to justify ac­
tion by this Court under the Fourteenth Amend­
ment. In truth what we have here is but the failure 



54 YEARBOOK 1982 

of Illinois to adopt as promptly as other States a 
desirable reform in its criminal procedure . What­
ever might be said for our system of federalism 
requires that matters such as this be left to the 
States. However strong may be one 's inclination 
to hasten the day when inJorma pauperis crimi­
nal procedures will be universal among the 
states. I think it is beyond the province of this 
Court to tell Illinois that it must provide such pro­
cedures. 61 

In a 1962 decision, Douglas v. Cali/ornia 62 

Harlan's dissent reemphasized his concerns for 
reasonableness in the establishment of classifica­
tion schemes and the constitutional boundaries 
of Supreme Court rulings . The case again in­
volved the right of appeal as defined by a state 
statute. Under the state procedure, criminal ap­
peals were screened to determine whether or not 
counsel should be appointed for indigent defen­
dants . The Court struck down the provision on 
the basis that the proced ure established a 
classification based upon wealth which ad­
versely affected the right to appeal. Harlan as­
serted that, "This case should be judged solely 
under the Due Process Clause, and I do not be­
lieve that the California procedure violates that 

provision .63 Harlan cited his dissent, in Griffin 
(he would follow this practice in subsequent dis­
sents, always pointing out to the Court the error 
of its way and the consistency of his own argu­
ments) and elaborated further on his earlier ob­
jections: 

The Equal Protection Clause does not impose 
upon the States 'an affirmative duty to lift the 
handicaps flowing from differences in economic 
circumstances' . . . The State may have a moral 
obligation to eliminate the evil of poverty, but it is 
nqt required by the Equal Protection Clause to 
give to some whatever others can afford. 64 

The state appellate courts have the power to 
appoint counsel on appeal for indigent defen­
dants. If counsel was not appointed, the record is 
present and could be evaluated as to any injus­
tice. 65 According to Harlan, appellate review 
was not automatically required by the Fourteenth 
Amendment. The Court was charged with exam­
ining the procedures of particular states as to 
their reasonableness. The California procedure 
gave the indigent defendant's trial record a full 
appraisal based on the merits of the case. As a 
result, California had taken reasonable steps to 
ensure the defendant 's rights and guarantee need­
less expense. Harlan emphasized that the 
California appellate procedure was more fair 

than that used by the United States Supreme 
Court. 66 So, in the Douglass dissent, Harlan 
reminded his judicial brethren to tread carefully 
in the two separate areas of equal protection of 
the laws and due process of law. The Court was 
again admonished for its lack of adherence to 
constitutional principles and sensitivity to the 
federal structure. The states had the authority to 
determine the ground rules of the appellate proc­
ess. As long as those rules were reasonable and 
just, they should stand. 

During Harlan's final term on the bench , the 
Court used the equal protection clause to apply to 
time served in jail as a means of working off 
fines .67 By this time, the Warren Court had be­
come the Burger Court but Harlan remained true 
to his belief in adjudication within constitutional 
guidelines. Harlan concurred in the Court's 
judgment but disassociated himself from its ra­
tionale. In a tersely-worded opinion, Harlan 
pointed out: 

The 'equal protection ' analysis of the Court is, r 
submit, a 'wolf in sheep's clothing,' for that ra­
tionale is no more than a masquerade of a sup­
posedly objective standard for subjective judicial 
judgment as to what State legislation offends no­
tions of 'fundamental fairness.' Under the rubric 
of 'equal protection ' thi s Court has in recent 
times effectively substituted its own 'en­
lightened' social philosophy for that of the legis­
lature no less than did in the older days the judi­
cial adherents of the now discredited doctrine of 
substantive due process.68 

In Harlan 's view, this case should be decided 
upon due process grounds . He cited previous de­
cisions in which the equal protection clause was 
wrongly applied. He had tried to warn the Court 
then but it did not heed his advice . Harlan main ­
tained that the Court was preoccupied with 
"equalizing rather than analyzing the rationality 
of the legislative purpose." 69 Harlan empha­
sized that the question before the Court should be 
decided on the basis of the due process clause. 
The results sought in the Williams' case were just 
but the means chosen were wrong . Invoking the 
equal protection clause raised more issues than it 
resolved . 

Welfare Rights 

In Harlan 's dissent in the case involving Aid 
to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC), 
Shapiro v. Thompson 70 his concern for the 
proper use of the equal protection clause was 
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once again underscored. The question before the 
Court was whether or not the state of Connec­
ticut and the District of Columbia could attach a 
residency requirement to receipt of AFDC be­
nefits. The majority ruled that such a require­
ment affected adversely the" fundamental" right 
to travel and struck down the requirement. 

Harlan's dissent emphasized the compelling 
state interest doctrine and viewed the Court's de­
claration of a right to interstate travel as funda­
mentally unwise. His conclusion was rooted in 
the proper application of the equal protection 
clause. Shapiro was a case for the due process 
clause. Harlan again expressed doubt regarding 
the Court's wisdom in deeming certain rights as 
fundamental: 

But when a statute affects only matters not men­
tioned in the Federal Constitution and is not arbi­
trary or irrational, I must reiterate that I know of 
nothing which entitles this Court to pick out par­
ticular human activities, characterize them as 
fundamental and give them added protection 
under an unusually stringent equal protection 
test. 71 

Harlan then examined whether or not this 
one-year residency requirement amounted to an 
undue burden upon the right of inierstate travel. 
He analyzed Congressional action, the extent of 
the interference, State government "interests 
served by welfare residence requirement and 
concluded, "This resurgence of the expansive 
view of 'equal protection' carries the seeds of 
more judicial interference with the State and fed ­
eral legislative process . . . . " 72 According to 
Harlan, the Court once again wen't beyond its 
constitutional province . 

Conclusion 

John Marshall Harlan served on the Supreme 
Court during a period of its history when ex­
traordinary interpretations of the equal protec­
tion clause were handed down, e.g. , review of 
state legislative reapportionment plans were de­
clared to be within the jurisdiction of federal 
courts, the franchise was declared a fundamental 
right, and interstate travel was deemed to be an 
inherent right due all citizens. Throughout Har­
lan's tenure on the Court, he cautioned his judi­
cial brethren against too expansive an interpreta­
tion and application of the equal protection 
clause. His warnings were rooted in a deep 
commitment to maintaining the delicate balance 
between states and the national government 
within a federal system and sustaining a proper 
role for the judiciary. 

Harlan's majority, concurring and dissenting 
opinions>:r'ld'lected an ·awareness of the striving of 
groups for political and economic parity. Al­
though his opinions evinced a sympathy with 
humanistic values brought before the Court, he 
was deeply concerned over the route taken by the 
Court to describe fundamental rights existing in 
the Constitution . Harlan was fearful that the path 
chosen by the Court would lead to a government 
by the judiciary. The Court should use prudence 
not emotion when evaluating state legislative 
schemes. Such an approach would keep federal­
ism intact and the role of the judiciary secure. 
Harlan's crisp, thoughtful analysis of constitu­
tional questions brought a sense of balance to the 
Court's deliberations and opinions. His smooth, 
clear, logical stance is as needed today as it was 
during his tenure on the bench. 
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Justice Frank Murphy: A Reexamination 
Margaret H. Potts 

Frank Murphy served as an Associate Justice 
of the Supreme Court of the United States from 
February 5, 1940, until his death on July 19, 
1949. During those nine years he wrote 219 opin­
ions while serving with three Chief Justices. He 
made speeches supporting Roosevelt and the 
War, and joined the Army Reserve as a Lt. Colo­

nel. To those who disapproved of his jurispru­
der.ce, Murphy became known as a soft-hearted 
libertarian. To those who admired him, Murphy 
became the "conscience of the Court." 1 One of 
the few men whose public reputation was dam­
aged rather than enhanced through his elevation 
to the high court, Justice Murphy died nearly 
penniless, and leaving a total estate worth less 
than $2,000 and a bill to the residential hotel in 
Washington where he lived of nearly $1,000. 2 

Although commentary on Murphy's perform-

Murphy. a veleran of'lhe American Expedil/onary Force in 
France during the First World War, served as a Lt. Colonel in 
lhe Army Reserve during World War Two. 

ance as a justice has not been extensive, it has 
been contradictory. 3 Almost every justice has his 
critics, but even Murphy's supporters and ad­
mirers felt caJJed upon to justify Justice Mur­
phy's approach to his work on the Court. Was 
Murphy a judge so lacking in intellectual ca­
pacity thay. he became virtually dependent upon 
his young law clerks for the production of his 
opinions?4 Was he a justice whose "jurispru­
dence took for its guide less the cases, legislative 
histories, and statutory refinements which are 
usually the lawyer's tools, and more the Con­
stitution itsel f and the social principles of Presi­
dent Roosevelt?" 5 Was the criticism levelled 
against him accurate, that he "mounted the wild 
horse of natural law and mercilessly rode down 
those institutions, traditions, legal precedents, 
which stood between him and his destination-a 
democratic utopia?" 6 

One observer, John P. Frank, found that the 
"evidence rejects the suggestion that (Murphy) 
could not have been a conventional lawyer if he 
had chosen. His opinions were generally well­
written, and some achieve greatness whether 
measured in terms of legal skill displayed or in 
terms of any other values . " 7 Yet even Frank ac­
cepted the conclusion that Justice Murphy was 
an unconventional jurist. Rejecting the charge 
that Murphy "knew no law" and merely read his 
own personal predilections into his decisions, 
and that Murphy "seemed to reach fairly happy 
results even though he lacked proper concern for 
legal techniques," Frank concluded that al­
though Murphy's decisions might not always 
have reflected the prevailing conventional wis­
dom, they were based upon a well-considered 
philosophical position and not merely on per­
sonal whim: "the application of that philosophy 
may on occasion have been defective ... but 
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these episodes are rare, for his philosophy guided 
him in a remarkably consistent course. "8 Frank, 
at least, was convinced that Murphy's jurispru­
dence reflected a philosophy "sufficiently deeply 
worked out to Murphy's own satisfaction to 
withstand criticism." 9 

If Justice Murphy's apparant disregard for the 
traditional niceties of legal craftsmanship can be 
explained as the result of a personal but entirely 
conscious decision to use a different judicial ap­
proach, why has his reputation as something of a 
renegade persisted? Is that reputation the conse­
quence of his legal approach and emotional lan­
guage of his opinions, or is there more to the 
complaint that he was "unconventional?" 

Several factors may have contributed to the 
image of Murphy as an unorthodox jurist. His 
tendency to employ in his opinions a direct style 
uncommon to judicial decision writing certainly 
furthered thisjudgment about Murphy. That such 
a style may not have been considered standard or 
appropriate for a Supreme Court justice is illus­
trated by the following excerpt from an article 
published in the Harvard Law Review shortly 
after Murphy's death: 

In connection with Justice Murphy's skill as a 
legal craftsman, I recall being interviewed by a 
layman, a writer of national prominence , who 
was preparing an article on the Court. He had 
already seen a number of legal experts who had 
informed him that Justice Murphy was an acci­
dent that happened to the Court. Thejudgmentof 
the experts found the Justice wanting as a legal 
craftsman. I told him to read Murphy's opinions 
for himself. He came back astonished. He said 
that he had discovered that Murphy 's writing was 
better than most judic ial writing. It did not have 

~ the. fault common to judicial opinions of spinning 
like a pinwheel , shooting off observations and 
formulas in all directions , and then slowly dying 
away to a conclusion . He told me that Murphy's 
opinions had a beginning and a middle and an 
end ; that they were informed with a distinctive 
and personal style born of sincerity and convic­
tion. He thought that as a writer Murphy made an 
outstanding contribution to the Court; that he had 
an instinct for going to the substance of a con­
troversy and that his conclusions were usually 
right. 10 

Another perceived shortcoming may have 
been Murphy's insistence on dealing directly 
with what he considered the central issue facing 
the Court, and his reluctance to avoid delicate 
problems by following circuitous legal argu­
ments even when such tactful trails led to the 
"right" results. His tendency to focus upon a 
single controlling issue was frequently attributed 

to a lack of intellectual capacity. 11 At least one 
writer saw Murphy 's habit of going directly to 
the larger constitutional issue as a natural conse­
quence of his view of the Holmesian tradition . 
Holmes, though a great advocate of judicial re­
straint, incorporated in his philosophy a seem­
ingly inconsistent principle which demanded 
careful inspection of any statute which impinged 
upon individual liberties. 12 This principle was 
strongly supported by Murphy. 

Additionally, his " forthright concern over the 
humanistic aspects of a case led inevitably to the 
charge that he deliberately championed the cause 
of the underdog, the unpopular and the ac­
cused."12a From 1946 to 1948, Murphy voted 
against claim of constitutionally protected indi­
vidual liberties only three times in 56 non­
unanimous cases. 13 It would be unfair, however, 
to judge the merit of Murphy's judicial method 
simply on the basis of the results he reached. The 
consistent application of a well-considered judi­
cial philosophy should not necessarily be taken 
as an indictment of a Supreme Court justice. Any 
legitimate charge levelled against Murphy's 
jurisprudence must stand or fall upon a detailed 
examination of the process Murphy employed in 
reaching his conclusions. 

If Justice Murphy's critics are correct, if he 
did in fact look "upon hal/owed judicial tra­
ditions as a drunk views a lamppost: as a means 
of support rather than a source of light," 14 a 
close examination of several of his more emo­
tional concurring opinions should certainly ver­
ify the charge, for there is less incentive or neces­
sity for restraint in a concurrence than any other 
type of opinion. When writing for the majority, a 
justice is to some extent confined by the views of 
the other justices who will join in it. A dissenter 
is also under a certain pressure from his brethren, 
for the act of opposing the judgment of a majority 
of his peers creates an obligation to reply to their 
arguments and their reasoning. Such restraints, 
even if subtle ones, do not confront a justice 
when he writes a concurrence. He speaks alone 
and for himself only. Although he may attempt to 
stretch the majority 's holding to cover additional 
ground, a concurring opinion is of little prece­
dential value. Consequently, ajustice is at liberty 
to express himself freely in these opinions, and 
one would expect to find the clearest support for 
the critics' argument in Justice Murphy's concur­
ring opinions. 
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But such is not the case. An extended analysis 
three of Murphy's more significant concurring 
inions reveals the care with which he con­

his legal arguments. Of the twenty-one 
opinions Justice Murphy wrote dur­

ing his nine years on the Court, his most vehe­
concerned cases in which he felt the Court 

not dealt squarely with alleged violations of 
tee ted First Amendment liberties, or cases 
ich involved alleged racial discrimination. 

in these cases, however, Justice Murphy's 
ncern that justice be done did not cause him to 

established and traditional forms of 
analysis. 

Duncan v. Kahanamuka 15 involved habeas 
petitions brought by two Hawaiians who 

been convicted by military tribunals in 1942 
1944, during which time Hawaii had been 

martial law. Imposed by the Governor of 
' i immediately after the Japanese attack on 

Pearl Harbor on December 7, 1941, martial law 
been approved by President Roosevelt 

hortly thereafter. The Hawaii Organic Act au­
ized such action whenever the Islands were 

with rebellion or invasion, or when re­
uired to ensure public safety. Both petitioners 
laimed that even under martial law, they were 
ntitled to be tried by the civil courts rather than a 
ilitary tribunal. Writing for the majority, Jus­
e Black upheld the petitioners' claim, stating 

there was no authority under the Actjustify­
ng the usurpation of the civil courts' jurisdiction 

military tribunals. Neither the language of the 
nor its legislative history convinced Justice 

lack that the scope of martial law in<;luded the 
to replace civilian courts. 'The phrase 

'martial law" as used in the Act authorized the 
ilitary to act to maintain an orderly civil gov­

t, and to defend the Islands against inva­
or rebellion , but it could not be construed as 

Justice Murphy joined the opinion of the 
rt, but felt obliged to point out that it was 
ious " that these trials were equally forbidden 
the B ill of Rights of the Constitution of the 

nited States, " and as such, deserved the 
ourt's "complete and outright repudiation. " 16 

is concurring opinion contained numerous ex-
pies of the emotional language for which he 

as so frequently criticized; but it also presented 
carefully constructed argument supporting his 

contention that the "open court " rule laid down 
in exparte Milligan 17 was controlling. The opin­
ion's colorful language served only to embellish 
essentially sound and sensible legal analysis, and 
to emphasize Murphy's adamant rejection of the 
government's case. 

Associate Justice Murphy shortly after he joined the Court in 
1940. 

The major proposition presented by the gov­
ernment in defense of its action was that the 
"open court" rule was outdated and unsuited to 
the conditions of modern warfare. Murphy re­
plied unequivocably: 

The argument thus advanced is as untenable 
today as it was when cast in the language of the 
Plantagenets, the Tudors and the Stuarts. It is a 
rank appeal to abandon the fate of all our liberties 
to the reasonableness of the judgment of those 
who are trained primarily for war. It seeks to 
justify military usurpation of civilian authority to 
punish crime without regard to the potency of the 
Bill of Rig hts . It deserves repudiation. 18 

He then carefully considers and rejects the argu­
ments offered by the government to support that 
proposition, clearly focusing on the fatal flaw in 
each. To the assertion that the continued danger 
of invasion to the Islands necessitated and jus­
tified removing jurisdiction from civilian courts 
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to military tribunals, Murphy pointed to the lack 
of any evidence demonstrating how the con­
tinued operation of civilian courts could possibly 
have increased the danger of such an invasion, 
adding that" from time immemorial despots have 
used real or imagined threats to the public wel­
fare as an excuse for needlessly abrogating 
human rights ." 19 The government's next two ar­
guments were rejected for similiar defects: the 
failure to present any evidence which could sup­
port their contentions. The government alleged 
that the military's efforts to defend the Islands 
could have been jeopardized by the slowness of 
the civil courts . With wry sarcasm, Justice Mur­
phy observed that the protection of civil liberties 
and the concern for military expediency might 
indeed be irreconcilable, but such a conclusion 
need not necessarily result in a decision support­
ing the government's position. Acknowledging 
that civil court procedures might in fact take 
somewhat longer to dispose of cases than mili­
tary proceedings, Murphy argued that 

experience has demonstrated that such time is 
well spent ... The swift trial and punishment 
which the military desires is preciseJy what the 
Bill of Rights outlaws. We would be false to our 
trust if we allowed the time it takes to give effect 
to constitutional rights to be used as the very rea­
son for taking away those rights.20 

Inherent in the government's next argument was 
an insult to the civilian judiciary which led Mur­
phy to characterize it as "the ultimate and most 
vicious of the arguments used to justify military 
trials." 21 The government alleged that the failure 
of the civil courts to convict persons charged with 
violating military orders would diminish the au­
thority and ability of the military to discharge 
their responsibilities. Murphy countered by 
pointing to the absence of any proof that the 
Hawaiian civil courts were either less competent 
or more prone to release the guilty than military 
tribunals . He also noted that this particular ar­
gument clearly confused the military's legitimate 
authority to promulgate orders applicable to the 
civilian population with the lawful authority to 
try civilians for violations of those orders. He 
reminded the government of the fundamental 
constitutional principle of separation of powers, 
and the important distinctions between legisla­
tion and adjUdication. Murphy quickly dis­
missed the government's claim that civilian 
courts lacked jurisdiction over civilian violators. 

of military orders by citing the appropriate act of 
Congress vesting authority in the federal courts 
to enforce military orders with criminal penal­
ties. Murphy then added a slightly sarcastic 
comment: "That the military refrained from 
using the statutory framework which Congress 
erected affords no constitutional justification for 
the creation of military tribunals to try such vio­
lators." 22 He dealt as directly with the govern­
ment's final arguments: that it was inconceivable 
that a military commander, responsible for 
guaranteeing the defense and safety of Hawaii , 
should be required to rely upon civilian courts to 
enforce his orders; that the use of civilian juries 
might disrupt the "vital work" of the military in 
protecting the Islands against possible invasion; 
and finally, that the military could not rely upon 
the loyalty of civilian jurors . In reply to the first 
contention, Murphy stated that it was "merely a 
military criticism of the proposition that in this 
nation the military is subordinate to the civil au­
thority. " 23 To the suggestion that civilian juries 
might place a strain on the work force, thereby 
jeopardizing the success of the war effort, Mur­
phy responded by pointing out that workers en­
gaged in war-related activities could certainly 
have been exempted from jury service. But it was 
the government's argument concerning the threat 
of possible jury subversion which elicited Mur­
phy's full fury. The lower court had accepted the 
military's position that jurors of Japanese descent 
might seek to disrupt the peace of the Islands if 
provided the opportunity; because citizens of 
Japanese extraction could not constitutionally be 
excluded fromjuries on the basis of their national 
origin, the lower court had upheld the military 
trials . Justice Murphy was outraged at such 
court-sanctioned action, and reacted accord­
ingly: 

The implication apparently is that persons of 
Japanese descent , including those of American 
background and training, are of such doubtful 
loyalty as a group as to constitute a menace jus­
tifying the denial of the procedural rights of all 
accused persons in Hawaii . It is also implied that 
persons of Japanese descent are unfit for jury duty 
in Hawaii and that the problems arising when 
they do serve on juries are so great as to warrant 
dispensing with the entire jury system in Hawaii 
if the military so desires. 24 

Noting the total lack of any factual basis for such 
a claim and the total absence of any recorded acts 
of sabotage or espionage by persons of Japanese 
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jescent in the Hawaiian Islands , Justice Murphy 
:ontinued: 

Especia.lly deplorable, however, is this use of the 
iniquitous doctrine of racism to justify the impo­
sition of military trials. Racism has no place 
whatever in our civilization. The Constitution as 
well as the conscience of mankind disclaims the 
use for any purpose, military or otherwise . It can 
only result , as it does in this instance, in striking 
down individual rights and in aggravating rather 
than solving the problems toward which it is di­
rected. It renders impotent the ideal of the dignity 
of the human personality, destroying something 
of what is noble in our way of life. We must 
therefore reject it completely whenever. it arises 
in the course of a legal proceed ing. 2, 

[he complete failure of the government to pre­
,ent any evidence whatsoever to support its claim 
hat Japanese jurors might be less loyal than na­
:ive American jurors convinced Justice Murphy 
:hat racism, and not the national defense, ac­
ually provided the true rational for the military's 
lctions. He does not hesitate to make that con­
;Iusion known. 

Undoubtedly, Justice Murphy'S style rather 
:han his reasoning leaves the greater impression 
)n the reader. Immediately aware of the blunt , 
!xpressive language of Justice Murphy's denun­
: iation of the government's position , he may lose 
light of the traditional legal arguments underly­
ing the emotion-filled rhetoric. Without doubt, 
:he opinion is an unrelenting assault on the gov­
!rnment's defense of what Murphy considered a 
;imple case of blatant racism, but it is also a 
: arefully reasoned argument based on clear legal 
precedents and established constitutional doc-
lrines. \ 

Two other cases involving racial discrimina­
lion against the Japanese on the West Coast reveal 
1 similiar style, and support the conclusion that 
fustice Murphy relied on more than personal 
predilections in arriving at his conclusions . Both 
deal with California statutes challenged by per­
mns of Japanese ancestry as discriminatory and 
unconstitutional. In both , the majority opinion 
failed to confront squarely the constitutional 
question of racial discrim ination , resulting in 
;everal scathing dissents, and two important 
:oncurring opinions from Justice Murphy. 

Oyama v. California 26 involved a challenge to 
:he constitutionality of California's Alien Land 
Law, which provided that aliens ineligible for 
A.merican citizenship were forbidden to acquire, 
Jwn, lease, or transfer agricultural property in 

the state . The Act also created a presumption 
against the validity of any transfer of agricultural 
land for which the price of the transfer was paid 
by an ineligible alien. The penalty for violation 
of the Act was escheat of the property to the state 
as of the date of the attempted transfer. Petition­
ers Fred Oyama and his father, Kajiro Oyama, 
challenged the statute as a violation of their con­
stitutionally protected guarantee to equal protec­
tion of the law. In 1934, when his son was six 
yeau's of age, the senior Oyama had purchased six 
acres of agricultural land in southern California 
which he had deeded to his son. A second parcel 
was purchased in 1937 by Fred Oyama with the 
purchase price provided by his father. In 1942, 
both Oyamas were removed from California as 
part of the Japanese relocation plan approved by 
President Roosevelt to assure the safety of the 
Pacific coast states. In 1944, California peti­
tioned the ·tate court· to declare the Oyamas in 
violation of the Alien Land Law, thereby vesting 
title to the property in the state as provided by the 
escheat provision of the Act. The California trial 
court held that both purchases had been made 
with intent to violate the Act, and held that the 
property had esc heated to the state as of the dates 
of the respective transfers . 

In an opinion written by Chief Justice Vinson, 
the Su preme Court invalidated that portion of the 
Alien Land Law which created a presumption 
against the validity of certain transfers of agricul­
tural land. In the opinion of the majority, such a 
presumption violated the equal protection guar­
antee of the Fourteenth Amendment, as well as a 
federal statute establishing the right of all citi­
zens to own and hold real property. By choosing 
to reverse the California decision on this ground , 
the majority avoided the more unpleasant task of 
passing on the validity of the Alien Land Law 
itself as applied to ineligible aliens . Two dissent­
ing opinions were filed in Oyama. 27 Each ex­
pressed doubt as to the soundness of the ma­
jority's reasoning; both questioned the majority's 
decision to reach a result in the spec ific case 
without addressing and resolving the larger un­
derlying constitutional issue. The dissents called 
the attention of the entire Court and the nation to 
the evasive nature of the majority opinion, and 
the importance of the issue which it avoided. 

Justice Black and Justice Murphy wrote con­
curring opinions which expressed their uncom­
fortable acquiescence in the decision of the 
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Court. Their opinions reveal their need to con­
front the question of racial discrimination di ­
rectly. Justice Black 's opinion stated that he 
would have preferred the Court to have invali­
dated the California judgment on the broader 
ground that the Alien Land Law itself violated 
the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth 
Amendment. 28 1 ustice Murphy essentiall y con­
curred with Black's position , but expressed his 
sentiments in more extreme language. In his 
opinion, the California statute was "nothing 
more than an o'utright racial discrimination." 29 

Yet, Murphy's opinion was more than an angry 
denunciation of the Californ ia legislation and 
lower court decision . Using a traditional tool of 
legal analysis , he undertook to trace the Land 
Law's history from its original enactment in 1913 
through its re-enactment in 1920 to its application 
in the 1940 's. He found that the California Alien 
Land Law had been " spawned of the great anti­
Oriental virus," which the Justice concluded , 
had" infected many persons in that state . "30 In 
outlining the history of Oriental immigration to 
the West Coast from the mid-1800's to the 1940's , 
Murphy highlighted the social, eC0nomic and 
po litical antagonisms which fed the flames of 
racism: 

The intention of those responsible for the 1913 
law was plain . The "J apanese menace" was to be 
dealt with on a racial basis. The immediate pur­
pose, of course, was to ' restrict Japanese farm 
competition .. . . The more basic purpose of the 
statute was to irritate the Japanese, to make eco­
nomic life in California as uncomfortable and 
unprofitable for them as lega ll y possible. It was 
thus but a step in the long campaign to discourage 
the Japanese from entering California and to 
driv~out those already there. 31 

His examination of public discussion concerning 
the Jaw prior to its re-enactment in 1920 provided 
considerable support for his contention that the 
law primarily reflected racial hatred . The Cali­
fornia media had universally depicted the Japa­
nese as "degenerate mongrels" and had urged 
voters to save California, the "White Man's 
Paradise," from the "yeJlow peril." Certain pa­
pers even went so far as to claim that the Japanese 
birth rate was so high that the white majority 
would be eroded and eventually replaced in the 
state. Other articles called attention to the 
meager standard of living of the Japanese, and 
cautioned voters not to allo'w these immigrants to 
endanger the social health of the community. 32 

Having effectively established the political envi­
ronment which supported passage of the Alien 
Land Law in 1920, 1ustice Murphy concluded 
his historical review with the following observa­
tion : 

The Alien Land Law, in short, was designed to 
effectuate a purely racial discrimination, to pro­
hibit a Japanese alien from owning or using ag­
ricultural land solely because he is a Japanese 
alien . It is rooted deeply in racial , economic and 
social antagonisms. The question confronting us 
is whether such a statute, viewed against the 
background of racism, can mount the hurdle of 
the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth 
Amendment. Can a state disregard in this manner 
the historic ideal that those within the borders of 
this nat ion are not to be denied rights and 
privileges because they are of a particular race?33 

As in Duncan, Murphy dealt with each of the 
numerous arguments presented in support of the 
Law 's constitutionality, rejecting emphatically 
the notion that they were anything but an obvious 
attempt to disguise the Law's patent unconstitu­
tionality. In a straightforward manner, he consid­
ered and disposed of each claim that the Law 
created a reasonable classification which could 
be upheld as valid by the Court. Murphy rejected 
the argument that all the state had done was to 
incorporate the language of a federal law estab­
lishing who might become a naturalized citizen, 
stating that California's decision to borrow the 
federal classification did not exempt it from the 

Associate Justice Frank Murphy 
his death on July 19, 1949 at the age oj 59. 
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obligation of justifying the constitutionality of its 
use in the California statute. Demonstrating less 
patience with the claim that eligibility for 
American citizenship was inherently related to 
loyal allegiance and the desire to work for the 
success and welfare of the state, Justice Murphy 
asserted that loyalty and the desire to work for 
the welfare of the state were individual rather 
than group characteristics: 

An ineligible alien mayor may not be loyal; he 
mayor may not wish to work for the success and 
welfare of the state or nation. But the same can be 
said of an alien or a natural born citizen. It is the 
essense of nai"vete to insist that these desirable 
characteristics are always to be lacking in a ra­
cially ineligible alien, whose ineligibility may be 
remedied tomorrow by Congress. 34 

To the assertion that ineligible aliens might ac­
quire every foot of land in California fit for ag­
riculture, Murphy convincingly rei ied on statis­
tical data to refute the claim, and to demonstrate 
the absence of any factual foundation for such an 
assertion. He cited the fact that less than 0.7 
percent of California 's agricultural land was held 
by Japanese-Americans in 1940 , making highly 
unlikely the possibility that a majority of such 
land would ever be controlled by ineligible 
aliens. Murphy also rei ied on statistical evidence 
to demolish the argument that Japanese aliens 
might someday "take over" California ifnot ac­
tively discouraged. After presenting a statisti­

cally generated profile of the Japanese popula­
tion in California, which very effectively de­
stroyed any legitimate basis for concern, Mur­
phy concluded: 

Such is the nature of the group to whom Califor­
nia would deny the right to own and occupy ag­
ricultural land. These elderly individuals , who 
have resided in this country for at least twenty­
three years and who are constantly shrinking in 
number, are said to constitute a menace, a "yel­
low peril," to the welfare of California. They are 
said to be encroaching on the agricultural inter­
ests of American citizens. They are sa id to 
threaten to lake over all the rich farm land in 
California. They are said to be so efficient that 
Americans cannot compete with them. They are 
sa id to be so disloyal and so undesirous of work­
ing for the welfare of the state that they must be 
denied the right to earn a living by farming. The 
mere statement of these contentions in the context 
of the actual situation is enough to demonstrate 
their shallowness and unreality. The existence of 
a few thousand aging residents, possessing no 
racial characteristic dangerous to the legitimate 
interests of California, can hardly justify a racial 
discrimination of the type here involved a5 

Murphy's ironic tone continued as he expressed 
his incredulity that California could actually at­
tempt to justify the Law on the grounds that it 
was necessary to protect native American farm­
ers: 

It would indeed be strange if effic iency in agricul­
tural production were to be considered a rational 
basis for denying one the right to engage in that 
production. Certainly from a constitutional 
standpoint, superiority in efficiency and produc­
tivity has never been thought to justify discrimi­
nation. 36 

Having disposed of the major contentions offered 
in support of the Law's constitutionality, Justice 
Murphy summed up his opposition to tile host of 
racially motivated innuendos and slurs which 
characterized California's defense of its discrim­
inatory legislation: 

CloselY knit with the foregoing are a host of other 
contentions which make no pretense at conceal­
ing racial bigotry and which have been used so 
successfully by proponents and supporters of the 
Alien Land Law. These relate to the alleged dis­
loyalty, clannishness, inability to assimilate , ra­
cial inferiority and racial undesirability of the 
Japanese, whether citizen or aliens. The misrep­
resentauons, half-truths and distortions which 
mark such contentions have been exposed many 
times and need not be repeated here . 37 

Justice Murphy referred the reader to his dissent­
ing opinion in Korematsu v. United States 38 for a 

fuller summary of his rejection of the racially 
motivated charges levelled against the Japanese 

by residents of the West Coast. 
Another case decided during the same term as 

Oyama presented an issue of racially motivated 
discrimination. Takahashi v. Fish & Game 
Commission 39 involved a California statute 
which forbade the issuance of commercial fish­
ing licenses to aliens ineligible for naturaliza­
tion. Takahashi , a lapanese alien who had re­
sided in California for nearly forty years, applied 
for a license in 1945; his application was denied 
solely On the grounds that he did not qualify for 
naturalization. He brought suit against the 
Commission challenging the statute's constitu­
tionality. The decision of the Superior Court of 
Los Angeles holding the statute violative of the 
equal protection clause of the Fourteenth 
Amendment was reversed by the California Su­
preme Court on the theory that the State enjoyed 
a proprietary interest in ocean fish sufficient to 
justify such regulation. 
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The Supreme Court of the United States, in an 
opinion by Justice Black, held that the statute 
denied aliens the equal protection of the law as 
guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment of the 
Constitution. Relying upon the Court's holding 
in Trauz v. Raich,40 Justice Black argued that 
classifications which discriminated could be up­
held as constitutionally valid only if shown to be 
reasonably rel ated to some special state interest. 
He rejected California's attempt to distinguish its 
discriminatory classification from the Arizona 
employment law which had been held uncon­
stitutional in Traux . The Court found it unneces ­
sary to respond to Takahashi's allegation that the 
California law had been enacted, not to conserve 
fish, but to antagonize the Japanese aliens who 
earned their livelihoods as fishermen; the Court 
refused to pass on the motives which might have 
prompted the California state legislature, con­
cluding that concern over fish conservation or 
regulation of commericial fishing activities could 
have provided sufficient motivation for the legis­
lation under review. 

Justice Murphy took a different view, which he 
expressed characteristically in hi concurring 
opinion. Since "even the most cursory examina­
tion of the background of the statute demon­
strates that it was designed solely to discriminate 
against"4oa Japanese aliens, Murphy was en­

raged that the issue of racial discrimination could 
be ignored in the majority's opinio ri.~ As in his 
Oyama concurrence, Justice Murphy pierced the 
thin facade of legal argument presented in de­
fense of the legisl,,:tion, exposing to close scru­
tiny once again the noxious motive of racial 
hatred lurking just under the surface. Although 
his method was careful and considered, his lan­
guage revealed his simmering anger. He pointed 
to the obvious charade attempted by California in 
trying to cloak repugnant and unlawful racial 
discrimination through a legislative act which 
appeared benign on its face. He called attention 
to the fact that the legislation under review had 
originally denied licenses only to Japanese 
aliens, but had been amended by a committee of 
the California legislature organized to deal with 
the Japanese resettlement which was concerned 
that the statute might be held unconstitutional. 
The committee's report forthrightly stated that 
potential legal problems could be eliminated by 
amending the statute to include all ineligible 
aliens . Murphy further documented that the re-

vised statute was enacted even though there was 
an acknowledged need to increase rather than 
diminish the annual fish catch . Taken together. 
the facts established convincingly that fish con­
servation had very little to do with the discrimi­
natory legislation. For Justice Murphy, at least , 
the evidence was overwhelming and the conclu­
sion clear. The California law denied aliens 
commercial fishing rights not because they 
threatened any conservation program, or because 
their fishing activities presented any danger to 
the welfare of either state on nation. As Murphy 
concluded , they had been discriminated against 
solely because they were of "Japanese stock, a 
stock which has had the misfortune to arouse 
antagonism among certain powerful inter­
ests. " 41 

Conclusion 

In the cases discussed above in which Justice 
Murphy felt it necessary to write a separate con­
curring opinion, sufficient proof is provided to 
call into question the allegation that he knew 
nothing of legal analysis . or did not care . Al­
though the language of his opinions carried un­
concealed emotion, the underlying reasoning 
was generally quite solid. He relied on legal 
precedent, and looked to legislative history for 
clarification of legislative purpose. 

In Duncan, Murphy employed the principle 
which lies at the heart of the common law system 
of jurisprudence: a prior decision controls where 
the facts of the present care are legally indistin­
guishable from those of that prior case. He 
applies that principle with thoroughness , consid­
ering with care each factual difference offered by 
the party seeking to escape application of the 
prior rule, evaluating each difference in the light 
of realistic common sense to see if it can be said 
to be legally significant and distinguishing. That 
others might reach different conclusions on the 
significance of those facts in no way undermines 
the precision of Murphy 's analysis. In both 
Oyama and Takahashi, Justice Murphy used ac­
cepted legal techniques to follow the Holmesian 
mandate of careful consideration of statutes chal­
lenged as infringing upon individual liberties . 

Given what cannot be considered an unrea­
sonable judicial method, why was Murphy so 
harshly criticized for his performance as a jus­
tice? Without question, Murphy frequently re-
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fused to be constrained by the conventional wis­
dom that the Court should avoid constitutional 
issues if other grounds existed for disposing of 
the case. Perhaps his failure to acknowledge his 
deviation from that principle, his flair for lan­
guage which appealed to emotion as well as 

logic, his penchant for common-sense argu­
ments, and his frank refusal to countenance 
slight-of-hand legal analysis combined to lead 
many observers to overlook the careful crafts­
manship and thorough analysis which Justice 
Murphy applied to his work on the Court. 
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Franlifurter and the Nazi Saboteurs 
Michal Belknap 

War tests soldiers, and sometimes courts and 
judges too. Although most judicial work has lit­
tle to do with the business of warmaking, occa­
sionally, in the midst of a military conflict, a 
jurist does confront a case spawned by the com­
bat beyond the courtroom. In theory he should 
decide such a case as he would any other raising 
similar legal issues. But because he is human, a 
judge cannot avoid considering how his decision 
might affect the military struggle, and because 
judging offers so few chances to contribute any­
thing to a war effort, he may seize upon such 
litigation as an opportunity to do something for 
the cause. If the matter before him ·s a criminal 
one, the price of judicial patriotism may be re­
duced security for the rights of the accused. 
Nothing better illustrated this than" F. F.'s Solil­
oquy," a document written during World War II 
by Justice Felix Frankfurter of the United States 
Supreme Court. Its few pa·ges reveal · hawkish 
author determined to prevent the reduction of na­
tional morale which he feared might result from 
any decision giving legal and constitutional pro­
tection to criminal defendants who were also 
captured German agents. 

The Frankfurter of "F. F.'s Soliloquy" was a 
judge openly hostile to the accused and man­
ifestly unwilling to afford them procedural safe­
guards. He cared far more that these enemies be 
punished quickly than that they be tried fairly. 
The attitudes which this document reflects are a 
far cry from the "preoccupation with fairness of 
procedure" which Joseph Lash sees as charac­
teristic of Justice Frankfurter. I With respect to 

most cases Lash's assessment is correct, but not 
for those touching upon the World War II military 
effort. 

Frankfurter was normally quite concerned 
about the rights of criminal defendants. If this 
was not always readily apparent, it was because 
his notions about the limited authority which the 

Jus/ice Felix Frank/ur/er (1939-1962). 

Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amend­
ment gave the Supreme Court to reverse state 
convictions tended to obscure his true position. 
Thus , in the infamous Willie Francis case, Jus­
tice Frankfurter cast the crucial fifth vote which 
allowed Louisiana to send back to the electric 
chair a man who, because of an equipment mal­
function, had survived its first attempt to execute 
him . Frankfurter's reason was that unless the 
conduct involved offended a principle of justice 
' rooted in the traditions and conscience of our 
people, ' "this Court must abstain from inter­
ference with State action no matter how strong 
one's personal feeling of revulsion against a 
State's insistence on its pound of flesh ." 2 His 
stand in this case was a matter of constitutional 
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rinciple rather than mere callous disregard for 
le plight of the defendant, as he demonstrated 
y persuading a Harvard Law School classmate 
Iho was practicing law in New Orleans to seek 
xecutive clemency for Francis. 3 Frankfurter 's 
iews concerning the limited role of the Supreme 
:ourt in state criminal cases also explain his 
villingness to permit the use in them of illegally 
,btained evidence which , as a strong proponent 
,f the Fourth Amendment, he insisted upon ex­
luding from federal trials. 4 

When not restrained by his conception of the 
cope of Fourteenth Amendment Due Process , 
ustice Frankfurter frequently did display the 
'high and fastidious regard for the administra­
ion of criminal justice" which he had acquired 
!arly in his career while serving on the staff of 
Henry L. Stimson, then U. S . Attorney for the 
)outhern District of New York. When reviewing 
'ederal rather than state convictions , Frankfurter 
felt no compUlsion to uphold them just because 
:hey were constitutional. As far as he was con­
:erned , in exercising its supervisory authority 
;)Ver criminal justice in the lower federal courts, 
the Supreme Court could establish and maintain 
;tandards of procedure and evidence consid­
~rably higher than those which would satisfy 
'1lere due process . 6 Not only could the Court do 
;0, it should, for " The history of liberty has 
largely been the history of the observance of pro­
:edural safeguards." 7 In cases involving the 
failure of federal officers to bring arrested sus­
pects promptly before a magistrate, Frankfurter 
wrote opinions reversing the convictions, and 
when a majority of his colleagues aeclined to 
upset a contempt of Congress verdict against a 
Communist defendant returned by a Washington 
jury that included federal employees subject to 
the government's anti-Communist loyalty­
security program, he entered a vigorous dissent. 8 

Frankfurter did read narrowly some criminal jus­
tice provisions of the Bill of Rights-such as the 
double jeopardy and self-incrimtnation clauses 
of the Fifth Amendment-and he did resist the 
extension of these provisions beyond what ap­
peared to him to be their historic meaning . 9 But, 
as Lash says, "Frankfurter's concern with the 
integrity of the judicial process cannot be over­
stressed ... . " 10 

This concern accounts for his readiness, in the 
years before he joined the Court , to intervene in 
controversial cases involving unpopular defend-

ants , many of them political radicals. Frank­
furter sought justice for Tom Mooney and pub­
lished an article and a book branding the trial of 
Sacco and Vanzetti a judicial lynching. With 
Harvard's famed civil libertarian, Zechariah 
Chafee , Jr. , he appeared as amicus curiae in a 
hearing for aliens arrested during the Palmer 
raids. After convincing the federal district court 
in Boston that the rights of those prisoners had 
been trampled upon, Frankfurter and his associ­
ate joined with ten other prominent lawyers to 
publish in the scathing Report on the Illegal 
Practices of the United States Department of Jus­
tice the damning evidence of abuses they had un­
covered. Later as a judge , Frankfurter continued 
to stress the importance of safeguarding the 
rights of defendants who belonged to unpopular 
minorities, remarking, in a case involving a 
member of the Communist Party, "The boast of 
our criminal procedure is that it protects an ac­
cused , so far as legal procedure can, from a bias 
operating against such a group to which he be­
longs . "1 2 "It is a fair summary of history to 
say," he once observed, "that the safeguards of 
liberty have frequently been forged in controver­
sies involving not very nice people." 13 

Although Frankfurter 's attachment to such 
views was strong , it was not powerful enough to 
withstand the winds of war. During the early 
1940s he subordinated his concern for fair crimi­
nal procedure to a burning desire for successful 
prosecution of World War II . This is not to say 
Justice Frankfurter was a jingo. Although a re­
serve officer who held several important civilian 
posts in the War and Labor Departments during 
World War I , he seems to have regarded that con­
flict as at best a regretable necessity. In April 1917 
Frankfurter wrote to his future wife , Marion 
Denman, that when he saw and talked with the 
Harvard students who were donning military uni­
forms, "the sense of all the dislocating force of 
war rushes in on me , the vast tragic irrelevance of 
it to all that should be life, and I have no patience 
at all with those who see in a war a great moral 
purgative. " 14 But the global conflict of the 1940s 
awakened different emotions. To Frankfurter, a 
European-born Jew, Hitlerism seemed particu­
larly menacing. He viewed it as a threat to the 
American democratic fellowship and to all 
civilized values . 15 The fight against the Axis was 
for him "a war to save civilization itself from 
submergence. " 16 
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This burning commitment to the crusade 
against Hitler and his allies affected Frank­
furter's judicial decision making. The best 
known and most controversial product of his 
heightened wartime patriotism was the majority 
opinion in Minersville School District v. Gobi/is, 
a case in which the Supreme Court upheld the 
right of school officials to compel Jehovah 's Wit­
nesses children to salute the flag, despite the 
conflict between that practice and their religious 
beliefs . 17 This opinion relied heavily upon the 
rationale of judicial restraint, as did another that 
Frankfurter wrote accepting the right of the ex­
ecutive, under the war power and a statute opera­
tive only during a declared war, to expel a Ger­
man alien from the country several months after 
the fighting ended. IS But more than his convic­
tion that judges should not substitute their policy 
views for those of the people's elected repre­
sentatives determined Frankfurter's position in 
World War II cases. He considered what was at 
stake in Gobitis "an interest inferior to none in 
the hierarchy of legal values." Local school offi­
cials could make children salute the flag because 
"National unity is the basis of national secu­
rity." 19 

A judge who could allow his enthusiasm for a 
war to carry him to such a conclusion was likely 
to applaud even more loudly a legal action by a 
coord inate branch of the national government di­
rected not at infant nonconformists qat at actual 
agents of the Nazi enemy. During the summer of 
1942 a case arising out of such a prosecution 
came before Frankfurter and his colleagues. The 
defendants were eight German agents, all former 
residents of the United States, who had returned 
to this country on a sabotage mission. Two of 
them soon betrayed the others, and the FBI 
quickly rounded up the entire group. Deter­
mined to see these would-be saboteurs executed, 
President Franklin Roosevelt created a special 
military commission to try them . But their army 
lawyers, convinced that under the Supreme 
Court's 1866 decision in Ex parte Milligan they 
were entitled to a civilian trial, sought writs of 
habeus corpus from the Court. 20 Assembling for 
a dramatic special session on 30-31 July 1942, the 
Court heard oral arguments in the case, then 
quickly rejected the saboteurs' petitionsY 

Not until October, however, did it publish an 
opinion explaining its decision. In the meantime 
the justices exchanged ideas about how to justify 

the ruling they had already made. It was during 
this period that Frankfurter drafted the fancifu l 
exchange between himself and the saboteurs 
which he entitled" F F 's Soliloquy." In it he ex­
pressed views more reflective of his feelings 
about the war than his normal concern with en­
suring procedural fairness for even the most un­
popular defendants. 

Much of his fictional dialogue with the Nazis 
concerns the applicability to their case of articles 
46 and 50if2 of the Articles of War, statutory 
provisions laying down procedures for review of 
the proceedings of military commissions. These 
proved a particularly thorny problem for the 
Court, as counsel for the saboteurs had a more 
persuasive argument on this issue than did the 
government. The order creating the body thai 
tried the German agents rather clearly did nol 
comply with the requirements of these articles . Jj 

they applied to the saboteur case, then those six 
of the eight defendants who were already dead 
when Frankfurter wrote had been executed illeg­
ally. For this reason he and his colleagues, in the 
letters and memoranda which they exchanged, 
devoted substantial attention to articles 46 and 
50 1h. 

Exactly how many of the other justices reac 
Frankfurter's fictional exchange with the sab· 
oteurs on this and other issues is not entirely cer­
tain. But copies of "FF's Soliloquy " are pre· 
served in both the Hugo Black Papers at th( 
Manuscript Division of the Library of Congres~ 
and the Frank Murphy Collection of the Bentle) 
Historical Library at the University of Michigan. 
Accompanying the Murphy copy is a typec 
memo which reads: "Brethren: I give this to yO! 
with affection and respect. F F" Apparentl) 
then, even if some of them never saw it 
Frankfurter at least intended the documen 
below to be read by all of his colleagues. 22 

"F F 's Soliloquy" 

After listening as hard as I could to the view~ 
expressed by the Chief Justice and Jackson abou, 
the Saboteur case problems a/ the last Confer· 
ence, and thinking over what/hey said as intelli· 
gently as I could, I could not for the life of me !Uu. 
enough room in the legal differences beLWeer 
them /0 insert a rawr blade. And now come~ 
Jackson's memorandum expressing what he be· 
lieves to be views other than / hose contained in tlu 
Chief Justice 's opinion. 23 I have now studied a~ 
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hard as I could the printed formulations of their 
views -and I still can't discover what divides them 
so far as legal significance is concerned. A nd so I 
say to myself that words must be poor and 
treacherous means of putting out what goes on 
inside our heads. Being puzzled by what seem to 
me to be merely verbal differences in expressing 
intrinsically identic views about the governing 
legal principles, I thought I would state in my own 
way what have been my views on the issues in the 
Saboteur cases ever since my mind came to rest 
upon them. And perhaps I can do it with least 
misunderstanding if I put it in the. form of a 
dialogue -a dialogue between the saboteurs and 
myselfas to what I, as ajudge, should do in acting 
upon their claims: 

Saboteurs: Your Honor, we are here to get a writ of 
habeas corpus from you. 

F. F.: What entitles you to it? 
Saboteurs: We are being tried by a Military Commis­

sion set up by the President although we were 
arrested in places where, and at a time when, the 
civil courts were open and functioning with full 
authority and before which, therefore, under the 
Constitution of the United States we were enti­
tled to be tried with all the safeguards for crim inal 
prosecutions in the federal co urts. 2. 

F. F.: What is the answer of the Provost Marshal to 
your petition? 

Saboteurs: The facts in the case are agreed to in a 
stipulation before Your Honor. 

F. F. (after reading the stipulation): You damned 
scoundrels have a helluvacheek to ask for a writ 
that would take you out of the hands of the Mil i­
tary Commission and give you the right to be 
tried, if at all , in a federal district court. You are 
just low-down , ordinary, enemy spies who, as 
enemy soldiers , have invaded our country and 
therefore could immcdiately have been shot by 
the military when caught in the act f invasion . 25 
Instead you were humanely ordered to be tried by 
a military tribunal convoked by the Commander­
in-Chief himself, and the verdict of that tribunal 
is returnable to the Commander-in·Chief himself 
to be acted upon by himself. To utilize a military 
commission to establish your guilt or innocence 
was plainly within the authority of the 
Commander-in·Chief. I do not have to say more 
than that Congress specifically has authorized the 
President to establish such a Commission in the 
circumstances of your case and the President 
himself has purported to act under this authority 
of Congress as expressed by the Articles of 
War.26 So I will deny your writ and leave you to 
your just deserts with the military. 

Saboteurs: But, Your Honor, since as you say the 
President himsel f professed to act under the Arti­
cles of War, we appeal to those Articles of War as 
the governing procedure, even bowing to your 
ruling that we are not entitled to be tried by civil 
courts and may have our I ives declared forfeit by 
this Military Commission . Specifically, we say 
that since the President has set up this Commis-

Justice Frank/urter off/he bench. 

sion under the Articles of War he must conform to 
them. He has certainly not done so in that the 
requirements of Articles 46-50'h have been and 
are being disregarded by the McCoy tribunal. 27 

F. F.: There is nothing to that point either. The Articles 
to which YOU appeal do not restrict the President 
in relation to a Military Commission set up for 
the purposes of and in the circumstances of this 
case. That amply disposes of your point. In 
lawyer's language , a proper construction of Arti­
cles 46-5017 does not cover this case and there­
fore on the merits you have no rights under it. So I 
don't have to consider whether, assuming Con­
gress had specifically required .the President in 
establishing such a Commission to give you the 
procedural safeguards of Articles 46-5017, Con­
gress would have gone beyond its job and taken 
over the business of the President as 
Commander-in-Chief in the actual conduct of a 
war. You 've done enough mischief already with· 
out leaving the seeds of a bitter conflict involving 
the President, the courts and Congress after your 
bodies will be rotting in lime . It is a wise re­
quirement of co urts not to get into needless rows 
with the other branches of the government by 
talking about things that need not be talked about 
if a case can be disposed of with intellectual se l f· 
respect on grounds that do not raise such rows . I 
therefore do not propose to be seduced into in· 
quiring what powers the President has or has not 
got, what limits the Congress mayor may not put 
upon the Commander·in-Chief in time of war, 
when, as a matter of fact , the ground on which 
you claim to stand-namely, the proper construc­
tion of these Articles of War-exists only in your 
foolish fancy. That disposes of you scoundrels . 
Doubtless other judges may spell this out with 
appropriate doc umenta tion and learning . Some 
judges would certainly express their views much 
more politely and charmingly than I have done , 
some would take a lot of words to say it , and 
some would take not so many, but it all comes 
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Major General Myron C. Cramer, Judge AdvtJr.ate General, preseflls evidence at the military trial of the eight Na zi saboteurs. 

down to what I have told you . In a nutshell , the 
President has the power, as he said he had, to set 
lip the tribunal which he has set up to try you as 
invading German bell igerents for the offenses for 
which you are being tried. And for you there are 
no procedural rights such as you claim because 
the statute to which you appeal- the Articles of 
War-don't apply to you . And so you will re­
main in your present custody and be damned. 

Some of the very best lawyers I know are now in 
the Solomon Island battle, some are seeing serv­
ice in Australia, some are sub-chasers in the At­
lantic, and some are on the various air fronts . It 
requires no poet's imagination to think of their 
reflections if the unanimous result reached by us in 
these cases should be expressed in opinions which 
would black out the agreement in result and reveal 
internecine conflict about the manner of stating 
that result . I know some of these men, very, very 
intimately. I think I know what they would deem to 

be the governing canons of constitutional adjudi­
cation in a case like this. And I almost hear their 
voices were they to read more than a single opin­
ion in this case. They would say something like 
this but in language hardly becoming a judge's 
tongue: "What in hell do you fellows think you are 
doing? Haven 't we got enough of a job trying to 
lick the Japs and Nazis without having youfellows 
on the Supreme Court dissipate the thoughLs and 
feelings and energies of the folks at home by stir­
ring up a nice row as to who has what power when 
all of you are agreed that the President had the 
power to establish this Commission and that the 
procedure under the Articles of War for courts 
martial and military commission doesn 't apply to 
this case. Haven'l you got any more sense than to 
get people by the ear on one of the fa vori Ie Ameri­
can pastimes-abstract constitutional discussions. 
Do we have to have another Lincoln-Taney row 
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when everybody is agreed and in this particular 
case the constitutional questions aren't reached. 
Just relax and don't be too engrossed in your own 
interest in verbalistic conflicts because the In-

roads on energy and national unity that such con­
flict inevitably produce, is a pastime we had better 
postpone until peacetime." 
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Hugo Black: A Memorial Portrait 
Elizabeth S. Black ' 

I think it a noble and pious thing to do whatever we 
may by wrillen word and molded bronze and sculptured 
stone to keep our numories, our reverence, and our 
love alive and to hand them 011 to new generatiolls all 
/00 ready to forget. 

-Oliver Wendell Holmes, Jr., At the unveiling of 
Memorial Tablets at fpswich , 1902. t 

Introduction 

Alan Westin's book An Autobiography of the 
Supreme Court I gives its reader an informal pic­
ture of the growth and developmen~ of the Su­
preme Court through the words of the justices 
themselves. We are allowed to listen in to a col­
lection of select out-of-cou"rt commentary: vari­
ous speeches, letters, memoirs , and the like­
chance utterances tracing the history of the Court 
from 1790 to 1961. The canvas is rich. Ifincludes 
John Marshall's newspaper defense of M'Cul­
loch v. Maryland,2 published under the Great 
Chief's pen name "A Friend to the Union." 
Holmes is in the book; and Hughes; and Warren 
-giants all . So is Felix Frankfurter: represented 
by his address on The Process of Judging in Con­
stitutional Cases, 3 delivered before the American 
Philosophical Society in 1954. Justice Douglas 
follows Frankfurter - they are back to back in 
the book - with a few thoughts of his own on 
Judicial Review and the Protection of LibeJY' 4 

And Mr. Justice Black makes a double ~pear­

ance on the pages of this book. His J am~ Madi­
son Lecture, The Bill of Rights (1960),5 is in­
cluded. So is his public interview with Edmond 
Cahn . This latter occasion was a rare event in the 
life of the Court. Never before had a justice 
opened himself so widely to questioning in pub­
lic. The interview was unrehearsed and later pub­
lished, without prior submission of the transcript 
for approval, under the title Justice Black and 

First Amendment "Absolutes" : A Public Inter­
view (1962) .6 

Hugo BlaCI\:, it appears, could be persuaded to 
talk in publicJ\bout his views and his work on the 
Court. But it took time, lots of time . If a family 
member favored the idea, especially his wife­
first Josephine,7 then Elizabeth - the chances 
were good that Justice Black would eventually 
give in. 

It is recorded elsewhere that Elizabeth "con­
spired to get him to break his long-standing rule 
of not speaking out on constitutional issues" en 
route to the Carpentier Lectures at Columbia in 
1968 .8 Hugo Lafayette Black's A Constitutional 
Faith saves these lectures in imperishable form , 
between the covers of a book. 

But the idea of a television interview, unre­
hearsed and to be shown to miIJions of Ameri­
cans, struck Hugo Black cold. "Judges should 
stay off television," 9 was his immediate reac­
tion. It took years to talk him into it. According 
to Frances Lamb, Justice Black's secretary dur­
ing September 1968 when the film was made , 
"Martin Agronsky, Elizabeth , and I twisted the 
Judge 's arm for five years-maybe longer." 10 

According to Hugo Black himself: "Elizabeth 
is entitled to much of whatever credit is due for 
my granting the interview. She began urging that 
I do a television program very shortly after she 
arrived in Washington thirteen years ago . Finally 
I reached the conclusion that there was no way to 
escape her constant importunities except to yield 
- therefore the program. One further statement 
should be made and that is that it became more 
difficult to deny her any request with each pas­
sing day and year." 11 

Here is the story of the CBS interview from the 
pen of a co-conspirator in the plot. It is offered by 
one who cares for the Court and for its history 
and by one who loved Hugo Black. 
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Elizabeth Black was firstJustice B lack's secre­
tary, from March 1956 to September 1957 ,12 and 
then his wife for fourteen years . She added gold 
to the sunset. 

It was said of Boswell that he was curator of 
Johnson's memory. 13 So Jet it be said of Eliza­
beth Black, who for some twenty-five years now 
has sought to preserve Hugo Black's memory. 
What follows is one chapter of Elizabeth 's mem­
oir, to be published in due course. 14 This latest 
installment includes material never before made 
public . Here are excerpts from the sound record ­
ings of the interview not used on the television 
broadcast. 15 Here too are excerpts from Hugo 
Black's letters l6 to friends and strangers alike 
about the talk they heard that eventful evening in 
December 1968. 

Elizabeth Black 's account throws new light 
upon the mind and personality of Hugo Black . It 
invites you to see this man for yourself. 

Whether we shall see another interview like 
Justice Black 's is uncertain. 17 Speaking as a 
teacher, I am glad to have Hugo Black come to 
class . I S Legal education, it seems to me, also has 
its claims . 

"Who could resist the inspiration of the magic 
by which light and sound were converted into 
some other essence, instantaneously transported, 
and made permanent upon a tiny celluloid 
strip? " 19 Who could resist the humanity of Hugo 
Black? His is a heritage worth remembering. 

Paul R . Baier** 
Professor of Law 
Louisiana State University 

Martin Agronsky sowed the seeds for the 
interview Hugo Black and the Bill of Rights back 
in 1957 when I was working for Hugo as his 
secretary. He and Eric Sevareid finally com­
pleted it for Columbia Broadcasting System in 
1968 . Periodically, Martin would call Hugo on 
the telephone to boost the idea. Later, Martin 
came to the office, and while waiting for Hugo to 
see him, enlisted my help in getting Hugo to 
consent. After I married Hugo in 1957, Martin 
asked Frances Lamb, my successor as secretary, 
to speak a good word to Hugo now and then on 
behalf of the project. It didn't take much to get 
my help, nor Frances' , because we were both 

enthusiastic about having Hugo do the program. 
Hugo always shied away from television, yet I 
thought it would be a shame for future law stu­
dents and citizens not to have the opportunity to 
see and to hear the eloquence and sincerity of 
Hugo, whose opinions had made such an impact 
on the law of the land. 

In November of 1964, through Martin's con­
tinuing persistence, Hugo agreed that he and I 
would go to dinner with the Agronskys and the 
Fred Friendlys, the latter being Executive Pro­
ducer of CBS Reports at that time. Accordingly, 
the Friendlys flew down from New ·York to talk 
about the project. They and the Agronskys took 
us to dinner at the Hay Adams Hotel. At the end 
of the meal, Friendly asked Hugo about doing a 
conversational interview with Agronsky for 
CBS, to be used according to Hugo's desire , 
either immediately, or at Hugo 's retirement, or at 
some other time in the future - whatever Hugo 
decided. He and Martin urged that it would have 
been so fine had John Marshall, Abraham Lin­
coln, and other historic figures been interviewed 
on video tape. How instructive to students of this 
age to have such tapes . If Hugo would agree to do 



74 YEARBOOK 1982 

it, they said, his tape would be invaluable to 
future generations of law students and legal 
scholars. 

Friendly told Hugo that the conversations with 
Agronsky could be about the Constitution, the 
Bill of Rights, his reminiscences about Alabama, 
campaigning for the Senate, or whatever he 
chose to talk about. I put in an argument that few 
people, especially the young in Alabama, knew 
anything about Hugo's personality. Still, Hugo 
held fast to his view that a sitting justice of the 
Court would db better to stay off television. By 
tradition, the Justices speak only through their 
written opinions, although public appearances 
are not unheard of. 

At any rate, Hugo resisted Friendly and Ag­
ronsky quite well. While he didn't say no , he 
didn't say yes either. He left them hanging. 

Several years passed. Martin's calls, although 
periodic, were getting nowhere with Hugo. Now 
and then Martin would call me at home. "Work 
on him a little bit, " he'd say. I would try my best. 
Eventually, Hugo became annoyed at this and 
told me it would do Martin no good to try to get 
around him through Frances Lamb Qr me. 

In July of 1968, the seeds took sprout and 
started to grow. Imagine my surprise, on coming 
home from a morning of tennis, to have Hugo tell 
me Martin Agronsky was coming out to lunch. In 
a nonchalant way, Hugo said that Martin had 
called and asked him once· more abourthe inter­
view. Hugo replied that if he did it, it should be 
done before the opening of Court in October. I 
was astonished but said nothing. 

Hugo went on to tell me that Martin had asked 
if he could come to lunch and bring a man from 
New York with him . Hugo replied, "No, Martin. 
You come on out today, but come alone. You're a 
married man, and you know better than that." 
Martin came alone. After I joined them, Martin 
received my permission for him to come the next 
day with three men from New York. 

Agronsky stayed until about 5 :00 p. m. , talk­
ing about the possible subjects to discuss in the 
interview. Hugo told him he wanted to do the 
interview spontaneously and unrehearsed, with­
out questions being submitted in advance. He 
also told him he wanted the program filmed in the 
study at home. I had my misgivings. 

The following day, September 14th, Martin 
and three associates came to the house: Burton 
Benjamin, a producer for CBS News; B ill Small , 

Washington Bureau chief; and Eric Sevareid, 
who was to conduct the interview jointly with 
Martin Agronsky. 

A fter lunch they looked over the study. They 
liked the setting, but said it was a bit small for 
three film cameras. However, they believed they 
could do it. Mr. Benjamin walked about, sized 
up the situation, and discussed what furniture 
had to be moved. They wanted to send a crew to 
the house on September 19th to do outside shots 
and to get everything set up for the interview, and 
on September 20th , to walk in promptly at 10:00 
a. m. and start shooting. That meant I had to give 
the study a thorough cleaning. After all, I would 
hate for the world to see cobwebs hanging from 
my ceiling. , 

Meanwhile Martin and Eric talked to Hugo 
about his philosophy. It was a little warm-up ses­
sion to get Hugo in the mood. 

A few days later, the electricians from CBS 
came out. They said we had plenty of juice in the 
basement but they would have to run heavy elec­
tric cables from there to the study, because con­
siderable current would be required to provide 
adequate lighting for the cameras . 

The house was disrupted from then on. Bright 
spotlights were taped on the walls of the study 
close to the ceiling, to give light for the camera, 
yet were strategically placed so as not to shine in 
Hugo's eyes. After two cataract operations, his 
eyes were very sensitive to light. 

Hugo, Jr. , arrived in Washington on business 
during this hectic period. His dad told him about 
the verbal agreement he had with CBS allowing 
him to correct any misstatements or to withhold 
the program entirely. Hugo, Jr., advised him to 
get it in writing. 

On the day of the filming, the first order of 
business for me was, naturally, the beauty parlor. 
In my rush to get out of the house I had the bad 
luck to drop a potted plant on my foot. At the 
time it didn't do much damage except to my 
temper. I returned home at 11:30 a. m. and found 
men swarming all over the place. CBS trucks 
were in great evidence on the street. All the 
neighbors were consumed with curosity, and I 
told one of them what was happening so she 
could pass the word along. There were aboUi 
fifteen men in the study, and most of its furniturt 
had been moved to our bedroom or placed in thE 
hall, making room for all the necessary equip 
ment. Three cameras were set up. The sounc 
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men were jammed into our upstairs batlu-oom, 
sitting around going over their tape machines. 
Cigarette smoke was everywhere. 

I found Hugo sitting disconsolately down­
stairs, fully dressed, with coat and tie, trying to 
read certiorari notes. I felt so helpless that I went 
down and joined him, and we just watched the 
goings-on. 

Mr. Benjamin asked me if [ could induce 
Hugo to playa little tennis for the camera. Hugo 
had steadfastly refused to let anyone take movies 
or pictures of him while playing tennis, but be­
cause he wanted me to get into the act, he agreed. 
Both of us went out to our tennis court at 3 :00 
p.m. They asked for 2:30 p.m., but Hugo per­
versely decided to take a nap first. After they had 
enough pictures, Hugo decided to continue play­
ing for about an hour. By the time we quit, my 
injured foot was giving me fits , so [ had to treat it 
and lie down. 

While I was resting, Hugo followed Hugo, 
Jr. 's , advice and called Martin Agronsky, telling 
him he wanted his right to review the film for 
accuracy put in writing.20 Martin said he would 
try, but in a few minutes called back and told 
Hugo it was not the policy of CBS to put such 
things in writing. Whereupon, Hugo said it was 
not his policy to give an interview without such 
an agreement. It was nip and tuck for a while as 
to whether the interview would proceed at all. 
Meanwhile I was dismayed because all that 
equipment was stacked up against the walls and I 
could not even open a closet door or get into the 
batlu-oom. In about twenty minutes, though , 
Martin caHed back and said CBS had agreed to 
put it in writing. At least this crisis was over. 

I woke up at 3:30 a.m. on Friday, the day of 
the interview, and for the life of me I couldn ' t go 
back to sleep. One might have thought I was the 
one to be interviewed. Hugo slept peacefully on. 
When it was time to get up, my foot was miracu­
lously better, and we dressed. I glanced out the 
window at 7:00 a.m. to see a group of men mill­
ing around our front door waiting to get in. We 

closed the dining room door to give us privacy 
while eating breakfast and sent Lizzie Mae, our 
maid, to let them in. 

At 9:30 a. m. we went up to the study. The 
make-up lady patted a little cake powder onto 
Hugo's face and balding head, and darkened his 
eyebrows a smidgeon. At 10 o'clock Mr. Benja­
min asked Hugo, Jr., and me to sit on the sofa 

across the room from Hugo's desk and out of 
range of the camera. Hugo took his seat behind 
his desk and Martin and Eric sat to the side of 
him, as though they were law clerks. 

Mr. Benjamin from his producer's chair gave 
the order to start. The lights went on, and a cam­
era man ran over in front of Hugo's desk shouting 
"sticks" as he closed them together to indicate 
when a section was beginning for editing pur­
poses. This performance with the sticks amused 
Hugo and he laughed, which gave him a pleasant 
look during the interview. 

The conversation opened with talk about 
Hugo's age-he was then 82-and his health, 
and then quickly turned to tennis and Lo read ing, 
two of Hugo's favorite subjects. 

II 

What.lollows was not used in the interview 
broadcast on television, but it may be of interest 
to Court-watchers and to legal scholars. 21 

Sevareid: Justice Black , you have now reached a very 
great age and you are as young in body and in 
mind as you ever were. What's the secret of all 
that? 

Black: Your premise might not be 100 percent right. I 
might not have aJl I ever had; but I 've done pretty 
well. 

Sevareid: How have you done it? 

Justice Black at work. 
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Justice Black (right Joreground) and Elizabeth Black (center) chat with illterviewers Eric Severaid (far left) and Martill 
Argronsky (second from left) prior to filming , while members oJ the production crew complete their preparations. 

Black: Well, I've done it largely by just trying to live a 
natural, normal life. I take plenty of exercise; 
I've always taken plenty of exercise. That was 
necessary because members of m;y- family 
thought I was the weakest one and that I'd die 
first. For that reason they always said they 
spoiled me a little as a baby. 

Sevareid: Did they tell you that, when you were 
young? 

Black: 0h yes, they thought I might. 
Sevareld: I should think that would give you a com­

plex 10 begin with . 
Black: Didn't give me a bit. I just decided not to be 

that way and 10 go on and live a long life. I began 
to take exercise . 

Agronsky: Mr. Justice, we have watched you play 
tennis. What role does that play? 

Black: It's played a lot. It's good exercise. It's the kind 
of exercise I've taken since I was twenty, in the 
main. I' ve taken exercises on the floor, taken 
exercises in a room, gym, everywhere. I've al­
ways taken .exercises. And I' ve tried not 10 eat 
too much. 

That last line, "I've tried never to eat too 
much," was stated with emphasis. I heard it over 
and over again during our marriage, particularly 
at dinner time. Hugo never let me touch gravy! 

Sevareid: Mr. Justice , as I read your life story, you 
didn ' t have a formal college education particu-

larly; you had a two-year law school, I think. 
[H ugo also went to one year of medical school.] 
How did you go about educating yourself? 

Black: Reading. Reading hislOry, mainly. 
Sevareid: Why history? 
Black: Because that's part of life. The history of the 

world gives you the habits of various times. I 
always like to read the histories written current 
with times when I can, to back up the hiSlOries 
written later by what historians of that day wrote; 
that's the reason I've read a lot of Livy and a lot of 
Tacitus-Greek hislOry. . 

Agronsky: Mr. Justice, you are continually recom­
mending to your law clerks that they read Livy 
and Tacitus about the Greeks and about the Ro­
man s. Why do you-

Black: Edith Hamilton's Greek Way. That 's what I've 
given 10 all my children. It's a great book . The 
Greeks were a great people; and 1 find sometimes 
people that read it can be impressed by the Greek 
motto of" Never too much. " 

Martin did not quite understand the motto and 
asked Hugo how he interpreted it. Hugo an­
swered, "Moderation in I ife, on everything. 
Don't go to wild extremes." Hugo's answer al­

lowed Martin to break the legal ice. A question 
about Hugo's judicial philosophy followed: 

Agronsky: Would you describe yourself as a moder­
ate? 
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Black: Yes. 
Agronsky: In judicial philosophy? In politics? 
Black: Yes I would, that's what I would do. 

Agronsky then turned to Hugo's absolutist view 

of the First Amendment. Was there any incon­

sistency in Hugo call ing hirnsel f a moderate and 

his view that the First Amendment was an abso­

lute? Hugo didn ' t think so. He believed it was 

not a judge's place to deviate from the letter of 

the law, butto follow it. "And if we'd follow it, " 

he told his interviewers, "we'd be all right." 

During his James Madison Lecture,22 Hugo 

made a statement that sparked an uproar of 

commentary among the scholars. His words, 

even his italics, were examined under a micro­

scope in the academic literature . Agronsky had 

done his homework for the interview ; he was 

familiar with Hugo's earlier declarations and he 

asked Hugo what he meant when he said: "It is 

my belief that there are' absolutes' in our B ill of 

Rights, and that they were put there on purpose 

by men who knew what words meant and meant 
their prohibitions to be 'absolutes. ", 23 Hearing 

Martin's question prompted a smile from Hugo, 

and he reached for the Constitution he always 

carried in his pocket, opened it, and began to 

instruct his listeners on how to read the Constitu­

tion : 

Black: Well, I ' ll read you the part of the First 
Amendment that caused me to say there are "ab­
solutes" in our Bill of Rights. r did not say that 
our entire Bill of Rights is an absolute. [A point 
often overlooked by scholars. 24]1 said there are 
absol.utes in our Bill of Rights. Now, if a man 
were to say this to me out on the street, "Con­
gress shall make no law respecting any estab­
lishment of rei igion" - that's tIJ First Amend­
ment -I would think: Amen, Gongress should 
pass no law. Unless they just didn't know the 
meaning of words. That's what they mean to me. 
Certainly they mean that literally. And 1 see no 
reason to attribute any less meaning than they 
would have had then, or would have now. They 
might not have that meaning now because of the 
general idea that there can be no absol ute any­
where. I don't agree to that. 

Constitutional scholars are, of course, quite 

familiar with Justice Black's view that the First 

Amendment, while protecting speech, does not 

give people the right to assemble on other peo­

ple 's property, including the government's, 

without permission for purposes of protest. 

Sevareid challenged Hugo on this point, asking 

him whether he wasn't infringing on the right of 

protest itself: "How can they do it? Where can 

they do it?" Sevareid wanted to know. 

Black: Well, that assumes that the only way to protest 
anything is to go out and do it on the streets. That 
is not true. That is just simply not true in life . It 
has never been true .... I've never said that free­
dom of speech gives people the right to tramp up 
and down the streets by the thousands, either say­
ing things that threaten others, with real literal 
language, or that threaten them because of the 
c ircumstances under which they do it. I've never 
said that. Bill Douglas and I both expressed our 
view on that point about twenty-five years ago, in 
which we said that the First Amendment protects 
speech, and it protects writing . But it doesn 't 
have anything that protects a man's right to walk 
around and around my house, if he wants to , 
fasten my people, my family up into the house, 
make them afraid to go out of doors, afraid that 
something will happen. It just doesn't do that. 
That's conduct. 

" Is there a way to define the line between ac­

tion and speech?" Sevareid asked. Hugo's an­

swer got the whole group to laughing: 

Black: 1JJe only way they have ever been able to 
defille it as to this Amendment, where they said 
with reference to the Mormons. The Mormons 
had a perfectly logical argument, if conduct is the 
same as speech. They said, "But this expresses 
our religious views. We're protesting because the 
federal government is passing a law suppressing 
our right to have a dozen wives." Well, the Court 
said, That won't do , that's conduct, that's not 
speech." 29 Of course it involves speech - par­
tially. Before you get to it, before you get a dozen 
wives, you 've got to do some talking. But that 
doesn 't mean the Constitution protects their right 
to have a dozen wives. The two are separate . Of 
course there are places where you cannot sharply 
draw a boundary. 

Hugo concluded his argument on this issue by 

asking his interrogators a question of his own: 

Black: Now, the Constitution doesn't say that any man 
shall have the right to say anything he wishes 
anywhere he wants to. That 's agreed, isn't it? 
Nothing in there says that. 

At this point Hugo leaned back in his chair, 

con fident of his position, and added : "All right. " 

Then he wound up by saying: "They've got a 

right to talk where they have a right to be , under 

valid laws ." This line caught the attention of the 

press and of the reviewers and there was much 

talk about it in next morning's papers . 30 

A highlight of the program for me was Hugo 's 

reading from his opinion in Chambers v. FLor­
ida . 31 He regarded the closing part of his Cham­
bers opinion as his best writing and he often read 

it to his clerks and to others with great convic­

tion. The passage captured ideals that Hugo 

cared for dearly. 
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Today, as in the ages past, we are not withoUl 
lragic proof Iha/ the exalled power of some gov­
ernmenfS 10 pUl.1ish manufactured crime diclalO­
riaily is lhe handmaid of ryranny. Under our con­
slilUlional system, couns sland against any winds 
lhal blow as havens of refuge for those who might 
Olherwise suffer because they are helpless, weak, 
outnumbered, or because they are nonconforming 
victims of prejudice and public excilemenf. Due 
process of law, preserved for all by our ConslilU­
tion, commands lhat no such praclice as that dis­
closed by this record shall send any accused to 
deGih. 

Black: The accused there were four tenant farmers­
young fellows, who had been questioned for 
three nights on the seventh floor of the County 
Courthouse ... 

No higher dury, no more solemn responsibiliry, 
rests upon IIlis Court, lhan that of translating info 
living law and maintaining lhis conslitUlional 
shield deliberGiely planned and inscribed for Ihe 
benefit of every human being subject 10 our Con­
stitUlion-ofwhatever race, creed or persuasion. 32 

Black: That was my idea then , it's my idea now, of 
.. due process of law ... Not a natural law. And they 
knew about those things and they wanted to stop 
them. And there it is. And I think if it 's enforced 
that way, this can be, and was bound to be, the 
best Constitution in the world. 

Throughout the interview Hugo answered the 
questions with a firm and forceful voice. Close­
ups of Hugo's hands sparked the visual imagery 
of the film . Anyone familiar with Douglas Chan­

dler's remarkable portrait of Frankiin Roose­
velt 33 knows the drama of the human hand in 
action. Hugo's were galvanic. 

At one point Martin asked Hugo why he al­
ways carried "that little book of the Constitu­
tion" in his pocket. "I would think you would 
know the Constitution by heart at this time . " The 
question lighted up Hugo's face with another of 
those smiles that endeared him to just about 
everyone. Hugo had a little confession to make, 
and he didn't mind making it before millions : 
"Because I don't know it by heart. I can't-my 
memory is not that good. When I say something 
about it, I want to quote it precisely. And so I 
usually carry it in my pocket." 

Time and time again during the interview, 
Hugo reached for his Constitution. He read from 
it, folded it in half, tossed it on the table. So 
dog-eared and tattered was the little book that it 
made a dramatic sight lying there on the desk. 
The cameras zeroed in on it; it appeared to be 
about two inches thick . 

Hugo loved that little book of the Constitution 

and the camera knew it. So did the country. 
Later, Burton Benjamin conceived the idea of 

giv ing away copies of the same type of Constitu­
tion that Hugo always carried with him. Hugo 
bought his from the Government Printing Office 
for a dime. An announcement was added at the 
end of the program saying that CBS would give a 
free copy of the Constitution to anyone who 
would write in and request it. The idea proved to 
be popular, though costly, for CBS. 

To Hugo, having the law written down- posi­
tive law, "not a natural law, " -was a good thing . 
The governed and the governors both knew 
where they stood under the written law; they both 
knew the limitations upon the other, be they re­
strictions upon government or upon the people 
themselves . "You see, you have laws written out; 
that's the object in law, to have it written out," 
said Hugo . "Our Constitution-I would follow 
exactly what I thought it said at the time. And I 
wouldn't try to amend it. Because I thoroughly 
believe in the division of the three powers­
branches of government. " 

"You don ' t feel the judges should judge ac­
cording to what fits the time?" Martin asked 
Hugo . "No, how would they know? Jefferson 
asked why couldn't you trust the people? -says 
the others want to trust just one man - and one 
man can certainly not sense what's right and just 
any better than the whole public ." 

Every once in a while during the interview the 
camera would catch the four portraits, including 
Thomas Jefferson 's, that hung above the mantel 
in Hugo's study. Jefferson was one of Hugo's fa­
vorite minds ; he read everything Jefferson wrote 
surviving in print. Obviously Hugo was influ­
enced by his ideas. 

These question-and-answer sessions went on 
for thirty minutes; then the group would break 
for five-minute intervals. There were six 
thirty-minute sessions in all, lasting from JO a.m. 
to 1:30 p.m . The program was planned for one 
hour on the air. 

Sevareid renewed the interview with a ques­
tion about the inner workings of the Court, 
which to most Americans are a complete mys­
tery. The man on the street has no idea how the 
Court works. To him the certiorari mean noth­
ing. To a Supreme Court justice the petitions for 
certiorari-the "petes for cert." as Holmes used 
to call them-are like keys to the Court's front 
door-some fit, some don't. And the certiorari 
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are everwhere-upstairs and down, in the office, 
in the home - even on the road. Hugo did his 
best to explain how the Court picks its cases and 
the voting order at Conference, technical matters 
mainly. The Conference is confidential , but 
Hugo spilled no secrets in talking about Confer­
ence procedures, which have been public knowl­
edge for years. 25 Martin's next question put the 
eye of the viewer right back at the keyhole . 

Agronsky: Whal are those discussions like? Are they 
really free? Do the justices ever lose their tem­
pers? What happens in those discussion s? 

Now here is a line of questioning that would 
interest the crowd. Hugo answered candidly, and 
without hesitation . His response should come as 
no surprise to anyone familiar with human na­
ture . 

Black: Well, [ guess you could never get nine men 
together where the Justices wouldn't sometimes 
lose their temper. [ have no doubt about that. Of 
course, they should not and it is not frequent ... 
and people who've lost out on something that 
they just know in their hearts is bound to be right , 
because it 's their view, they don ' t feel like 
they 've been properly treated sometimes. 

Justice Frankfurter's Conference Diaries 26 

bear bleak witness to the anger Felix sometimes 
felt toward his colleagues, including Hugo. Any 
time a man's life hangs on a vote, flare-ups are 
likely. Eric Sevareid reminded Hugo that the 
Greeks "enshrined reason and I suppose a judge 
must go back to that." Hugo responded: "Of 
course you must be reasonable, and they talked 
about the reason, but they had emotions, a lot of 
them." All strong men do, and Supreme Court 
justices are no exception . But let there be no mis­
take about it: after many battles fought as intel­
lectual foes, Felix and Hugo were friends at the 
finish. That is what I know to be the truth of the 
matter. 

Hugo also revealed how he used his little 
black book at Conference and told of his way of 
voting cases up or down on certiorari. 

Black: Now I have for myself, and I don't know how 
the others have it, I have a notebook. I have two 
law.clerks and they write those cases up: what are 
the issues? I put them in the notebook, take them 
in there, and I cast my vote. Frequently I'll mark 
the LOp, "Denied - not of sufficient im­
portance ," "No di spute among the circuits," or 
something else. And I'll go in and vote to deny it . 

Historia s of the Court know that Hugo in ­
sisted on burning his cert. notes before retiring 

Justice Black talks with (left to right) Martin Argronsky, Eric Severaid and program coordinator Bill Small in a warmup session 
before the interview. 
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from the Court; they literally went up in smoke in 
September 197 J. Hugo, Jr., tells the story in his 
Remembrance. 27 Fortunately, a few of the cert. 
notes survived the flames . They were found in an 
envelope marked "Sample Certs" in Hugo's 
bold hand. The envelope had been filed away 
somewhere and forgotten . These few remaining 
cert. notes illuminate Hugo's mind and his 
methods to the American people . They satisfy 
the claims of history, not the tittle-tattle of gos­
sip, and show a heritage worth remembering. 2 8 

Students of the Court often wonder whether 
the Conference is a place where fixed views are 
vented and then the votes are counted, or is it 
more a forum for discussion and determination 
of joint views? .. Have you ever gone into a judi­
cial conference with one point of view and come 
out with another? " Martin wanted to know. 
Hugo's answer casts light on the nature of the 
Conference for those who care to see it: " Cer­
tainly, certainly," Hugo answered emphatically. 

Students of the Court also wonder whether the 
Chief Justice 's power to assign the writing of 
opinions affects the voting . Hugo was quite firm 
on this point: "It certainly would not have with 
my vote. My vote 's mine. I'm going to vote it 
according to my conscience every time it comes 
up, not according to what somebody could or had 
done for me before. " 

At the conclusion of the filming everyone felt 
a sense of relief that the great effort..was over. 
About a week later after listening to the sound 
recordings of the interview, Hugo decided to ask 
CBS to eliminate Eric's questions about the Ku 
Klux Klan. While Hugo's answers were innocu­
ous enough, he recalled that at the end of his 1937 
radio address concerning his joining the Klan, he 
had said the subject was closed and he would 
never again discuss it publicly. 34 Hugo explained 
his decision to me saying , "That is the subject I 
do not intend to revive. The newspapers do 
enough of that." Hugo wanted the interview to 
focus on the Court, not the Klan . Hugo's request 
proved academic, however, because Mr. Benja­
min had already decided to eliminate this part of 
the program. As a result of the deletion,35 the 
television audience heard nothing about the Klan 
during the interview, with the exception of Seva­
reid's reference to it in his opening statement. 36 
Other than the Klan discussion , the rest of the 
interview needed only minor editing. 

A little while later Hugo began worrying anew 
about the propriety of a sitting Justice doing such 

a program. "Perhaps," mused Hugo, "they 
should postpone showing it until my birthday in 
February, somewhat like a special they did on 
Carl Sandburg's birthday, or they should use it 
when I retire . There ought to be some special 
reason for it being shown ." The agonies of un­
certainty that Hugo and I went through night 
after sleepless night were unbelievable, looking 
back on it now. 

What we went through, however, was nothing 
compared to the agony Martin Agronsky felt 
when Hugo told him he wanted to postpone the 
program. Poor Martin! He had just recovered 
from an emergency appendectomy and was on 
assignment in Boston when Hugo's proposal hit 
him. Marti called from Boston, very upset, and 
told Hugo that CBS had already spent $100,000 
on publicity for the December 3rd showing. 
They had taken full-page ads in The New York 
Times and The Washington Post showing a huge 
picture of Hugo and advertising the program. 
Hugo was unimpressed. "They haven't taken 
out any $100,000 ad, Martin. That's ridicu­
lous." Although Hugo seemed adamant about a 
postponement, he agreed to talk to Martin fur­
ther about it next day. When Hugo hung up the 
telephone he turned to me and said, "Now I don't 
want you or Frances to be talking to Martin and 
conniving about it behind my back." When he 
found out I told a friend about the interview, 
Hugo reacted emphatically: " Don't tell any­
body, about it! I may never let them televise it. " 

By this time, I just wished the whole thing 
would go away. I knew that Hugo was disturbed 
and I was distraught, and we were both sleeping 
poorly. I wished I had never heard of CBS or the 
program . 

The next day Frances Lamb called me from 
Hugo 's office. She said Martin had flown down 
from Boston to talk with Hugo . Since Hugo wm 
on the bench until noon, Martin had not come 
until the lunch hour. Frances was afraid to speak 
a word to Martin, after Hugo's admonition. Mar· 
tin had gone into Hugo 's office and through thE 
open door she could hear him offering earnestl) 
one reason after another for broadcasting thl 
program as planned on December 3rd. Each tim! 
Hugo demurred . Finally, after Martin exhaustec 
every reason he could think of and the bell rani 
for Hugo to return to the bench, Hugo an 
nounced : "Well , Martin, there is one reason 
have thought of, if CBS will accept it." 

uOh, sure , Judge, I know they will accept it 
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What is it?" Martin asked. 
" Well, Martin," Hugo told him, "you know I 

have just recently given the Carpentier Lectures 
at Columbia, and they are about to be published. 
If the broadcast could somehow be tied in with 
the lectures, I think that might be an acceptable 
reason to show the program. " With a big sigh of 
relief, Martin left. 

A week or so later CBS asked another favor. 
Would Hugo agree to walk across the plaza in 
front of the Court in his robe for the camera? 
Hugo thought it was a pretty corny thing to do, 
but they insisted and he complied. He had fought 
with them on so many things along the way that 
his resistance was low. 

On Tuesday, December 3rd, 1968, full-page 
ads appeared in The New York Times 37 and The 
Washington Post 38 announcing the interview. A 
large picture of Hugo appeared on the page under 
the caption, "Hugo L. Black, Senior Justice , 
U .S. Supreme Court, speaks his mind. " The 
picture of Hugo was as striking as it was huge. 
Someone once called Hugo a "beautiful old 
man ." The picture captured this quality in Hugo. 
The ad continued: 

In 1937, his appointment to the Court touched 
off a national uproar. But during the next 31 
years, Hugo Black became one of the High 
Court's most influential members . 

Tonight, Justice Black speaks: on school de­
segregation; on obscenity and pomography; on 
laws that help criminals, sometimes; on police, 
war, and violence in the streets; on presidential 
influence over the Court; on his opinion of the 
president who appointed him; and on the Con­
stitution, "the best document ever written to con-
trol a government. " .. 

Justice Black agreed to this in (t! rview with 
CBS News Correspondents , Eric evareid and 
Martin Agronsky, after having become the sec­
ond Supreme Court Justice in history to deliver 
the Carpentier Lectures at Columbia University 
earlier this year. 

Having spoken to the legal community, Justice 
Black now speaks his views to the whole country, 
through television. 

So much for Hugo 's reason for the program . 
This statement in the press seemed to satisfy 
him. 

All was set now except the plans for the party 
to be held on broadcast night at the Agronsky 
home. Martin suggested it would be nice to in­
vite all the justices of the Court and their wives . 
Hugo thought this over carefully and decided 
against inviting any member of the Court. He felt 
some of the other justices might not approve of 

the interview, and he did not want to put them on 
the spot by inviting them to the party. 

" Most of them would come," he told Martin, 
"just to show their regard for me, but I don't 
want to put them under that kind of pressure. " 

Hugo and I sat in front of a big color television 
set when the program began . In trying to adjust it 
perfectly, someone accidentally pulled the elec­
tric plug. By the time it could be reconnected, 
my tennis scene had come and gone. 

"I didn't get to see me ," I wailed. 
Hugo found this amusing, and then he tried to 

console me. "Mr. Benjamin has promised to 
send you the film of the program , and then we'll 
get to see you, " he told me. 

III 

As soon as the broadcast was over, the reac­
tions started pouring in , first by phone, then by 
wire. The-- next day . all manner of mail began 
arriving at Hugo's office . Letters and cards and 
notes by the hundreds swarmed in from all over 
the country. Hugo was astonished . 

"The response really has been a tremendous 
surprise to me from every section of the United 
States ," 39 Hugo wrote to his old stand-bys , Vir­
ginia and Clifford Durr. And three days after the 
showing, Hugo wrote to Mr. Benjamin, the pro­
ducer: "At the present time we are flooded with 
mail and I am doing my best to keep up with it but 
it looks like it will be impossible. M any people 
are suggesting re-runs; many others are suggest­
ing that it be run in the schools or at a time when 
the children could see it. At any rate, you created 
more exc itement than I had antic i pated. " 40 

Hugo also inquired of Mr. Benjamin about our 
receiving a copy of the film. "My wife insists 
that I write you and tell you that she is anxious to 
get her film. She would not add the reason but I 
think it is because we missed the first few minutes 
of the show." 41 

I lived to regret wanting to see myself on tele­
vision , however. Sometime later, when the film 
was being shown to White House Fellows at a 
dinner at the State Department, Hugo arranged 
to have my split-second tennis shot re-run about 
five times, back and forth , to the crowd's 
amusement and to my dismay. Not only did I 
look fat , a cardinal sin in Hugo's book, but my 
tennis serve was in bad form . So much for my 
movie debut. 

Hugo heard from old friends, including 
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Clarence Dill, his fellow-freshman in the Senate 
back in 1927. Over forty years had passed and 
thousands of miles now separated them. Receiv­
ing Dill's note , and hundreds like it , pleased 
Hugo . Hugo loved people and the interview put 
him among the people again . 

Hugo answered Dill: " I am very happy to have 
the report you gave me about its reception among 
the people. I had some doubts about giving the 
interview, but my communications have con­
vinced me that it was a good thing for the Court 
and the country. "42 

Hugo's comment echoed a note he had from 
Potter Stewart the day after the broadcast. "Dear 
Hugo," Justice Stewart wrote, "I thought the 
television performance was just fine. You did a 
great deal of good for the Court, the Constitu­
tion, and for the Country. Congratulations and 
thanks ." 43 Obviously, Potter Stewart's reaction 
touched Hugo deeply. 

Bill Douglas got his return in the next day. 
Justice Douglas was kind to Hugo, as one might 
expect, but he couldn't resist teasing him a bit: 
"Cathy and I saw your TV show last night and 
we thought it was excellent. Maybe you will 
make Cary Grant move over!" 44 

Other comments were just about what one 
would expect from friends. "You were magnifi-

cent, " 45 one, 
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The law clerks wrote in , and there was love 
and teasing in their letters. Dan Meador, whose 
book Mr. Justice Black and His Books. 51 is a 
guide to Hugo's mind, wrote the Judge: "You 
have a good television personality, and we had 
the impression that you were right in the room 
talking to us . You also stated extremely well the 
essence of many of your important views." 52 

Bob Basseches, after congratulating Hugo 
"on the launching of your television career, " 
added: "I know you will be troubled if I must, in 
all candor, advise you that you are not quite as 
pretty as Brigitte Bardot, with whom you were in 
direct competition. " 53 It seems that NBC in its 
wisdom ran the French beauty against Hugo 
coast to coast, which put quite a dent in Hugo's 
Nielsen ratings. In New York City, for example, a 
mere nine percent of the aud ience chose to watch 
Hugo, whereas 44 percent preferred to ogle Miss 
Bardot. That's show business, as they say. "For 
Black to beat Bardot in the attention game is 
hardly natural law, " 54 noted the Saturday Re­
view. The NBC crowd had been promised a 
fifteen-second glimpse of Miss Bardot wearing 
nothing but a pair of trousers. As things turned 
out, NBC deleted the fleshy partofthe program, 
undoubtedly disappointing the 44 percent who 
tuned in to Brigitte. 0;' 

Hugo reacted calmly to Bob's news about the 
ratings and wrote him: "Louis Oberdorfer, one 
of my former clerks, has already sent me a New 
York Times containing the comparative number 
who heard my television interview, in compari­
son with those who listened in on Brigitte Bar­
dot. I am compelled to admit that sll beat me-
considerably. " :>6 I 

Other clerks wrote in and their letters warmed 
Hugo's heart. He loved his clerks_ Next to his 
children they were his favorite students. 

Army officers wrote , housewives wrote; law­
yers, judges, and law students wrote; teachers 
from all over the country piled mail on Hugo's 
desk. " I was particularly and professionally 
pleased that you explained Adamson v. Califor­
nia and referred to the sequence of Fifth 
Amendment decisions which properly put stric­
tures on the police. What you said convinced my 
students where I am sure I have not been able to 
get across the essential meaning of the Amend­
ment as quickly or as succinctly. " 5 7 -that from a 
law professor in Tucson, Arizona. From North 
Dakota came thanks for Hugo's explanation of 

such complex-sounding concepts as "due proc­
ess ," "obscenity," "with all deliberate speed," 
and "freedom of assembly." The net result of his 
talk , Hugo was told, "was to clarify in my mind 
some of the intentions of the constitution-writers 
and to understand the job of the Supreme Court 
in interpreting the law." 58 

Some viewers were so impressed by Hugo's 
habit of carrying " that little book of the Constitu­
tion " in his pocket that they wanted it for their 
own. "To have a copy of the Constitution you 
have personally used would be a great inspira­
tion," 5 9 said one convert to the practice. Hugo 
instructed his secretary, Frances Lamb , to tum 
this request down: "He asked me to wri te you for 
him that he has received numerous letters from 
people asking that he give them h is personal 
copy of the pocket-sized Constitution which he 
has been carrying for years. Under the circum­
stances he' has not felt it fair to give it to any­
one." 60 

Six days after the interview Hugo was 
swamped with mail. "I should judge that by this 
time I have somewhere between 500 and 1000 
communications ," 61 Hugo told a friend. By 
January 8th the count had risen to 1500. 62 

"Your discussion on the United States Con­
stitution and the Bill of Rights has made them 
revitalized in my mind and heart," 63 one lawyer 
wrote Hugo. Another said, "I was proud to be a 
lawyer again. " 64 I suppose these are only words 
to the average reader. They mean nothing unless 
you happen to be a lawyer. Anyone familiar with 
Hugo's Anastaplo 65 dissent knows how deeply 
he cared for lawyers . How these letters from the 
field pleased him. 

Fan mail, of course, was the farthest thing 
from Hugo's mind when he agreed to do the 
interview. He had no idea how much mail he 
would have to answer; and he answered it all, in 
his own hand, or by dictation for Frances Lamb 
to type. 

"I have been answering about 75 pieces of 
mail a day," Frances Lamb told a law clerk, "and 
still more to go . 1 am working Friday nights (last 
night until] a.m.) today-Sat., and if 1 don't 
finish tonight, tomorrow. Meanwhile he is dictat­
ing some on the machine over the weekend. Now 
all 1 need is for the 5,000 people who are to get 
free copies of the pocket-sized Constitution to 
write in for autographs in it - and that'll do 
it!" 66 
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Contrary to what some have suggested,67 
Hugo had no motives in agreeing to do the inter­
view. He just plain got talked into it. "Even after 
I was persuaded against my will to give the tele­
vision interview, there remained a doubt in my 
mind as to whether the wise choice had been 
made," 68 Hugo wrote a housewife in Illinois. 
"Nice letters like yours have removed that doubt 
and I thank you for writing." 69 This woman, an 
attorney's wife, had asked for a list of books 
about Hugo because she wanted to learn more 
about him. "As an under-30 housewife with 
three small children, I know how easy it is to 
confine oneself to diapers, the very best deter­
gent, and running noses. I hope I never get that 
way. So your suggesting some titles would help 
me. My Mr. Justice Black project is no mere 
whim to be shelved and never studied ." 70 Hugo 
answered her letter and recommended several 
books and articles for her to read . 

Other comments were equally glowing. A di­
rector of the Corporation of Public Broadcasting 
wrote to Hugo saying that the interview" illus­
trates what I mean when I urge my fellow Board 
members to provide programming n the Con­
stitution . I think it is important for people to un­
derstand the Court-why it is, what it is-and as 
a consequence, they ought to understand the ac­
tions of the Court better. " 71 

From Carmichael, California, a stranger 
commented: "For me it was profound, enlight­
ening, entertaining, and altogether the best TV 
program of the decade. You have certainly given 
me new insight and appreciation of the Court, its 
functions, and some of its more recent rulings 
which have certainly not been universally popu­
lar." 72 

Perhaps this man exaggerated a bit when he 
said that Hugo's hour was the best TV of the 
decade. But it is a fact that the producer of the 
program, Mr. Benjamin, was awarded an Emmy 
for "the best cultural documentary of the year." 
And the American Bar Association presented its 
Gavel Award for an "unprecedented and infor­
mative interview" that "served to acquaint the 
public with the basic values of our legal and judi­
cial system." 73 

Hugo heard from people in Alabama, and 
their letters gave him special pleasure. Some 
Alabamians hated Hugo because he had voted to 

declare segregation unconstitutional. It was a 
curious paradox: people hating a man who loved 

people. Fourteen years after enforcing the plain 
meaning of the Fourteenth Amendment 74 

(" And, of course, I knew what it was. I didn't 
need any changing times to convince me that that 
was a denial of equal protection of the law. "), 
Hugo still suffered the slings and arrows of out­
rageous enmity. But there were exceptions. A 
history professor who was born and educated in 
Tallassee , Alabama, wrote to thank Hugo "for 
being a spokesman for what I am sure is a great 
number of natives of Alabama. All too often, we 
all get branded as being backward segregation­
ists." 75 

Hugo was proud of his Clay County heritage. 
He had his own vision of great Alabama and he 
remained loyal to it. He wrote back: " Among the 
hundreds of letters that have come to me about 
my television interview, I particularly appreciate 
yours, since you were born and reared in Ala­
bama. I agree with you that we have many won­
derful people in Alabama and that they do not 
deserve the censure which some people try to 
give all of Alabama." 76 

But in Birmingham things were different. My 
friend Mary Tortorici, Chief Deputy Clerk of the 
Federal Court in Birmingham, stayed up late to 
watch the interview, which had been scheduled 
for broadcast on a delayed basis, but when the 
time came all she got was football. "I nearly died 
when II :30 came, and they showed another re­
hash of the Alabama- Auburn game," she wrote. 
"I had seen four re-hashes of it on Sunday, and 
had had enough of it. I was so mad that I called 
the station the next morning, and they told me 
they didn't get to tape it-that all the taping ma­
chines were in use when the interview came 
on." 77 Hugo, it seems, was not top billing with 
the local CBS affiliate in Birmingham. 

IV 

Of course, Hugo also received a handful of 
mail critical of the views he aired on the pro­
gram, particularly his enthusiasm for the protec­
tions accorded the accused by the Bill of Rights. 
During the interview Hugo insisted that popular 
criticism of the Court ignored the Bill of Rights. 
The Constitution! said Hugo, must be enforced , 
" And of course, I don't see how anybody could 
deny that the Constitution says absolutely and in 
words that nobody can deny, in the Fifth 
Amendment, that 'no person shall be compelled 
in a criminal case to be a witness against him-
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self. ' And so, when they say the Court did it, 

that's just a little off. The Constitution did it." 
Martin 's next question repeated the charge 

that the Court had made it more difficult to com­

bat crime. Hugo's answer, in plain English, 
taught the ordinary man an important lesson: 

Agronsky: Mr. Justice, do you think that those deci­
sions have made it more difficult for the police to 
combat crime? 

Black: Certainly. Why shouldn't they? What were 
they written for? Why did they write the Bill of 
Rights? They practically all relate to the way 
cases should be tried . And practically all of them 
make it more difficult to convict people of crime. 
What about guaranteeing a man a right to a 
lawyer? Of course that makes it more difficult to 
convict him . What about saying he shall not be 
compelled to be a witness against himself? That 
makes it more difficult to convict him. What 
about no unreasonable search or seizure shall be 
made? That makes it more difficult. They were 
written to make it more difficult . And what the 
Court does is to try to follow what they wrote, 
and say you've got to try people in this way. Why 
did they want a jury? They wanted it so they 
wouldn't be subjected to one judge that might 
hang them or convict them for a political crime, 
or something of that kind. And so they had juries. 
And they said the same thing about an indict­
ment . That's what they put it in for. They were, 
everyone, intended to make it more difficult be­
fore the doors of a prison closed on a man because 
of his trial. 

But these comments apparently meant nothing 

to one man who accused the Court of encourag­

ing violence by its interpretations of the Consti­
tution . Earl Warren alone was not to blame; 

every member of the Court was equally respon­
sible and the entire Court should be impeached, 

wrote one critic. Hugo respondeaa week after 
the interview with a word ofoptimt m : "Judging 

from the number of communications I have re­

ceived from every part of the Nation in the past 
few days, I would say that you are in a minority 

in wanting to see all the members of the Supreme 
Court impeached . Maybe you will improve with 
time. " 78 

An odd assortment of the usual hate mail ar­
rived , some of it reall.y quite grotesque with 
drawings of Hugo burning in hot hell attached . 

The public has no idea of the bizarre letters a 

Supreme Court justice receives, and the inter­

view prompted a note from a religious figure of 
sorts, who told Hugo that he saw the demons of 

hell coming and going from his face during the 
program . All Hugo could say to this fellow was 

to suggest that " if you have a copy of the Bible in 

your place, you read the 13th Chapter of First 
Corinthians," 79 which has Hugo's favorite pas­

sage in the Bible . Another letter of this sort was 
full of fury over the Court's desegregation rul­

ing: nowhere in the Constitution, Hugo was told, 
is non-segregation of the races justified. That 

was only the opinion of nine foolish old men in 
Washington, and not the will of the great major­

ity of Americans . Although Hugo loved people 
and rarely gave up on anybody, he had enough 

sense to note at the top of this particular letter: 
"No need to write him . He is hopeless ." And on 
another confused blast Hugo noted in pencil, 
"Not intelligent enough to answer at all." 

But refusals to answer mail critical o~ he pro­
gram, even hate mail, were rare with Hugo. And 

his letters reinforce what is apparent from his 
opinions: Hugo Black was a man who lived by 

the First Amendment in his relations with others. 
Af!d, as one might expect, he would often quote 

it to his correspondents : " I have your post card 

about the television interview I gave in connec­
tion with the Bill of Rights . The First Amend­

ment to the Federal Constitution, which is gen­
erally cons idered the most important of all, reads 

as follows: [whereupon Hugo set it out word for 

word). That Amendment has been made appli­
cable to the States . I took an oath to support it as 

an Associate Justice , and that obligation is re­
sponsible for your disagreement with me ." 80 

Hugo's views on pornography caused a flurry 
of mail to roll into the office. One viewer who 

apparently missed the distinction Hugo drew be­
tween conduct and speech complained bitterly 

that Hugo was in favor of prostitution . That was 
not true. at all. Obscenity laws outlaw speech, not 
conduct, and in doing so they violate the First 

Amendment. I'd better let Hugo do the talking 
on this delicate point: 

Black: Of course, I understand that pornography 
sounds bad . It really sounds bad . Butl never have 
seen anybody who could say what it is. Nobody. 
Now some people think it's way over there , and 
some people say it 's way over here. If the idea is 
to keep people from learning about the facts of 
life, as between the sexes, that 's a vain task. It 's a 
vain task. How in the world Clln you keep people 
from learning, who mix with others out on the 
street and around in various places? They ' re 
going to learn . But that's not the reason I take that 
view. The reason I take the view is that it's an 
expression of opinion . It refers to one of the 
strongest urges in the human race . Something 
that people have not failed to talk about, and they 
will not fail to talk about it. There's no possibility 
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of that. Of course they're going to talk about it. 
People go have organizations and write in letters 
and say, "You ' re letting my children suffer." Well 
1 think there's, argument, 1 don 't say it 's the truth 
-I don't know what's the truth-there's plenty 
of argument for the idea that they ought to take 
care of their children and warn them against 
things themselves rather than to try to pass a law. 
And 1 just - it's an ambiguous statement. Ob­
scenity is wholly ambiguous . It means one thing 
to you, and another thing to you, and another 
thing to these people , and another thing to me . 1 
don't like it. I don ' t use it. I never have. I've al ­
ways detested it. But that's no reason , 1 think , 
that it's not speech on an important subject. Let 
them talk. 

Many people found these views offensive, but 
Hugo didn't mind. People were free to think him 
foolish if they wanted to. That was their busi­
ness. It was Hugo's business to interpret the First 
Amendment as he saw it, without any apologies 
to those who disagreed with him . But Hugo was 
wholly in favor of wide-open criticism of public 
officials, including himself. 

One telegram from Memphis told Hugo he 
should retire. "You have lost all contact with 
those things that have made America great." 81 

Hugo wrote back: "Thanks for sending me the 
telegram you did today. While it is not favorable 
to me personally, it does show that you have an 
interest on public affairs, which, of course , all 
people in the country should have." 82 

Another critic admonished Hugo: "Think 
wlwt you are doing!" 83 Hugo penciled--i t the top 
of his letter: "Thanks for your letter. Maybe you 
could come nearer to accomplish your desire by 
starting a movement to repeal the First Amend­
ment designed to provide a country without cen­
sors by guaranteeing freedom of religion, speech 
and press." Apparently Frances Lamb thought 
Hugo's comment too sharp . An annotation at the 
bottom of this letter, in Frances' handwriting , 
indicates that no such response was sent out. 

One particular exchange carried back and 
forth four times and the dialogue in these letters 
reveals Hugo's faith in the First Amendment for 
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search time for him to answer one simple ques­
tion: "Is the (AP) within their rights to print 
whatever is written without regard to the rights of 
the public?" - that was all this fellow wanted to 
know. 

Hugo's reply was short. It was also what one 
might expect from Hugo: "I regret that I cannot 
give any more information about 'obsenity' than 
the views that were expressed in that inter­
view." 90 

VI 

The newspaper columnists and editorials gave 
Hugo's interview high marks and almost all the 
commentary was favorable. Many papers re­
ported that the ideas expressed in the interview 
had already been expressed in Hugo's opinions 
for the Court or in his dissents. 91 But for most 
Americans the interview was their first chance to 
see and hear Hugo stating his views. "Scarcely 
anyone reads what the Supreme Court justices 
actually say in their opinions," 92 one columnist 
noted. And the papers were agreed that the pro­
jection of Hugo's personality and his views into 
innumerable American homes via TV served an 
invaluable educational purpose, particularly in 
light of the homely idiom Hugo used in express­
ing himself. "What came through most clearly of 
all , " said The Washington Post's editorial, was 
Hugo's intense devotion to the Constitution, his 
pride in it as the charter of a great community, his 
abiding faith in and love for America ." 93 The 
New York Times gave the interview a four­
column, page one spread, complete with photo­
graph,94 and Variety heralded the ·Jnterview as a 
model of TV journalism . 9 5 

Further north, in Boston, The Sunday Globe 
reported that Hugo" had lost none of his capacity 
for forthright outrage at violations of constitu­
tional freedom and individual dignity .. . [the in­
terview] should be shown again and again . By 
any standard , it is a landmark in the field of 
journalism." 96 

In The New York Daily News Ted Lewis took 
note of Hugo's television competition the night 
of the interview. Lewis' "Capitol Stuff" column 
featured photographs of Hugo and his French ri­
val, Brigitte Bardot. "What a contrast!" he ex­
claimed. In addition to the obvious differences, 
Mr. Lewis spotted subtler distinctions between 
the two shows: "Fortunately, what Justice Black 
said on the air is even more effective in print, 

while Bardot has to be in motion to be enjoyed 
and appreciated." 91 

Some reviewers saw a tendency in Hugo 's 
comments to oversimplify the difficulty of con­
stitutional interpretation. "It is not quite so sim­
pie," 98 said The Washington Post . James Kilpat­
rick in his column in The Sunday Star thought 
Hugo's views "absolute hokum" to the extent 
they attributed to the Constitution, and not to the 
Court, the difficulties of convicting criminals. 
That was an absurd myth , according to Mr. Kil­
patrick, who wanted to blame the judiciary, not 
the Constitution, for handcuffing the police. 99 

Whether Hugo Black's or James Kilpatrick's 
views are more sound is obviously not for me to 
decide. I must leave that to the reader. 

Robert Shayon's article in the Saturday Re­
view spoke highly of the interview, but he saw a 
faint hue of anachronism in Hugo's image: 
"Here was the glow of a great legal mind, ex­
pressing the noblest ideals of a free society; but 
there was a faint hue of anachronism in his mel­
low image, as if the nation that gave birth to the 
Bill of Rights and Hugo Black was slowly disap­
pearing into the TV sunset. A great lethargy pos­
sesses us; the days of great debate in the Black 
style are passed ." 100 

Perhaps Mr. Shayon was right. We are all ob­
liged , however, to do what little we can to rekin­
dle the flame. 

Max Lerner's review was my favorite . "The 
Gentle Giant from Alabama" is what he called 
his piece. That pretty well sums up Hugo . 

One paragraph of Max's column touched 
Hugo and me deeply: "Count this as my homage 
to Black. I watched him for an hour the other 
night on a CBS special- this gnarled , timeless 
and ageless man of 82, with a soft voice but with 
a spine in every word, with flashing, humorous 
eyes, with bony eloquent fingers that held tightly 
to a dog-eared copy of the U. S. Constitution as 
he spoke. When we say that our time has fallen 
on little men , and that most men are carbon cop­
ies of each other, we had better not forget the 
handful of men like Black-how many does an 
age have to possess?-who are copies of no one, 
but irreducible originals?" 101 Loving words 
from a good friend always . 

VII 

Six months after the interview was broadcast, 
Hugo wanted to know how many copies of the 
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Constitution CBS had given away. The final 
figure indicates a lively interest in the Constitu­
tion - at least in free copies of it. "We finally 
sent out over 128,000 copies of the Constitution, 
believe it or not," 102 Mr. Benjamin reported . 
And the requests for free copies came mostly, 
according to Eric Sevareid, "from people who 
didn't know the Constitution was actually down 
on paper, who thought it was written in the skies 
or on a bronze tablet somewhere. " 103 

CBS's bountiful distribution plan did little, 
however, to improve the standing of the Bill of 
Rights with the American people. Two years 
after Hugo's appearance on TV - a period 
which would strain any speaker's staying power 
with his audience , even Hugo's-a CBS NEWS 
poll (" Do we believe in the Bill of Rights?") 
showed a majority of Americans were willing to 
restrict some of the basic rights guaranteed by the 
Bill of Rights . This gave Mr. Benjamin the idea 
to invite Hugo to appear on CBS 's 60 MIN­
UTES program in April, 1970, when the survey 
results were scheduled for release. " We feel that 
the findings need a little interpretation as well as 
presentation of the raw figures ." 104 But once 
was enough for Hugo. He had no esire for a 
repeat television appearance: "With reference to 
your suggestion as to whether I could participate 
in the program , the reception of my former tele­
vision program was a great pleasure to me but I 
believe it would be wise not to repeat .anything 
like it in the future ." 105 

Hugo also declined an invitation to join Law­
rence SpiVak and company on television: "I ap­
preciate the fact that you want me to appear on 
'Meet the Press' and although I agree with you 
that the public has too little understanding of the 
Constitution or the Supreme Court, I do not 
think it would be wise for me to give a second 
interview in the near future . "106 

To Hugo's astonishment, one viewer asked 
whether quarterly interviews on the Constitution 
and the Court would be possible . "I am afraid it 
will not be possible for me to appear for quarterly 
interviews," Hugo answered, " but I am hopeful 
that CBS will follow up on this program with 
some more of them." 107 

VIII 

Some people who missed the interview, and 
some who saw it, wrote in requesting a transcript 
of the interview. Hugo explained the need for a 

printed text in a letter to Mr. Benjamin the day 
after the broadcast: "We need a printed copy to 
answer questions that have been presented to us 
by people who seemed to miss a word or two for 
some reason or another, and we would like to 
send copies to those who ask for them ." 108 

Legal scholars are like sponges: they absorb 
every word a Supreme Court justice utters, and 
Hugo's interview gave them plenty to think 
about. This was new material worth having in 
the file. 

Professor William Harbaugh, for example, 
wanted to know exactly what Hugo said about 
John W. Davis as an appellate advocate . Har­
baugh was then wrapped up in the final stages of 
his biograp~y. 1 09 Unfortunately, he missed the 
interview and The New York Times did not print 
what Hugo said about Davis, in response to a 
request that he name the ablest lawyers who had 
appeared before him during his long tenure on 
the Court. Hugo 's answer was an extraordinary 
combination of diplomacy and candor: 

Black: Well, there have been so many good lawyers . 
You're kind of putting me on the spot, to tell them 
that they are not the best. I would say, just off 
hand, that two lawyers who've argued before us 
were excellent, as others are excellent, but these 
come right straight to mind. John W. Davis, who 
was a great speaker, and a great man to discuss 
the law. Just a great advocate. And Bob Jackson, 
who argued cases before us as Solicitor General. 
He was always magnificent. His language was 
fluent. His knowledge of the law was good , and 
he never objected to your asking him a question 
which most people would think was too hard to 
answer. I do not recall that Bob ever declined 
when some Judge would say: "Do you mean to 
say this?" I don't recall an instance when Bob 
didn ' t say, "That's exactly what I mean. " 

Hugo's comment on Bob Jackson caught one 
viewer's ear and he wrote in to applaud Hugo for 
it: "It was magnanimous of you to speak as you 
did of the late Judge Jackson. I know something 
about the controversy between Judge Jackson 
and yourself . ... Mr. Jackson had been in Eur­
ope at the Nuremberg "frials and when he came 
back to this country he said some things about 
you that should not have been said and I am sure 
he regretted it." 110 Hugo's answer shows that he 
was not one to hold a grudge: "What I said about 
Bob Jackson was correct in every respect. He 
was one of the greatest advocates that ever ap­
peared before our Court. I recall very well what 
happened when he was coming back from Eur­
ope but that episode, I hope, was completely for-
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gotten by him before his death. At any rate, we 
never discussed it after he returned . . . . " 111 

Another student of the Constitution accused 
Hugo of trying to fool the public by misquoting 
- of all things - the First Amendment. When 
Hugo read it during the interview he recited the 
Establishment Clause , " Congress shall make no 
law respecting an establishment of religion," 
and then he interrupted himself, saying- "that 's 
the First Amendment." Not so at all, com­
plained this critic, who censured Hugo for quot­
ing only a part of the Amendment and then lec­
tured him on how to parse compound sentences 
correctly. Hugo, who cared about good 
grammar, was not impressed: "I presume that 
most people, unlike you, will not think it is a 
misstatement to quote only a part of a constitu ­
tional amendment. As a matter of fact, you were 
not fooled so why should anybody else be? 
While your views do not agree with mine, I am 
glad to have your letter. " 112 

Hugo did not hesitate to say, however, that 
most Americans do not understand the Constitu­
tion, either in part or read as a whole. Nor did he 
flinch from telling the world that good letters are 
hard to come by these days: 

Agronsky: Do you think , Mr. Justice, that most 
Americans understand the Constitution? 

Black: No, I think most of them do not. I think most of 
them are sure they do - better than the Court. 
People don ' t know it. I get letters all the time; I 
get many letters . People who don't have a good 
idea of grammar; they're cel1ainly not good letter 
writers, and they ' re telling me that "You ought to 
get off the Court and-. " Some of them tell me to 
go to Russia . "Go back to Russia." Well, that 's 
too far for me to go back since I've never been 
there. But they think they know it. ~nd their idea 
is all the same. You can trace it to the same thing, 
doesn't make a difference what it is, what their 
experience is, or why they ' re mad at the Court. 
It's all because each one of them be I ieves that the 
Constitution prohibits that which they think 
should be prohibited, and it permits that which 
they think should be permitted. 

Hugo's comment about getting letters full of 
bad grammar caused a graduate assistant in his­
tory at the University of Oklahoma to write: 
"May I have the privilege of writing a letter that 
is different from the type you mention in the in­
terview?" 113 The letter was quite complimentary 
and must have given Hugo second thoughts 
about discussing good grammar on national tele­
vision. Another letter melted his heart: "Plea~e 
forgive my grammatical errors in this letter. I 

have little formal education but why should that 
stop an expression of love." 114 

IX 

Fifty years ago when they unveiled Holmes ' 
portrait at Harvard , Learned Hand was the 
speaker. Jl5 In his address Hand quoted Carlyle 
as saying he would give more for a single picture 
of a man, whatever it was, than for all the books 
that might be written of him . 116 Judge Hand went 
on to say: "We are fortunate in having a painting 
which justifies that opinion : it will in part at least 
preserve the fleeting essence for others who have 
not had a direct acquaintance with the racy 
speech , the light and shade, the simplicity, the 
tenderness, the reserve, the dignity, that must 
some day perish and leave so much the losers 
such of us who remain . Books and speeches can­
not hold these, and we are much the debtors to 
Mr. Hopkinson [the painter of Holmes' portrait] 
that his brush has been cunning enough to catch 
so large a part . We piously commend his work to 
those who shall come after us, whom time will 
rob of the richness of our possession. " 117 

Learned Hand had a way with words, but he 
knew their limitations . What he said at the un­
veiling of Holmes' portrait puts into words far 
better than mine the thoughts that come to me 
each time I see Hugo on the screen. I am much 
the debtor to Martin Agronsky, to Eric Sevareid, 
and to other co-conspirators, "named and un­
named," who were cunning enough to convince 
Hugo to do his film. 

Hugo Black was a good teacher and good 
teachers are worth sharing . It is important, I 
think, that Hugo Black remain a mentor, not 
merely a memory. Hugo 's film does that. liS By it 
we share this man, the expression of his views, 
the depth of his convictions, and the warmth of 
his smile with others. By it we keep our memo­
ries, our reverence , and our love alive and hand 
them on to new generations all too ready to 
forget. 

* Elizabeth Seay Black was the wife of Justice Hugo 
Black for fourteen years, from 1957 until 1971 when 
Justice Black died. From 1975 to 1981 she served as 
Secretary of the Supreme Court Historical Society, 
Washington, D.C . , and she is currently a member of 
its Executive Committee. 

** A.B. University of Cincinnati; J.D . Harvard 
Law School. Associate Professor of Law, Paul M. 
Hebert Law Center, Louisiana State University. 
Member of the Louisiana Bar and the Bar of the Su-
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preme Court of the United States. Judicial Fellow, 
United States Supreme Court, 1975 -1976. Producer of 
Court Reports, a National Archives film history of the 
Supreme Court of the United States. 

tlpswich, in THE OCCASIONAL SPEECHES 
OF JUSTICE OLIVER WENDELL HOLMES 
(M. D . Howe ed . 1962) 136. 

Footnotes 

1 An Autobiography of the Supreme Court (A. F. 
Westin ed. 1963). Hereafter cited as Autobiography. 

2 4 Wheat. 3J6 (18J9). Marshall had second 
t~oug~t~ about assuming a pen name and defending 
his opInion In the newspapers. He told Story he did not 
want his letters reprinted in New England; nor did he 
want the letters traced back to him. Marshall refused 
to allow Henry Wheaton, the Reporter of Decisions, 
to publIsh them as an Appendix to the official volume 
of the year's opinions. Autobiography 77-78. For the 
full story and a complete collection of the letters in­
cluding Spencer Roane's "Hampden" and" Amphic­
tyon" letters attacking the M'Culioch opinion see 
John Marshall's Defense of McCulloch v. Maryland 
(G. Gunthered . 1969). 

a 98 American Philosophical Society Proceedings 
233 (1954). The title in the text is Westin 's, in AUlObi­
ography 267; Frankfurter 's title was "Some Observa­
tions on the Nature of the Judicial Process in the Su­
pre~ Court Litigation ." According to Professor Wes­
tin's Appendix , " A Selected Bibliography of 

. Speeches and Extrajudicial Writings by United States 
Supreme Court Justices, 1790-1962, " in Autobiog­
raphy 35, Justice Frankfurter talked quite a lot while 
off the bench (18 titles in all are listed in the bibliogra­
phy) , although he was quite sensitive to the inhibitions 
circumscribing a member of the Court. 

4 Westin's title , in AUlObiography 279, an excerpt 
from W. O. Douglas, We The Judges: Studies In 
American And Indian Constitutional Law From Mar­
shall To Mukherjea (1956). Justice Douglas tops Pro­
fessor Westin's "Selected Bibliography'''' Appendix 
A, AUlObiography 39-40] with 25 titles, exceeding 
Hughes by 5 and Frankfurter by 7. 
. 5 35 New York University Law Review 865 (1960) , 
In Autobiography 381. 

6 37 N . Y U. Law R.eview 549 (1962), in AUlObiog­
raphy.401. The IntervIew was conducted after dinner 
on April t4, 1962, before the biennial convention of 
the American Jewish Congress in New York City. Pro­
fessor Westin in his book notes that Edmond Cahn, a 
Professor of Law at New York University Law 
School, was in thorough going agreement with Justice 
Black on ci vii liberties issues. As a result, we are told 
" the interview was thus a wholly friendly one with 
critics unrepresented. " AUlObiography 402. 

In addition to Justice Black's James Madison Lec­
ture and his interview with Edmond Cahn Westin 's 
bibliography lists 6 other addresses and sp~eches by 
Hu&o Black, which is about average for the fifty -six 
Justices In Autobiography. 

7 In a revealing speech before the Tennessee Bar 
Association in 1950 ["The Lawyer and Individual 
Freedom," 21 Tennessee Law Review 461 (1950)] 
Hugo Black first won over his audience with wit (" I 
know, of course, that the first thing in a speech is to 
always say: 'What a great place this is' - I agree to 
that fact. The next thing is : 'What a wonderful Bar 
Association you have' - I agree with Judge Neil on 
that statement. The next thing is: 'How beautiful the 

women are' - (Applause). Of course, Tennessee 
women are the most beautiful in the world." Id . at 
461 -462.); and ·then he told his listeners who the boss 
was . Of his first wife, Josephine Foster Black, Justice 
Black said: "I took the most beautiful woman that was 
born in Tennessee, and she has been ruling me for 
thirty years." Id. 

S In Dean William C. Warren's Foreword to Jus­
tice Black's A Constitutional Faith (1968) x-x i. 

9 Ex rei . Elizabeth Black. 
10 Letter from Francis Lamb to John G . Kester, 

Dec . 7, 1968 , Hugo Black Papers, Library of Con­
gress [hereafter cited as HBP], Box 492 . Mrs . Lamb 
was Elizabeth Black 's successor as Justice Black's sec­
retary ; she was with the Judge for fourteen years until 
he died in 1971. Mr. Kester was Justice Black's law 
clerk forthe October Terms 1963 and 1964 [a listofthe 
law clerks and staff is contained in D. Meador, Mr. 
Justice Black And His Books (1974) 193-200] and was 
on the law faculty of the University of Michigan at the 
time of the television broadcast. He wrote Mrs. Lamb 
asking, "How much arm -twisting did CBS have to do? 
How much editing was there? Did theJudge check out 
the final version?" John G . Kester to Frances Lamb, 
Dec. 4 , 1968, HBP, Box 492. 

II Hugo Black to Dr. Otus Theron West, Jan . 14 , 
1969. Dr. West was Elizabeth Black's personal physi ­
c ian in Birmingham before she came to Washington . A 
copy of Justice Black 's letterto Dr. West is in Elizabeth 
Black's papers, and not in the Hugo Black Collection 
at the Library of Congress, because Justice Black gave 
his copy to Elizabeth. 

12 350 U. S. to 354 U. S . as the lawyers say. 
IJ In Christopher Morley's Preface to Boswell's 

London Journal, 1762-1763 (F. A . Pottle ed. 1950) xi. 
14 For an earlier sampling of her memoir see E. 

Black , "Hugo Black , The Magnificient Rebel ," 9, 
S. W. U. Law Review 889 (1977) , which was one piece 
in a symposium issue of the Southwestern UniversiTY 
Law Review honoring Justice Black [" Justice Hugo L. 
Black: A Symposium ," 9 S. W. U. Law Review no . 4 
(1977»). 

15 A comparison of the excerpts herein with the 
transcript of the interview as broadcast [published in 9 
S. W. U. Law Review 933 (1977)] shows there is much 
new material in Elizabeth Black's account of the inter­
view. 

16 One can, of course, infer much of Hugo Black 's 
outlook on law and life from his opinions and pub­
lished writings. But , as Frankfurter said of Holmes, 
"how much greater our opportunity for knowing him 
by reason of his voluminous correspondence and that 
awing list of books covering his reading of half a 
century." Felix Frankfurter to Charles Fairman, Dec . 
27,1948, quoted in C. Fairman, "The Writing of Jud i­
cial Biography - A Symposium, " 24 Indiana Law 
Journal 363, 368 (1949) . 

I am sure Justice Frankfurter would take no offense 
at my comparison. He had his heroes and he wanted 
others to have theirs . And how endearing Hugo 
Black's letters are, to scholars and students alike. The 
letters on the CBS interview alone fill three boxes in 
the Hugo Black Papers at the Library of Congress; 
they total some thirteen linear inches and fill fifteen 
folders. They are a window to the mind and spirit of 
Hu~o Black. 

I Justice William O . Douglas followed Hugo 
Black 's precedent with a CBS television interview of 
his own, in September 1972, with Eric Sevareid aga in 
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asking questions of a siuing justice about the Court , 
the Constitution, and the country. Other progress has 
also been made in this field . "A Conversation with 
Earl Warren" [Brandeis Television Recollections , 
WGBH-TV, Boston (1972)] was filmed after Chief 
Justice Warren retired from the Court. And " Supreme 
Court" [a film production of WCVE-TV, Richmond, 
Va., under the sponsorship of the Young Lawyers Sec­
tions of the American and Virginia Bar Associations] 
brings Chief Justice Burger, and Justices Tom Clark 
and Lewis Powell to class. "Supreme Court" was 
made in 1976 and it takes its viewer inside the Court , 
including the secret conference room , for the first 
time. For details, see A. Byrne & J. Jones, III, "The 
Making of a Movie, " 2 Virginia Bar Association Jour­
nol 30 (1976) . 

It should be noted, by way of completing the rec­
ord, that the first instance of a sitting justice allowing 
himself to be filmed occurred on the morning of Octo­
ber 24, 1961 in the chambers of Mr. Justice Felix 
Frankfurter, whose reflections on "The Lawyer's 
Place in Our Society" were captured on film at the 
urging of his friend Paul Freund and the National 
Council of Legal Clinics of the American Bar Associa­
tion . See Frankfurter Papers, Library of Congress , 
Box 157 [National Council on Legal Clinics , 1961-62, 
Freund, P. A. & Sacks, Howard]. 

18 It is still true today that portraits of eminent men 
are "an object of considerable interest" - to quote 
John Marshall himself on the subject. Letter to Joseph 
Delapaine, March 22. 1818, quoted in H. Gray, " An 
Address on the Life, Character and Influence of Chief 
Justice Marshall , " in John Marshall (J. F. Oil Ion ed. 
1903)47,92. 

Every constitutional law teacher deals , in one fash­
ion or another. with Justice Black's First Amendment 
absolutism ("No law means no law. "). The usual ap­
proach is via ink on paper: the professor adds another 
note to the fine print of his casebook and then the 
matter is tossed out to the waiting class via the standard 
socratic machine . My students prefer a different sort 
of machine: the Bell & Howell 1592 , which is what 
educational media specialists recognize as a motion 
picture projector. This miraculous contraption and the 
right piece of film break the chains of time and place 
that cabin learning to the small world of;¢e classroom. 
Instead of listening to me talk, my students get to see 
and hear Justice Black himself conducting a class in 
constitutional law. No one sleeps. No mind wanders. I 
can think of no better way of presenting Hugo Black's 
side of the question of First Amendment absolutes 
than to have the Justice himself in class for what is a 
delightful appearance, regardless of where one stands 
on the issue, followed by the usual questions and crit­
ical analysis. 

I should add that law students in the second and 
third years of law school want a change of pace (" At 
the end of the second year men 'are sick' of reading 
cases merely as a method of training or as a means of 
finding out what cases hold, what the doctrines are. " 
Felix Frankfurter to the Committee on Curriculum, 
Harvard Law Schoo l, May 12, 1932 (Some Observa­
tionson Third Year Work) , in 1/ Survey Of The Harvard 
Law Curriculum 1934-35, p. 254 [copy in Frankfurter 
Papers, Library of Congress, Box 143]. And they 
could use a boost of enthusiasm. After viewing the 
CBS interview, one third-year man at Creighton Law 
School wrote Justice Black that "I was never more 
proud to be a law student than after listening to that 

dialogue ." Larry Forman to Hugo Black, Dec . 3, 
1968, HB?, Box 491. 

Based on my own experience using the Black film in 
the second -year individual rights offering at LSU Law 
School, I am quite convinced of the power of the Black 
interview as an instructional resource in constitutional 
law. It adds life to our learning . 

In using the film in class, I am only following the 
example of Felix Frankfurter, who also wanted the 
Justices to "come alive": 

"But beyond this was a broad instruction not only 
to the Supreme Court as an institution but also to 
many of its Justices as persons. Marshall, Story, 
Taney, Field, Bradley, Waite, Miller, Moody­
all of these and others of the past came alive and 
took their places in the stream of thought which is 
the business of the Supreme Court. And the con­
temporary Justices - Taft , Holmes, Brandeis , 
Butler, Stone and the rest, became real per­
sonalities - intellectual personalities - with 
whom one might agree or differ, but for whom 
one acquired some measure of understanding and 
res peCI. " 

E. Griswold, "Fel ix Frankfurter, Teacher of the Law," 
76 Harvard Law Review 7 , 8-9 (1962). 

A col()f film of the interview, 32 minutes in length , 
can be rented or purchased from BFA Educational 
Media, 2211 Michigan Ave. , P.O. Box 1795 , Santa 
Monica, Cal. 90406. 

19 L. Hand , "To the Harvard Alumni Association" 
(1936), in The Spirit Of Liberty (I. Dilliard ed. 3d ed. 
1960)111 , 113 . 

20 Hugo' main concern in securing written au­
thorization to withhold the program appears in the 
following passage in CBS's letter of agreement: "You 
can be certain that we will do everything possible to 
make this conversation reflect accurately your 
thoughts and philosophy." Burton Benjamin to Hugo 
Black. Sept. 19 , 1968, HB?, Box 491. 

21 All of the material from the interview quoted 
herein has been verified for accuracy against the sound 
recordings of the interview, which are in the possession 
of Elizabeth Black. 

22 H. Black, "The Bill of Rights," 35 N . Y U. Law 
Review 865 (1960) . 

23 Id. at 867. 
24 See, e.g., V. V. Hamilton, "Preface" to Hugo 

Black And The Bill Of Rights: Proceedings Of The 
First Hugo Black Symposium In American History On 
"The Bill Of Rights And American Democracy" (1976) 
xiii ("In thirty-five years on the high court, from the 
Great Depression through the tumultuous I960s, Jus­
tice Black maintained his personal vigil over the Bill of 
Rights, always insisting that the guarantees of the first 
ten amendments were absolute .... "). And the latest 
scholarship on Justice Black, J. J. Magee, Mr. Justice 
Black: Absolutist On The Court (1980) 8 ("All of the 
provisions of the Bill of Rights, not just the First 
Amendment, he [Black] said, contain absolute rights. 
. . . ") also gets it wrong . It's interesting that Professor 
Magee's bibliography makes no mention of the CBS 
interview, nor is it cited in text. 

2 5 For a telling look inside the conference room see 
Mr. Justice Clark's account , The Supreme Court Con­
ference 37 Texas Law Review 273 (1959). 

26 From The Diaries Of Felix Frankfurter (1 . P. 
Lashed . 1975). 

27 H . Black, Jr. , My Father: A Remembrance 
(1975) 250-256. Hugo wanted his cert. notes burned 
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because he thought publ ishing the notes of conversa­
tions between justices inhibited the free exchange of 
ideas. He also thought the reports by one justice of 
another's conduct in the heat of a difference might 
unfairly and inaccurately reflect what actually hap­
pened. In insisting on burning his cert. notes Hugo 
was following the example of Holmes. See Holmes' 
comment, in a letter to Frederick Pollock [quoted in 
J. P. Lash, From The Diaries Of Felix Frankfurter 
(1975) 51]: "I have done my best to destroy illuminat­
ing documents . " 

18 Compare Alexander Bickel's comment, in his 
Preface to A. Bickel, The Unpublished Opinions Of 
Mr. Justice Brandeis (1957) viii-ix, "There are no 
trivia preserved here, no casual gossip or malice; only 
that is here which is relevant to a fair appraisal of the 
performance of public men. " And , to borrow from 
Paul Freund's IniroduClion to the same volume, Uf. at 
xvi, "the intimacies here described are not aimless or 
malicious disclosures; they are relevant to understand­
ing, and so, to use a favorite word of Justice Brandeis , 
they are instructive." Felix Frankfurter also struggled 
with the problem of disclosure of confidential court 
documents, and his solution is instructive: "Disclosure 
of Court happenings not made public by the Court 
itself, in its opinions and orders, presents a ticklish 
problem . ... But the passage of time may enervate the 
reasons for this restriction , particularly if disclosure 
rests not on tittle-tattle or self-serving declarations. 
The more so is justification for thus lifting the veil of 
secrecy if thereby the conduct of a Justice whose intel­
lectual morality has been impugned is vindicated." F. 
Frankfurter, "Mr. Justice Roberts" (1955), in Felix 
Frankfurter On The Supreme Court (P. uri and ed. 
1970)516,519 .. . 

29 ReylUJlds v. United States, 98 U . S. 145 (1878). 
30 See , e.g., David Lawrence's column in the 

Washington Evening Star, Dec. 5, 1968, p. A-17 
("Black Clarifies the Right of Protest"); and Richard 
L. Tobin 's article, "How Far Does Free Speech Go?" 
in the Saturday Review, Jan. 11, ·1969, p. 1 l3..~-

31 309 U. S. 227 (1940) . 
32 Id . at 241. 
33 On display at the National Portrait Gallery, 

Washington, D.C . The portrait is a preliminary 
sketch, with several studies of Roosevelt's hands, for 
€handl r's later "The Big Three at Malta ." 

34 "When this statement is ended my discussion of 
the question is closed." C. Williams, Hugo L. Black: 
A Study In The Judicial Process (1950) 29. 

35 Hugo explained his decision to cut out the Klan 
in a letter to Burton Benjamin on Sept. 30, 1968, H BP, 
Box 491: "[WJhen I came from Europe, after I was 
appointed to the Court, I made a nationwide radio 
speech . At that time I discussed the question about the 
K Ian and stated what I had said disposed of the subject 
so far as I was concerned, and I would never make 
another statement about it. However there [in the in-
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52 Daniel J. Me 
of Alabama Law S 
Black, Dec. 6, 19('; 

53 Robert T. B: 
1968 , HB?, Box 4' 

54 R. L. Shayol 
view, Jan. 4,1969, 

55 Id. 
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1968, HBP, Box 4' 
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1968, HB?, Box 4' 
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H B?, Box 492. 
59 Robert W. C 

HBP, Box 491. 
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HB?, Box 491. 
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HB?, Box 491. 
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the 1940 Term and 



HUGO BLACK: A MEMORIAL PORTRAIT 93 

66 Frances Lamb to John G. Kester, Dec. 7,1968 , 
HB?, Box 492. 

67 "Motives were not hard to find," says Professor 
Dunne, who viewed Hugo's interview as a sort of pub­
lic relations campaign to lift the Court 's popularity in 
the Gallop Poll. G. T. Dunne , Hugo Black And The 
Judicial RevolUlion (1977) 33-34. Nothing could be 
further from the truth . 

68 Hugo Black to Mrs. Martin Wittner Imber, lan. 
13, 1969, HBP, Box 491. 

691d. 
70 Mrs . Martin Wittner Imber to Hugo Black. lan. 

6, 1969 , HBP, Box 491. 
71 Saul Hess to Hugo Black, Dec . 6 , 1968, HBP, 

Box 491. 
72 John E. Browning, Jr., to Hugo Black, Dec. 4, 

1968 , HBP, Box 491. 
73 Burton Benjamin to Hugo Black, May 26 , 1969, 

HBP, Box 491. 
74 Brown v. Board of Education , 347 U. S. 483 

(1954) . "In 1954 lustice Black participated in the 
Court 's historic, unanimous decision outlawing seg­
regated education . Many fellow Alabamians angrily 
called him Judas. Although Justice Black is, in the 
opinion of many. the most distinguished national 
figure to emerge from Alabama origins, the shadow of 
Savage Ideal still obscures his greatness in his native 
state. " Y. Y. Hamilton, Alabama (1977) 176. 

" Drew Harrington to Hugo Black, Dec. 4, 1968, 
HBP, Box 491. 

76 Hugo Black to Drew Harrington, Dec _ 6, 1968, 
HBP, Box 491. 

77 Mary Tortorici to Elizabeth Black, Dec. 5 , 1968. 
78 Hugo Black toG . A. Estes, Dec _ 10, 1968, HBP, 

Box 491. 
79 The 13th Chapter of First Corinthians reads: 

" And now abideth faith, hope , charity, these three; but 
the greatest of these is charity_" Hugo always substi ­
tuted the word " love" for the word "charity" in this 
passage . 

80 Hugo Black to Ellis C. Breedlove, Dec. 6 , 1968 , 
HBP, Box 491. 

81 Telegram from Ralph H_ Brown to Hugo Black, 
Dec. 3, 1968, HBP, Box 491. 

82 Hugo Black to Ralph H_ Brown , Dec. 4, 1968, 
HBP, Box 491. \ 

8:J Newton C. Estes to Hugo Black , Dec . 20 , 1968 , 
HBP, Box 491. 

8 4 Hugo Black to Mrs. R. E. Bohannon , Dec. 10, 
1968, HBP, Box 491. 

S5 Mrs. R. E. Bohannon to Hugo Black, undated, 
HBP, Box 491. 

86 W. E. Burger, "Dedicatory Address" (1976), in 
Hugo Black And The Bill Of Rights: Proceedings Of 
The First Hugo Black Symposium In American History 
On "The Bill Of Rights And American Democracy" (Y. 
Y. Hamilton ed. 1978) I, 5 ("Once he [Black] said 
something to the effect that. as men who had spent 
many days in courtrooms and in controversy, we had 
become professional in our capacity to disagree w ith­
out becoming disagreeable about it.") 

87 Hugo Black to Mrs. R. E. Bohannon, Dec. 17. 
1968 , H BP, Box 491. 

8 8 Id. Compare Chief lustice Burger's remarks, in 
his touching tribute to Hugo during the Court's Me­
morial Proceedings, April 18, 1972 [405 U.S. IX, 
LVI): 

"On one occasion, Hugo Black and I talked for 
several hours on a point that could move him to 

great eloquence. He could see that I was not 
fully persuaded, and , as we separated, that 
wonderful, warm smile flooded his counte­
nance, his eyes sparkled and he said something 
like this: 'Do you know something? You might 
be right about that, so stick to your guns. I don't 
think you are right, but it might turn out that you 
are . ' tJ 

89 Hugo Black to Mrs. Christine Jenkins, Dec . I7, 
1968 , HBP, Box 492. 

9 0 Hugo Black to T. Spurgeon Bell, Dec . 16, 1968, 
HBP, Box 491. 

'" See , e.g., Washington Post, Dec. 5, 1968, p. 
A-20 ("But Supreme Court opinions, unfortunately, 
are not widely read. " ). 

n Des Moines Register, Dec. 7, 1968 , p. 22 (copy 
of the editorial in HBP, Box 491, end folder). 

"3 Washington Post, Dec . 5, 1968, p. A-20. 
94 New York Times , Dec. 4, 1968, p. I; story by 

Homer Bigart. 
% Variety. Dec . II , 1968, p. 28 . 
96 Boston Sunday Globe, Dec . 1968 (Edit.orial 

"Mr. Justice Black Goes on Camera") (copy in HBP, 
Box 491 , end folder). 

9 7 T. Lewis, "Hugo Black Gives Lift To a Troubled 
Nation , " New York Daily News, Dec . 4,1968, p. 4. 

9 8 Was lington Post. Dec . 5, 1968 , p. A-20 . 
9 9 James J. Kilpatrick, " For the Reconfirmation of 

ludges ," Washington Sunday Star, Dec. 8 , 1968 , p. 
C-4 . 

100 R . L. Shayon , "The TV Sunset. " Saturday Re­
view, lan. 4 , 1969, p. 98. 

101 Washington Star, Dec. 7.1968 , p. A-5. 
102 Burtull Benjamin to Hugo Black, lune 2, 1969, 

HBP, Box 491. 
103 E. Sevareid, "What 's Right with Sight-and­

Sound lournalism." Saturday Review, Oct. 2 , 1976, p. 
19. 

104 Burton Benjamin to Hugo Black, April 2, 1970, 
HBP, Box 491. 

105 Hugo Black to Burton Benjamin, April 16, 
1970. Hugo and I watched the CBS program "Do We 
Believe in the B ill of Rights," which was broadcast on 
April 17th, with great interest. 

106 Hugo Black to Lawrence E. Spivak, Dec. 6, 
1968, HBP, Box 493 . 

107 Hugo Black to Ed Kranch, Dec. 9. 1968. HBP. 
Box 492. 

108 Hugo Black to Burton Benjamin, Dec. 4 , 1968, 
HBP, Box 491. 

109 W. H. Harbaugh, Lawyer's Lawyer (1973). In 
chapter 24 of his book on Davis (" Leader of the Appel­
late Bar") Professor Harbaugh quotes what Hugo said 
about Davis during the televis ion interview. And in his 
notes to that chapter he quotcs a letter he received from 
Hugo. which added about Davis that " I could have 
said muc h more about him because he was one of the 
ablest advocates that evcr appeared before our Court." 
Id. at 604-605 note 17. 

110 Max F Goldstein to Hugo Black , Dec. 9, 1968. 
HBP, Box 491 . 

111 Hugo Black to Max f Goldstein, Dec. II, 
1968, HBP, Box Box 491. 

ll 2 Hugo Black to Peter Carter, Dec . 13 , 1968, 
HBP, Box 491. 

113 Barry M . Burrows to Hugo Black. Dec. 3, 
1968, HB?, Box 491. 

114 Jean Jones to Hugo Black. Dec. 4, 1968 , HB? 
Box 491. 
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115 The lead article in the Harvard Alumni Bulletin 
for Tuesday, March 27, 1930 [vol. 32, p. 741], "A 
Portrait of Mr. Justice Holmes," reported the event 
and quoted Learned Hand's remarks in full. Later, 
Hand's address, together with a facing photograph of 
Hopkinson's Holmes, was published in the Harvard 
Law Review [vol. 43, p. 857 and facing]. 

116 In Carlyle's essay on portraiture, "Exhibition of 
Scottish Portraits" (1854), in XVI The Works Of 
Thomas Carlyle: Critical And Miscellaneous Essays 
(Collier ed. 1897) 514,515. Inasmuch as the published 
versions of Hand's speech at the Holmes unveiling do 
not give the Carlyle cite, I looked it up myself and 
found words that express the essence of Hugo's film 
perfectly: 

"Often I have found a Portrait superior in real in­
struction to half a dozen written 'Biographies,' as 
Biographies are written;-or rather, let me say, I 
have found that the portrait was as a small lighted 
candle by which the Biographies could for the 
first time be read, and some human interpretation 
be made of them; the Biographied Personage no 
longer an empty impossible Phantasm, or dis­
tracting Aggregate of inconsistent rumors - (in 
which state, alas his usual one, he is worth noth­
ing to anybody, except it be as a dried thistle for 
Pedants to thrash, and for men to fly out of the 
way of), - but yielding at last some features 

" . r 

which one could admit to be human." 
117 L. Hand, "Mr. Justice Holmes," 43 Harvard 

Law Review 857 (1930). 
J 18 I want to leave the last words in these notes to the 

Chief Justice of the United States and to an American 
who happened across Hugo for the first time some ten 
years ago. 

First Warren E. Burger, what he said about Hugo 
during the Memorial Proceedings held in open Court 
in 1972 [405 U. S. LIII, LIV]. The Chief's words 
were loving: 

"There is always a risk of having our admiration 
for uncommon men and women create an image 
that becomes, in time, more legend than flesh and 
blood. Hugo Black would not like that. ... He 
would not mind a dash of legend but he was so 
vital in his humanity, so firm in his basic views, 
that he would also want to be seen and remem­
bered as his intimates saw him .... " 

Next what I<c itizen of California said to Hugo after 
watching him 9,n television: 

"Most of us have never heard a Justice's voice, 
and have never seen other than a still photograph 
of one. This is all wrong. Written opinions will 
never replace flesh and blood when it comes to 
understanding. " 

Marshall W. Rissman to Hugo Black, Dec. 4, 1968, 
HBP, Box 492. 
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The Nomination of Charles Evans 
Hughes as Chief Justice 

Merlo J. Pusey 

Since the hardy myth regarding the nomina­
tion of Charles Evans Hughes as Chief Justice in 
1930 has been dignified by extensive reiteration 
in the Supreme Court Historical Society Year­
book, a dispassionate review of the facts seems 
to be in order. The allegation is that President 
Herbert Hoover offered Hughes the position as a 
political gesture, expecting him to decline, and 
that Hoover's real intention was to name his 
closer friend, Justice Harlan F. Stone. If that ver­
sion could be sustained, a vital era in the history 
of the Supreme Court would have to be attributed 
to a presidential miscalculation. 

The source of this myth is a story told by 
Under Secretary of State Joseph P. Cotton, who 
is said to have been with President Hoover when 
word reached him that Chief Justice William 
Howard Taft was about to resign because of his 
critical illness. Cotton is said to have remarked 
that this would give the President a great oppor­
tunity to make his friend Stone CHief Justice and 
then to appoint Judge Learned Hand to the Su­
preme Court vacancy thus created . Hoover is 
said to have replied that he felt an obligation to 
offer the place first to Hughes , but Cotton in­
sisted that Hughes would not accept such an offer 
because it would necessitate the resignation of 
his son, Charles Evans Hughes, Jr., as Solicitor 
General . 

fered repeated amputations until there is not 
much left of it except the grim determination of a 
few die-hards to cling to the shreds. 

When the Cotton story came to the attention of 
Hoover in 1937, he flatly denied its substance in 
a letter tb Chief Justice Hughes: "I scarcely need 
to say that no such conversation ever took place, 
and your recollection will confirm mine that I 
never had any telephone conversation with you 
at all on the subject." 1 Hughes thanked the 

~ Relying upon that assumption, Hoover is said 
to have made the offer to Hughes by telephone 
and to have been embarrassed when Hughes 
snatched up the prize immediately without think­
ing about his son. Cotton told this version to a 
number of friends, including Felix Frankfurter, 
and it ultimately found its way into various pub­
lications. As facts have come to light from vari­
ous different sources, however, the tale has suf-

~ -=--- ~ 

Charles Evans Hllghes prior 10 his appointment as Chief Jus­
lice by President Herbert Hoover in 1936-. 
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former President for his comment and asked 
permission to quote it to Henry F. Pringle, who 
was writing the Taft biography, because Pringle 
was one of those who had publicized the Cotton 
story. Hoover then wrote Hughes a more exten­
si ve letter (after checking his presidential files) in 
which he said that he had discussed the appoint­
ment of a successor to Taft with Attorney Gen­
eral William D. Mitchell and one other person 
but not with Cotton. "Mr. Cotton was Under 
Secretary of State, " Hoover wrote, "and had 
nothing to do with judicial appointments . " 2 

This direct conflict between the memories of 
Hoover and Cotton can scarcely be resolved by 
testimonials regarding the veracity of the two 
men or by buttressing the unquestioned reputa­
tion of Justice Frankfurter for telling the truth. It 
is quite conceivable that Hoover did talk with 
Cotton about the approaching vacancy in the 
chief justiceship and then forgot about it because 
he was looking to Mitchell for an official rec­
ommendation on the subject. But Cotton's asser­
tion that Hoover offered Hughes the chief jus­
ticeship by telephone and got an immediate ac­
ceptance cannot be reconciled witQ the known 
facts. 

Of course there was a telephone call from the 
White House to Hughes in New York. Hughes 
answered the call while one of his legal associ­
ates, Ernest L. Wilkinson, was in the office. 
Wilkinson heard nothing that coul be inter­
preted as an acceptance of the chief justiceship. 
But Hughes did accept an invitation to meet with 
the President, and he apparently surmised what 
Hoover wanted to talk about. As Hughes put 
down the telephone receiver he told Wilkinson, 
"Hold up that opinion. It may not go out." 3 An 
invitation to the White House while the chief 
justiceship was known to be under consideration 
because of Taft's grave illness was sufficient to 
put Hughes' legal advice beyond the reach of any 
private client. 

Beyond this persuasive evidence that there 
was no offer or acceptance by telephone are the 
statements and conduct of Hughes himself. 
When he ate breakfast with the President on Jan­
uary 31, 1930, he had not made up his mind 
whether he would accept the onerous task of 
presiding over the Supreme Court if it should be 
offered to him. 4 Hoover began the consultation 
by saying that Taft's resignation had not yet come 
in but it would undoubtedly be forthcoming . 

Robert A. Taft , son of the Chief Justice and later 
Senator, had gone to the White House to report 
on his father's condition, and members of the 
Court had informed the Attorney General that 
Taft would resign as soon as the President was 
ready to nominate a successor. Hoover explained 
that he wished to be ready with a nomination as 
soon as the resignation came in " and thus pre­
vent all the political pulling and hauling that 
takes place over an open vacancy." 5 

Instead of jumping at the bait, Hughes pro­
tested that he was too old to take on the respon­
sibilities of the chief justiceship. Within three 
months he would be sixty-eight. It was highly 
desirable for the new chief justice to be younger 
so that he could expect a substantial period of 
service. A second reason why he should not ac­
cept the position, Hughes said, was that his son 
would have to resign as Solicitor General. 6 His 
third argument was that he had "earned the right 
to finish his life in peace." 

Hoover swept away these arguments, saying 
he was eager to keep Charles Junior in the gov­
ernment and would find him another position of 
equal importance. The main thrust of his argu­
ment was that the country would expect the posi­
tion to go to Hughes and that it was Hughes ' 
duty to accept it. Finally, he noted that Taft 
would more readily resign if he could be assured 
that Hughes would succeed him. Taft was known 
to be opposed to the elevation of Justice Stone to 
the seat under the eagle because he feared that 
Stone would have difficulty in " massing the 
court," 7 a fear that proved to be well founded 
when Stone ultimately succeeded Hughes . 

At the end of a prolonged discussion , Hughes 
told the President that he would accept the posi­
tion if there 'were reasonable assurance that his 
nomination would not provoke a fight in the Sen­
ate over his confirmation . Having been active in 
Hoover's 1928 campaign, Hughes feared a polit­
ical Donnybrook of the type that did later break 
loose, but Hoover was reassuring on this point. It 
is unmistakably plain that there was no ac­
ceptance of the President's necessarily tentative 
offer until the end of the January 31 conference at 
the White House . 

Promoters of the Cotton story make much of 
Hughes' failure to mention his reluctance to 
displace his son in his Biographical Notes , but 
there are many gaps in these notes, which were 
never intended for publication. Hughes emphat-
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Chiej'Jusrice Charie" Evans HlIghes . 

ically rejected all proposals that he write an au­
tobiography on the ground that "autobiography 
almost invariably becomes apologia," 8 which 
he wished to avoid. His Notes were prepared for 
the benefit of his authorized biographer, who 
turned out to be myself. One of the first things he 
said to me, as he released a segment of his Notes 
into my hands, was that they should never be 
published . They later turned up in book form 
only because the Library of Congress carelessly 
permitted the copy which I entrusted to it for 
safe-keeping to be transcribed for publication 
despite an explicit reservation forbidding any 
such use . To supplement his incomplete Notes in 
the preparation of his biography Hughes made 
himself available for interviews, usually weekly, 
over a period of two and a half years. In those 
interviews he talked about his appointment as 
Chief Justice in great detail on several occasions 
in terms that riddled the Cotton story. 

No one who knew Charles Evans Hughes in­
timately, moreover, would accuse him of failure 
to remember the interests of his son. Hughes was 
primarily a family man, who was deeply in love 
with his wife, Antoinette Carter Hughes, and 
ultra-sensitive to the welfare of his children. 
Charles Junior had been his partner in the prac-

tice of law, and Hughes was highly gratified by 
the naming of his son as Solicitor General, de­
spite the resulting contraction of his (the elder 
Hughes') legal practice as a result, because most 
of the cases he had been arguing were against the 
government. When the question of the chief jus­
ticeship arose, Hughes allowed himself to be 
persuaded by Mrs. Hughes and the President in 
spite of the repercussions upon his son . It was a 
case of putting first things first regardless of un­
fortunate side effects . Half-baked journalistic 
reports and snide gossip cannot stand against the 
overwhelming evidence that Hughes did not 
forget his son's welfare in those crucial hours of 
decision. 

In gathering data for my biography of Chief 
Justice Hughes I necessarily put the Cotton story 
under close scrutiny. When I brought to his atten­
tion the reports that he had accepted the chief 
justiceship on the telephone, he snorted with irri­
tation. "How ridiculous," he said , "to suppose 
that the President would make an offer of this 
kind over the telephone." 9 He went on to say 
that in the telephone conversation asking him to 
come to the White House there was no mention 
whatever as to the purpose of the requested visit. 

My publication of facts that watered down the 
Cotton story led to a rather extended controversy 
with Justice Frankfurter. On November 14, 
1956, he wrote me a letter saying that he con­
tinued to believe the Cotton story. I replied citing 
what seemed to me positive proof that Hoover 
could not have expected Hughes to decline when 
the offer was made. The Justice replied at length, 
and I did likewise . The exchange ran on through 
several more additions. It is worthy of mention 
here because Justice Frankfurter made several 
important concessions while clinging to what, 
for him, was the central point-that Cotton did 
discuss the nomination of a successor to Taft with 
the President. But the Justice withdrew from the 
contention of other purveyors of the Cotton tale 
that the chief justiceship was offered and ac­
cepted by telephone . On December 10, 1956, he 
wrote me: "I dare say there was nothing in that 
talk that could with precision be called an offer, 
and correspondingly there was nothing said by 
Hughes at the other end that could be called an 
acceptance . " 10 

This obviously upsets the spite-laden conclu­
sion that Hughes snatched the prize impulsively 
without so much as a thought about the conse-
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quences for his son . About the only thing Justice 
Frankfurter clung to after being confronted by all 
the evidence available was a belief that Hoover 
did talk to Cotton about selecting a successor to 
Taft and that Cotton did suggest the nomination 
of Stone after a first offer to Hughes , which he 
would decline. Frankfurter wrote me on No­
vember27,1956: 

The short of it ' for me is - considering Cot­
ton's character, the contemporaneity of his ac­
count, the intrinsically verifying details in that 
account-that such a conversation between Cot­
ton and the President (carefully timed during 
Secretary Stimson's absence from Washington) 
did in fact take place, that there was a telephone 
call and that as a result of it Hughes came down 
from New York and had the breakfast to which 
you refer. My guess is that Hughes did not accept 
unequivocally over the phone but that the shrewd 
Cotton rightly inferred that when he came down 
to see the President-as he doubtless was asked 
to have that breakfast to which you refer - he 
would allow himself to be persuaded by the Pres­
ident to accept. The last statement is, as I have 
indicated, an inference . II 

That inference is rather spongy in the face of 
the fact that Hughes was not told what the Presi­
dent wished to see him about. But ~here is very 
little historic interest in Mr. Cotton's thought 
processes. If he did recommend a tongue-in­
cheek offer of the chief justiceship to Hughes, 
and if he did interpret the invitation to Hughes to 
come to the White House as an acceptance on his 
part of an office that had not been meniioned, his 
reckless comments and assumptions apparently 
made no impression on Hoover, who didn't even 
remember talking to Cotton on the subject. 

One other aspect of the 1930 appointment de­
mands substantial weight in the scales of history. 
The key presidential adviser in regard to judicial 
nominations was not Cotton but Attorney Gen­
eral Mitchell. When members of the Supreme 
Court informed Mitchell that Taft would resign 
as soon as the President was ready to name a suc­
cessor, Mitchell reminded Hoover that he 
"would be confronted soon with the most impor­
tant appointment that he would have to make as 
President, the appointment of a new Chief Jus­
tice." 12 Is it conceivable that Hoover would 
ignore the Attorney General in fiiJ ing that 
position? 

There was no doubt in Mitchell's mind as to 
who the new Chief Justice should be. Hughes 
was unquestionably the nation's leading judicial 
statesman, but Mitchell did not wish to make an 

official recommendation without some indica­
tion as to what Hughes' response would be. He 
persuaded Justices Willis Van Devanter and 
Pierce Butler to sound out Hughes, which they 
did at a dinner in his New York apartment on Jan­
uary 28. While no details of this conference are 
on record, it is reasonable to assume that the two 
justices conveyed to Hughes the hope of Taft that 
Hughes would be his successor. What is known 
is that they reported to Mitchell an impression 
that Hughes was favorably disposed toward the 
offer if it should come. 

With this green light for his objective, Mitch­
ell went to the White House and recommended 
Hughes for the place. Since Hooverdiscussed no 
other potential nominees with the Attorney Gen­
eral, he concluded that the President's thinking 
paralleled his own. Hoover asked if Mitchell 
thought Hughes would acquiesce, and Mitchell 
replied that he felt sure of it. 13 Mitchell left the 
conference with the understanding that Hoover 
would accept his recommendation and make an 
offer to Hughes. 

Mitchell's account of those events is wholly 
consistent with that of Hoover. In his letter to 
Hughes on the subject the President wrote: 

I at once discussed the question of his (Taft's) 
possible successor with the Attorney General. To 
my great satisfaction, Mr. Mitchell urged your 
appointment. The question required no consulta­
tion with others. It was the obvious appoint­
ment. 14 

In the course of his discussion with the Presi­
dent, Mitchell made some reference to the 
rumors that Taft's mantle might fall on Justice 
Stone. "The President expressed surprise," 
Mitchell writes, "and I realized that he had not 
been considering Justice Stone or anyone else 
but Mr. Hughes." 15 

Unless one is willing to assume that Mitchell 
lied or had an appalling distortion of memory, it 
is clear that Hoover could not have offered the 
chief justiceship to Hughes expecting him to de­
cline. What, then, is left of the Cotton story? 

The evidence is conclusive that the offer to 
Hughes was not made on the telephone. The as­
sumption that Hughes acted precipitously with­
out thinking about the consequences to his son 's 
career is contradicted by the established facts in 
addition to being inconsistent with everything 
that is known about Hughes. Both Hoover and 
Mitchell have swept away Cotton's presumption 
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that the President expected Hughes to decline his 
offer. These well documented facts cannot be 
dissolved by the argument that Hoover did some­
times make offers by telephone or by claims that 
the Cotton story" has as a psychological matter 
the ring of truth." History cannot be made by 
dancing on a lilypad of fiction, however skillful 
the performer may be. 

The point of this reiteration of data that have 
long been on record is not to pass judgment on 
Joseph Cotton . The conflict between the 
statements of Hoover and Cotton cannot be 
wholly resolved on the basis of available facts. 
What is apparent, however, is that Cotton's ad­
vice to Hoover - if indeed they did discuss the 
naming of a successor to Taft - was out on the 
fringe and had no bearing on the choice that was 
made. Cotton obviously did not know what was 

going on in the minds of those who made the 
decision, and his crude attempt to read the mind 
of Hughes tends to undermine the credibility of 
the entire story. 

A preponderance of facts indicates that 
Hughes was Hoover's first choice for the chief 
justiceship despite his closer personal friendship 
with Justice Stone. Hoover acted logically and 
responsibly in the national interest without being 
swayed by friends who had axes to grind. His 
high-minded decision brought to the leadership 
of the Supreme Court one of the ablest legal 
minds this country has produced at a time of 
crisis for constitutional government. To demean 
that performance as an insincere gesture, in the 
face of conclusive evidence to the contrary, is a 
grave disservice to the Court and to history. 
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Toward I987: 
Between War and Peace in I782 

William F. Swindler 

(Editor's Note: This continues the series of 
sketches leading up to the Bicentennial of the 
Constitution in 1987-89, with a review of the 
events of two hundred years earlier, in the unset­
tled year following the victory at Yorktown in 1781 
and before the final peace treaty of 1783.) 

Although the surrender of Cornwallis at 
Yorktown in October 1781 made it clear to lead­
ers on both sides of the Atlantic that the War of 
American Independence had been decided, it 
would be sixteen more months before the final 
peace settlement. The defeat of the principal 
British field army in America meant the end of 
Lord North's ministry in England; he resigned 
on March 20, 1782 and was succeeded two days 
later by Lord Rockingham, the minister who in 
1766 had negotiated the repeal ofthe Stamp Act. 
This might have been a particularly auspicious 
preliminary to the settling of affairs between 
Great Britain and the newly-established United 
States; but Rockingham died a few months later 
and was succeeded July 1 by the Earl of Sher­
burne. 

Early in April, Rockingham had appointed 
Richard Oswald to represent the government in 
opening talks with Benjamin Franklin in Paris, 
but the change in ministries that summer, com­
pounded by the insistence of the erstwhrle 
French allies of America to participate (which, 
as it turned out, largely meant to obstruct) , de­
layed any substantive discussions until late De­
cember. As for the other American members of 
the peace commission, their fortunes varied -
John Jay did not arrive from Madrid until late 
June, and John Adams did not come from The 
Netherlands (where he had managed to secure an 
important loan of Dutch money for the new na­
tion) until October. Of the remaining two , Henry 
Laurens had been captured on the high seas by 
the British Navy and not released until after the 

preliminary articles were agreed to in Novem­
ber; and Thomas Jefferson, although named to 
the commission, never served at all. 

There were several deals being negotiated be­
hind the scenes of the peace talks between the 
former colonists and the mother country. Spain, 
which had managed to make a show of support­
ing the Americans without getting significantly 
involved in the hostilities, got a piece of the ac ­
tion in the form of a cession of "the Floridas" 
from Great Britain. Franklin , whether or not he 
seriously believed the British would consider it, 
made an early proposal that Canada be trans­
ferred to !he United States as part of the settle­
ment. The British, through Oswald, proposed to 
retain temporarily the military outposts around 
Detroit until satisfied that the treaty terms (e.g., 
recognition of debts owing British subjects, etc .) 
were being complied with; it would be some 
years before all British influence, commercial 
and otherwise, had been overcome in the Great 
Lakes and Upper Mississippi regions. 

Meantime, back on the home front, the" per­
petual union" proclaimed by the Articles of 
Confederation was beginning to lose some of its 
cohesiveness as the wartime necessities of coop­
eration dissolved. The individual states - sev­
eral of which unsel fconsciously called them­
selves "countries" - were setting about the 
business of both political and economic reorga­
nization. If the main westward movement of 
population had not yet begun, the growing num­
bers within many of the states were shifting to­
ward the undeveloped parts within their own 
boundaries. Settlers in Vermont were increas­
ingly insistent upon converting the former 
"Hampshire grants" into a separate state; al­
ready, early in the Revolution , a proprietary state 
of "lIansylvania" had been tentatively set up in 
the region west of the Potomac; and the so-called 
"State of Franklin," complete with a constitu-
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tion and government under Col. John Sevier 
(U Nolachucky Jack") had been carved out of 
western North Carolina. 

As for the Congress of the Confederation (a 
more accurate name for the Continental Con-

gress after March 1781) , it was for the present 
being carried along by the momentum of the 
events of the previous year. But the problems 
confronting it as peace began to become a reality, 
were in many respects even more daunting than 

Nearly one hUllderd years 100er the IUlIion prepares 10 celebrate t"e bicelllennial oJthe ConslilUlion. 
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those of war. The protracted delay in peace 
negotiations meant that the Continental Army 
had to be continued on a wartime footing; but 
there were growing signs of discontent in that 
army, as the question of how the government 
could payoff its veterans remained glaringly un­
resolved. Part of the plan for ceding the" western 
lands" to the national government-a condition 
of final ratification of the Articles of Confedera­
tion - had been to discharge a major part of the 
soldiers' claims by land warrants and bounties. 
But with the lingering Briti sh presence in the 
Ohio and Upper Mississippi regions, and the 
conflicting claims of Spanish and American au­
thorities on the Gulf Coast, the practicality of that 
scheme was cast in doubt. 

Nor were hostilities entirely ended, by any 
means. In April a serious incident arose in New 
Jersey, where a band of Loyalists, whether or not 
acting under British military authority, captured 
and hanged a number of Continental Army sol­
diers. In retaliation, a British prisoner of war, 

Captain Charles Asgill, was selected to be exe­
cuted in reprisal. General Washington and the 
British commander-in-chief, General Tarleton , 
held protracted discussions on the matter, and it 
was not until November that Asgill was finally 
reprieved and released. 

Meantime, the lack of a public treasury 
hamstrung the government's efforts. Money, or 
the lack of it, would prove to be the Achilles heel 
in the new body politic, when the Philadelphia 
Convention was called five years later; the quota 
system of financial support from the states was a 
totally ineffective paper plan-the states argued 
endlessly over the basis for the quotas, and sel­
dom ended up paying anything. The Dutch loan 
was a brief stopgap, but other foreign loans were 
slow in coming, and France, which had ad­
vanced so much in the course of the war, declined 
to continue sending good money after bad . Men 
like Robert Morris and Alexander Hamilton 
wrestled mightily with the financial problem, but 
it would take the powers under a new Constitu-

tion to provide any practical means of solution. 
Yet a government was taking shape. Charles 

Thomson, the "perpetual secretary" of Con­
gress, now was head of a separate office which 
amounted to a state department - although 
foreign affairs was the business of another de­
partment under Robert R . Livingston of New 
York . A limited judicial system had begun in 
1780 with the formal creation of the Court of 
Appeals to review maritime prize cases from the 
state courts of admiralty; and a counterpart of 
this system was the procedure for appointing 
courts of arbitration in interstate land disputes, 
which would have its most (and only) effective 
moment in the "Wyoming Valley" i~sue betw"en 

Connecticut and Pennsylvania. A reorganized 
post office was now authorized by statute, what­
ever that might mean in practice. 

But the problems were multiplying. The New 
England states demanded protection of their fish­
ing rights off the Newfoundland Banks , while 
the westward-moving inland river commerce 
demanded a free port at the mouth of the 
Mississippi, at New Orleans. The " western 
lands" themselves needed to be organized with a 
view toward ultimate statehood , but it would be 

the last great action of the old Congress - the 
Northwest Ordinance-that would create a pro­
cedure for such organization. Although the states 
had all finally agreed to turn over their lands to 
the national government, they were very slow 

about doing it, and Georgia was busy with set­
tlements beyond the Indian tribes on the lower 
Mississippi, where the Natchez government and 
the Yazoo land frauds would create constitutional 
litigation for a yet unborn Supreme Court. 

Thus the year 1782 drifted on, between war 
and peace , both at home and abroad. The ringing 
rhetoric of 1776 had been followed by a five-year 

struggle for military survival, until the armies of 
the mother country were finally exhausted . For 
the next five years, a struggle for political and 
economic survival was in store. 
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Slogans to Fit the Occasion 
Barrett McGurn 

Few legal phrases are better known than the 
four words engraved above the front portico of 
the Supreme Court Building , yet years of corre­
spondence flowing in and out of that edi fice have 
reflected some humor and some controversy. 

The polemics were best reflected in a letter 
Herbert Bayard Swope, the one-time executive 
editor of the New York World, wrote on January 
25, 1935, to Chief Justice Charles Evans 
Hughes. Both were New Yorkers' the Chief 
Justice had been governor of that state. Evi­
dently, from the ensuing exchange of corre­
spondence, the two had a cordial knowledge of 
one another. But what Mr. Swope laid on the 
Chief Justice, with regard to the front inscrip­
tion , was the grave grammatical charge of noth­
ing short of tautology. Isn ' t "equal justice" re­
dundant? Doesn't justice imply equality? But let 
Mr. Swope, in line with records in the Court 
Library, state his case in his own words. He 
wrote:' 

Dear Mr. Chief Justice, 

May I presume upon the admiration and 
friendship I have felt for many years, to attempt 
an indictment of you and your interesting associ­
ates? For my purpose , I shall assume the right of 
the Napoleonic Code, and, regarding you as 
guilty until you prove your innocence, I return 
the following presentment : 

I accuse the Great Court, of which you are 
Chief, of having violated an important canon of 
English. 

I accuse the said Court of having permitted 
tautology, verbosity and redundancy, each of 
which is an abomination in good usage. 

I submit, your Honor, that the adjective 'equal' 
has no place in the sentence. It is a distorting 
qualification which robs the thought of its true 
meaning. At best, it is supererogatory .. 

I ask for immediate judgment and the excision 
of the offending word, so that the house of the 

United States Supreme Court may continue to be 
the temple of Astraea 1 , where there shall always 
be • a well of English undefiled' 

With high regard , ... . 

The Architects' Suggestions 

Mr. Swope had the right addressee for it was 
Chief Justice Hughes who had signed off on the 
now famous phrase. On May 2, 1932, the Chief 
Justice received a letter from David Lynn, the 
Architect of the Capitol who was the Executive 
Officer of the Supreme Court Building Commis­
sion. The Chief Justice was Chairman of that 
commission and Justice Willis Van Devanter 
served as another member. Mr. Lynn said in his 
letter that the two architects of the new structure, 
Cass Gilbert Jr. and John R. Rockart, had come 
up with proposed mottos for the architraves: 
"Equal Justice Under Law" for the West front 
and" Equal Justice Is the Foundation of Liberty " 
for the East. Mr. Lynn concluded, "If not satis­
factory, the architects state that they will be 
pleased to have suggestions from you." 

The note from Mr. Lynn commanded Hughes' 
prompt attention. The word was around 
that the architects had quite a few other in­
scriptions in mind both for the inside and the 
outside of the edifice. While it was evident that 
the designers of the building meant to get clear­
ance for the two main writings on the structure, 
what about others due to be displayed less prom­
inently? Ought the architects have a free hand in 
something so likely to leave an enduring mark on 
American Jaw and justice? Chief Justice Hughes 
responded to Mr. Lynn on the very next day: 

"When will it be necessary to pass upon the 
suggestions or to propose substitutes in order not 
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The Court's West Facade bearing the famous "Equal Justice Under Law." 

to delay the progress of the work?" 
Mr. Lynn, the files show, wasted no time in 

passing the inquiry to Messrs. Gilbert and 
Rockart. His brief missive is dated May 4 , and 
on May 7 he had John Rockart 's response. 
Concerning "the inscription to be cut in the 
exterior marble," he wrote, "we would state that 
the contractors have been repeatedly requesting 
information and instructions regarding the ap­
proval of these inscriptions, and, in view of this, 
action to that end should be taken as soon as 
possible ... 

On May 10 Mr. Lynn passed Mr. Rockart's 
comments to Chief Justice Hughes and, on May 
16, 1932, on a 4-by-5-inch Supreme Court 
memorandum pad, of a type still in use at the 
Court, the following was written in the Hughes 
and Van Devanter hands: 

"I rather prefer ' Justice the Guardian of Lib­
erty,' CEH ." 

"Good, (W. V)" 
On May 21, the answer went back to Mr. Lynn 

from the desk of the Chief Justice: 
"I have consulted with Justice Van Devanter, 

and we approve the inscription of the West 
Portico , to wit : 'EQUAL JUSTICE UNDER 
LAW.' We think that the inscription of the East 
Portico can be improved, and we favor the 
following: 'JUSTICE THE GUARDIAN OF 
LIBERTY. '" 

Those, of course, are the building's two great 
engravings as they are today. As for any other 
sayings to be carved into the building, inside or 
out, Chief Justice Hughes added, " we do not 
desire any arrangement to be made for any of 
these inscriptions until they have been submitted 

for approval." The present wordlessness of the 
rest of the building suggests that the Chief Jus­
tice's remark put a quick end to any lingering 
thought for further maxims. 

Indictment Quashed 

The Library files make plain the origin of the 
East side inscription (with its omission of a 
comma after Justice) but it leaves unanswered 
where Gilbert and Rockart came up with the 
Western words and their alleged tautology. Re­
gardless of whence the words came the Chief 
Justice had sanctioned them . Thus challenged, 
Mr. Hughes fired off a reply to Mr. Swope, 
headed in underlined capital letters, "PER­
SONAL" :2 

"Immediate judgment. Indictment quashed . " 
So much for the journalist's demand that 

"Equal" be chipped from the West architrave. 
The Chief Justice went on: 

The distress which led to your complaint may 
be somewbat alleviated if for a moment you free 
yourself from the tyranny of the blue pencil and 
consider the history of the law .• Equal Justice ' is 
a time·honored phrase placing a strong emphasis 
upon impartiality -an emphasis which it is well 
to retain . 

Dictionaries use the expression in defining 
' equity' : ' Standard ' - 'equal justice'; ' Century ' 
- 'equal or impartial justice.' Glance at the first 
inaugural of Thomas Jefferson - is he not still 
your favorite author?-one who had much to say 
about 'Justice.' But he was not content to say 
simply 'Justice . ' Even when he wished to bring 
his expression of political ideals within the 'nar­
rowest compass' he spoke of 'equal and exact 
justice to all men .' 

The reference was to Jefferson 's March 4, 
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The Court's East Facade engraved with "Justice the GuardiOltflj Liberty." 

1801, address, in which he told his "fellow­
citizens" that it was proper for them to under­
stand" what I deem the essential principles of our 
Government" at a moment when he was entering 
upon" the exercise of duties which comprehend 
everything dear and valuable to you . " What 
were those principles? Jefferson spelled them 
out: 

I will compress Ihem within th narrowest 
compass they will bear, stating the general prin­
ciple , but not all its limitaIions. Equal and emct 
justice to all men, of whatever state or persua­
sion , religious or political. ... (Emphasis mine) . 

But if the Court's main inscription and Jeffer­
son's inaugural were prolix, they were'~ot the 
only offenders. Mr. Hughes next cited a sentence 
from Justice Stanley Matthews' decision for the 
Court in Yick Wo v. Sheriff Hopkins, which was 
decide~ on May 10, 1886. The Justice spoke of 
the "equal protection of the law which is secured 
to ... all ... persons by the broad and beneficent 
provisions of the Fourteenth Amendment to the 
Constitution of the United States." He added: 

Though the law itself be fair on its face and 
impartial in appearance , yet, if it is applied and 
administered by public authority with an evil eye 
and an unequal hand, so as 10 practically make 
unjust and illegal discriminations between per­
sons in similar circumstances, malerial to their 
rights, the denial of equal juslice is still within the 
prohibition of the Constitution. 

Justice Matthews cited precedents for the 
ideas he was expressing (if not for the precise 
phrase "equal justice"): Henderson v.the Mayor 
of New York, and Chy Lung v. Freeman (both 
from the 1875 October term), Ex Parte Virginia 

(1879 term), Neal v. Delaware (1880 term), and 
Soon Hing v. Police Chief Crowley, a San Fran­
cisco all-night Chinese laundry case, decided in 
the Supreme Court on March 16, 1885. The Ex 
Parte Virginia case spoke of "equal rights (se­
cured) to all persons. The Soon Hing decision 
spoke of "the equal rights which all can claim to 
the enforcement of the laws." 

Emphasizing the Yo Wick v. Hopkins decision 
with its reference to "equal justice," Chief Jus­
tice Hughes assured his newsman correspondent 
that "probably no sent.ence in our Reports is 
more frequently quoted." Mr. Hughes added : 

J f I had time r could give you a host of 
illustrations of the use of the phrase ' equal jus­
tice . ' There is a long history in that phrase. Try to 
bear with it. Very sincerely yours . 

Precedents 

Perhaps the "long history" the Chief Justice 

had in mind were the five precedents (all minus 
the phrase "equal justice") which Justice Mat­
thews had cited . In any case, Mr. Hughes had 
one further support for the maxim he and Justice 
Van Devanter had approved. He inserted it into 
his letter to Mr. Swope . As for whether " equal 
justice" is one of the high aspirations of Ameri­
can jurisprudence, "our oath drives the point 
home." The Chief Justice quoted the words from 
the first Judiciary Act of 1789 which every fed­
eral judge pronounces as he ascends the bench : 
"I. .. do solemnly swear. .. that I will administer 
justice without respect to persons, and do equal 
right to the poor and rich . . . . " 

Far from squelching Mr. Swope the response 
only sharpened the editor's taste for more . On 
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February 14, 1935, he wrote again to Chief 
Justice Hughes to tell him that he was "flattered 
by the friendliness of your letter and impressed 
by its dialectical quality." Nonetheless, he said, 
"if I may be pardoned, (I) am not completely 
convinced .. . . " Mr. Swope took note that the 
Court's important gold clause decision was 
about to come down. He said that he would delay 
further polemics until after a decision so likely to 
call upon all the Court's intellectual energies . He 
added, however, that he did want to go on record 
as "impervious to the dictum of T. Jefferson, 
who WOUld, as you point out, have asked for 
more .... (Jefferson had not sought mere equal 
justice but rather "equal and exact justice") . 

Two days later, the Chief Justice in a two­
sentence reply, put his emphasis where Mr. 
Swope earlier had lodged it. The Court was 
indeed busy. The Chief Justice begged: "Please 
consider the matter closed ." 

The file shows no further words from the 
voluble Swope, but there is an October 23, 1933 , 
missive from Carl W. Ackerman, dean of the 
Columbia School of Journalism. Dean Acker­
man's interest was in the rear portico inscription: 
"Justice The Guardian Of Liberty," a phrase the 
Chief Justice had devised and Justice Van De­
vanter had seconded. 

Who recommended that phrase to the ar­
chitects, the dean wished to know? Who chose 
the words? Who assumed the responsibility to 
approve? 

Next day a note headed" My dear Justice Van 
Devanter" went from Chief Justice Hughes to 
his brother Justice. One may detect between the 
lines a hint of uncertainty. He wrote: "I cannot 
gather from Dean Ackerman's letter whether or 
not he likes the inscription." But, Mr. Hughes , 
added : "I still think it is appropriate." 

Appended was a draft reply on which Mr. 
Hughes solicited comments . In brief it men­
tioned to the New York academic that the words 
had come from the Cass Gilbert firm in a some­
what different version, and that they had been 
adapted "to ... (the) present form by me and in 
consultation with Mr. Justice Van Devanter." 

Justice Van Devanter responded, "I still think 
the inscription appropriate, and your draft of 
proposed reply is entirely satisfactory to me." 

Were the by now famous inscriptions thus the 
work of Chief Justice Hughes, Justice Van De­
van.ter and the architects with a degree of inspira-

Associate Jllstice Willis Van Devanter and Chief Justice 
Charles Evans Hughes -Ihe COllrt's representatives on the 
Supreme COllrl Building Commission . 

tion-tautological or not-from Thomas Jeffer­
son and Justice Matthews? Chief Justice 
Hughes' letter to Mr. Swope had suggested that 
there was a good deal more to it than that, and a 
Burlington , Vermont, lawyer, Clarence P. 
Cowles of Cowles & Cowles , put himself to 
work hunting for such precedents. Mr. Cowles 
had been a Sunday School pupil of Mr. Hughes 
and was eager to vindicate him in all respects . 

In volume 103 of the United States Reports, 
Mr. Cowles found one item. Justice Swayne had 
retired and Attorney General Devens , speaking 
at farewell exercises, saluted the old Justice 
fulsomely. He recalled the Book of Samuel in the 
Old Testament, how the departing ruler had 
challenged the Israelites to say whether he had 
ever wronged anyone. 

"Sure I am," said the Attorney General , " that 
should the distinguished magistrate who retires 
from the bench ask 'who is there that has stood 
before me to whom I have not striven to do equ.al 
and exact justice?' , the answer would be like that 
of the Hebrew people to the royal judge of Israel: 
'there's no such man.'" 

As Mr. Cowles searched further he produced a 
24-page monograph which he donated to the 
Supreme Court Library. 3 In the document Mr. 
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Cowles contended that the thoughts in the al ­

legedly verbose front portico phrase were con­

cepts which could be traced back to earliest legal 

thought, if not in precisely the same language, at 

least in parallel phrasings . Mr. Cowles cited 

these precedents (sometimes heaping fuel on Mr. 

Swope's fire): 

, 

• Hammurabi (circa 2130 to 2088 B .C) . In 
his Code he called upon the strong to deal justly 
with "the weak, the orphan and the widow." 

• Pericles ' Funeral Oration (circa 404 B. C.), 
quoted by Thucydides, and translated by Richard 
Crawley: "If we look to the laws, they afford 
equaljustice to all in their private differences ." 

• God's voice in Ezechiel, chapters 18 and 33 
(King James Revised Standard edition): "Is not 
My way equal?", thus equating equality and 
justice (a Swope contention) . 

• St. Paul to the Colossians (same edition), 
chapter 4: " Masters, give unto your servants that 
which isjust and equal." 

• Aristotle (340-321 B.C.) in Book 5 of the 
Nicomachean Ethics: "the equitable is just" 
(support again for redundancy?) 

• The judicial oath prescribed by King Saint 
Louis 0226-1270), requiring all magistrates to 
swear that "without regard to persons they will do 
Justice according to the laws of this Kingdom." 

• Blackstone 's Commentaries on the Laws of 
England (1768), Volume III, chapte 7: "Equity 
is synonymous with Justice ." (Another argument 
for the blue-penciller?) 

• Sir Frederick Pollock's volume, "A First 
Book of Jurisprudence" with its comment that 
"Justice administered according to the law . .. 
seems capable of being reduced to Generality, 
Equality and Cer1ainty. " 

• Justice Pliny Merrick·'s decision during the 
March 1859 Term of the Supreme Judicial Court 
of Massachusetts in Fitchburg Railroad Com­
pany v. Addison Gage (quoted in 12 Gray 393-

1866): "The principle derived from (common 
law) is very plain and simple . It requires equal 
justice to all. " 

• As a proud Vermonter Mr. Cowles cited one 
other precedent from his own Green Mountain 
state . The Vermont Constitutional oath, required 
of all judges, is a pledge to do "equal right and 
justice to all men ... according to law. " 

Bottom Line 

What then was the bottom line? Where did the 

Courthouse phrase originate? Justice Burton 

who joined the Court in 1945, some years after 

the retirement of the two members of the Build­

ing Commission, wrote his views in the Ameri­
can Bar Association Journal in 1951. He said that 

it could be. taken as fact that neither of the 

building's gn~at inscriptions " is a direct quota­

tion from any identified source. " 

Even Mr. Cowles who had labored diligently 

to establish that the front portico phrase , excel­

lent in each of its four words, was traceable to the 

distant past, conceded in a 1955 letter to Court 

Librarian Helen Newman: "These inscriptions 

are American Standard Revisions of old princi­

ples, written by Chief Justice Charles Evans 

Hughes, not exact quotations from any identified 

source. " 

Given that the correspondence in the Court 

files makes clear that the Building Commission 

members merely signed off on a front architrave 

motto sent over by the building architects , even 

that grudging concession from Chief Justice 

Hughes' old Sunday School pupil would seem to 

be too limited. 

Footnotes 

J Mr. Swope, in his exchange among the erudite, felt 
no need to spell out that Astraea in Greek mythology 
the daughter of Zeus and Themis (the goddess of 
Divine Justice) was, par excellence, the symbol of law 
and order. 

2The Hughes letter is in the manuscript division of 
the Library of Congress . 

JThe Harvard Law School Library in 1955 reo 
quested and obtained a copy of the Cowles 
monograph. 
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